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The Hon. Jillian Skinner, MP
Minister for Health, and Minister for Medical Research
Level 31 Governor Macquarie Tower
1 Farrer Place Sydney NSW 2000 

Dear Minister,

We have pleasure in submitting the Cancer Institute NSW 
Annual Report 2011 for presentation to the Parliament of New 
South Wales in accordance with the Annual Reports (Statutory 
Bodies) Act 1984.

This report summarises our performance for 2010–11 against 
our objectives and targets set out in the NSW Cancer Plan 
2011–15. It also includes our corporate governance processes, 
comments on our financial results and discusses our future goals.

We commend to you this report on the progress being 
achieved in lessening the impact of cancer in NSW.

The Hon Morris Iemma
Chairperson
Board of the Cancer Institute NSW

Professor David Currow 
Chief Cancer Officer and 
Chief Executive Officer
Cancer Institute NSW

Report production details
500 copies were produced

Total external costs were $28,000 (excluding GST)
and included design and printing.

Designed by: Giant Design Consultants
Printed by: Blue Star Print



WHAT WE DO

The Institute has a number of initiatives designed to lessen the burden of cancer on the people of NSW:

> We give advice and information about cancer prevention; produce mass media campaigns targeting tobacco smoking,  
 sun exposure, breast and cervical screening.

> We manage BreastScreen NSW and the NSW Cervical Screening Program to promote the early detection of cancer.

> We fund cancer health care professionals, including nurses, doctors and psychologists and develop programs to  
 evaluate and improve the quality of cancer treatment and care in NSW.

> We fund researchers to improve cancer outcomes and set new agendas for research priorities.

> We provide quality, up-to-date information about cancer in NSW to inform future policy, health  
 planning and the general community.

OUR OBJECTIVES

The objectives of the Cancer Institute NSW are to:

> reduce the incidence of cancer in the community

> increase the survival rate for people with cancer

> improve the quality of life of people with cancer and their carers

> provide a source of expertise on cancer control for the government, health  
 service providers, medical researchers and the general community.

WHO WE ARE

The Cancer Institute NSW is Australia’s first statewide, government-
supported cancer control agency. We were established in 2003 by the 
NSW Government and supported unanimously by the NSW Parliament 
under the Cancer Institute (NSW) Act 2003. We are focused on improving 
outcomes in cancer diagnosis, treatment, care and, ultimately, survival.
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OUR VALUES ARE: 

INTEGRITY

We manage our operations, finances and services  

with honesty, transparency and accountability.

EXCELLENCE

We strive to excel in all areas of cancer control  

in NSW, including program and service delivery.

LOYALTY

We earn the respect and confidence of our staff,  

stakeholders and the NSW community through  

our absolute dedication to lessening the impact of cancer.

RESPONSIBILITY

We champion and promote a safe  

and healthy working environment.

PEOPLE

We celebrate, encourage and support  

our people to achieve their full potential;  

promoting unity, respect, compassion and  

diversity in our workplace.

OUR VISION 

Our vision is to lessen the impact of 
cancer in New South Wales through a 
collaborative approach to cancer control.
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OUR PEOPLE 

In 2010–11, we employed 155 people (permanent/ fixed term) in a variety of roles. 

Our offices are located at the Australian Technology Park in Eveleigh, NSW.

OUR STRUCTURE 

The Cancer Institute NSW has four divisions: Cancer 

Prevention; Cancer Screening; Strategic Research 

Investment; and Cancer Services and Information.  

These divisions are supported by our finance, human 

resources, communications and information technology 

teams. The Cancer Institute NSW also works with the 

Director General of NSW Health and the Agency for 

Clinical Innovation, the Bureau for Health Information, 

Clinical Excellence Commission and the Clinical Education  

and Training Institute. See our organisation chart on p 37.

FUNDING AND GOVERNANCE 

We are funded by the NSW State Government and governed by the Cancer 

Institute NSW Board (pages 40–41). We report to the Minister for Health and 

Minister for Medical Research, the Hon. Jillian Skinner MP.  The chief executive 

officer is supported by an executive team and manages our daily operations.  

See pages 42–43 for their profiles and achievements.

OUR STAKEHOLDERS 

We work in collaboration with people with cancer, their 

carers, family and friends, survivors, medical practitioners, 

researchers, NSW Health, the NSW Government and 

Ministers, national bodies, charities, universities and health 

services to lessen the burden of cancer in the community.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Cancer Institute NSW Annual Report 2011 summarises our achievements and 

performance against the goals, objectives and measures of the NSW Cancer Plan 

2011–15. It also includes detailed financial results, as well as information about 

our plans for the coming years. 

This and earlier reports are available on our website: www.cancerinstitute.org.au. 

Printed copies are available on request.
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KEY STATISTICS

1.4%

27%

7%

110%

64%
Smoking rates dropped by 1.4 percentage 
points, from 17.2% in 2009 to 15.8% in 2010.

The Cancer Institute is responsible for more than 
27% of all reported cancer research funding in NSW.

We had a 110% increase in our registrations to 
eviQ, the Cancer Institute standardised cancer 
treatment website.

Five-year survival in NSW is at 64%, a 26 
percentage point increase since the early 1980s.
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7%
INCREASE IN FUNDING

The majority of our funding comes from the Government of New South Wales.

NSW  

Parliament 

passes the 

Cancer  

Institute 

(NSW)  

Act 2003.

The Cancer 

Institute NSW 

is established 

as a response 

to the Act 

and the need 

to further 

decrease the 

impact of  

cancer in 

NSW.

We create 

Australia’s first 

state cancer 

plan, the NSW 

Cancer Plan 

2004–06.

The first 

cancer plan 

is successfully 

completed 

and delivers 

major  

improvements 

in reducing  

cancer in 

NSW.

We release 

the NSW 

Cancer Plan 

2007–10.

Founding 

Chief Cancer 

Officer, 

Professor Jim 

Bishop takes 

on a new 

challenge of 

Chief Medical 

Officer for the  

Commonwealth.

Professor 

David Currow 

is appointed 

as CEO and 

Chief Cancer 

Officer for 

NSW.

We launch 

the NSW 

Cancer Plan 

2011–15.

JUNE 2003 JULY 2003 2004 2006 2007 2009 2010 2011

OUR HISTORY

MILLIONS
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We produced the  
NSW Cancer Plan 2011–15.

PAGE 6

We launched iCanQuit, a new website
helping smokers help themselves to quit.

PAGE 15

We funded new  
Translational Cancer Research Centres.

PAGE 29

We aired a new  
skin cancer awareness  

campaign.
PAGE 13

We created a system to send  
Pap test reminders to  

GPs in NSW. 
PAGE 17

We held a forum for Aboriginal peoples 
to help us develop new programs.

PAGE 33

We ran workshops to ensure women from  
Chinese, Vietnamese and Arabic backgrounds 
receive important messages about regular breast 

and cervical screening.
PAGE 19

2011 HIGHLIGHTS
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INTRODUCING THE NSW C ANCER PLAN 2011–15

> Improve assessment and response to the needs of people affected by cancer, in  
 patient-centred health systems.  

> Encourage participation in current screening programs where early detection  
 of cancer improves survival (breast and cervical) with more effective engagement  
 of potential participants. 

> Improve earlier diagnosis of cancer by improving awareness of symptoms that may  
 herald cancer. 

> Reduce variations in cancer outcomes in NSW by providing timely feedback of  
 quality information to drive systems improvement, and by providing information  
 on performance of the cancer system to health services, practitioners and  
 the community. 

> Reduce the gap between established best evidence, and the care actually provided  
 by defining areas where reducing this gap will improve outcomes. 

> Provide support for a sustainable high-performing workforce by developing and  
 supporting systems to sustain life-long learning, and by investing in research to  
 facilitate uptake of new evidence into clinical practice. 

> Improve models of service delivery. 

> Embedding health services research in cancer care. 

> A focus on improving cancer outcomes for Aboriginal peoples, people from 
 culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds and people in rural and remote NSW. 

> A reporting cycle on the performance of cancer services. 

> Greater system-wide engagement with primary care. 

> Enhanced research capabilities with an emphasis on clinical trials, translational research 
 and the more rapid uptake of new evidence into practice. 

GOAL 1:  

REDUCING THE  

INCIDENCE OF  

CANCER

GOAL 3:  

IMPROVING THE 

QUALITY OF LIFE  

OF PEOPLE WITH 

CANCER AND THEIR 

CARERS

UNDERPINNING 

THESE  

INITIATIVES  

WILL BE

GOAL 2:  

IMPROVING  

SURVIVAL  

OF PEOPLE  

WITH CANCER

> Reduce smoking prevalence. 

> Reduce over-exposure to ultraviolet radiation by behaviour modification. 

> Create environments that promote healthy lifestyles and policy to support  
 these directions. 

> Encourage participation in current screening programs where pre-cancerous  
 lesions can be detected. 
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A NEW PLAN FOR THE FUTURE

This year we launched the NSW Cancer Plan 2011–15: a 
landmark document that will set the platform for new programs 
and campaigns aimed at lessening the impact of cancer across 
the State over the next five years. 

The new Cancer Plan has three main goals:

> Reducing the incidence of cancer: addressing the lifestyle 
 factors that contribute to cancer; reducing the prevalence  
 of smoking and over-exposure to ultraviolet radiation; and  
 identifying pre-cancerous lesions with cervical screening.

> Increasing the survival rate of people with cancer: improving 
 participation in breast screening and cervical screening  
 programs, awareness of the symptoms that may herald  
 cancer and ensuring the care delivered to people with  
 cancer is world-class.

> Improving the quality of life for people with cancer and 
 their carers: providing more timely and accurate information  
 about cancer and the affect it has on people diagnosed  
 with it, as well as improving the assessment of people with  
 cancer within the health care system.

NSW is home to world-leading researchers and cancer 
treatment facilities and we need to harness these more 
effectively to make sure we are delivering the most effective 
outcomes for patients, clinicians and researchers.

As we start on a new strategy for the future, we are excited 
about the new opportunities to work in collaboration with all 
organisations and individuals who are contributing to lessening 
the impact of cancer in NSW. 

OUR THANKS

The Cancer Institute NSW thanks the NSW Government for 
its continual and valued support throughout 2010–11. We 
welcome the oppor tunity to work with Premier Barry 
O’Farrell and Minister for Health and Minister for Medical 
Research, the Hon. Jillian Skinner MP, in the coming years.

I would like to acknowledge the former Minister Assisting the 
Minister for Health (Cancer), the Hon. Frank Sartor MP, for his 
enthusiasm and dedication in informing and educating the 
NSW community about cancer.

I extend my thanks to my fellow Board members for their 
continued commitment to the Cancer Institute NSW. I would 
also like to acknowledge the energy and vision of our skilled 
and talented staff to improving cancer control in NSW.

Thank you also to the many health professionals who contribute 
freely their time and expertise to support the work of the 
Cancer Institute NSW.

The Hon. Morris Iemma 
Chairperson 
Board of the Cancer Institute NSW

CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT 

On behalf of the Board of the Cancer Institute NSW, I am pleased to report 
on a productive year of service to the NSW community.

Since 2003, the Cancer Institute NSW has been making a contribution in 
reducing the burden of cancer in our State and this year is no exception.  
We are proud of our achievements so far, but we still have a lot to 
do. Our challenges are to prevent more cancers, find cancer earlier and 
deliver even better cancer services.
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CEO AND CHIEF C ANCER OFFICER’S MESSAGE 

It gives me great pleasure to present 2011 Annual Report of the Cancer 
Institute NSW. 

This was the eighth year of the Cancer Institute NSW since its establishment 
under the Cancer Institute (NSW) Act 2003.

We’ve accomplished a tremendous amount in a short space of time and 
have already made great progress against the goals of the NSW Cancer Plan 
2011–15 this year; setting in motion projects we hope will make a real impact 
on cancer outcomes in NSW.

SOME HIGHLIGHTS INCLUDE:

> We produced the NSW Cancer Plan 2011–15, developed
  through an integrated and collaborative approach among  
 all individuals, organisations and governments involved in  
 cancer control throughout NSW.

> The Cancer Institute NSW’s new website iCanQuit officially
 went live in December 2010, providing an online resource 
 dedicated to helping smokers help themselves to quit.

> We aired a new skin cancer awareness campaign, featuring
  Wes Bonny, who sadly died from melanoma at the age of 26. 

> We developed a new Translational Cancer Research Program, 
 which will bring together researchers in seven research hubs 
 to share knowledge, resources and technology.

> Smoking prevalence in NSW reduced from 17.2 per cent 
 in 2009 to 15.8 per cent in 2010.

CONTRIBUTING TO INTERNATIONAL 

BENCHMARKING

I am very proud that NSW was selected to be par t of the 
international partnership to contribute to international benchmarking.

The International Cancer Benchmarking Partnership (ICBP) is a 
unique and innovative global partnership of clinicians, academics 
and policymakers. It is the first of its kind, seeking to understand 
how and why cancer survival varies between countries/jurisdictions.

The partnership aims to generate insight and understanding to 
help all countries improve cancer survival outcomes by optimising 
cancer policies and services across five areas of research (modules): 

> Module 1: Epidemiology (population patterns of cancer).

> Module 2: Population awareness and beliefs.

> Module 3: Beliefs, behaviours and systems in primary care
 (general practitioners).

> Module 4: Root cause of diagnosis and treatment delays.

> Module 5: Treatment, co-morbidities and other factors.

The motivation to join the International Cancer Benchmarking 
Partnership was about improving the quality of the care we offer. 

We want to understand the areas where our system is already 
performing strongly – in order to further strengthen them – as 
well as identifying areas where our system is not performing 
optimally, so we can improve in the future. 

It is also a wonderful opportunity to work with like services 
from around the world to understand the pressures, successes 
and challenges that they face, and how these are being addressed. 

We have already started working on the International Cancer 
Benchmarking Partnership and I hope our participation will 
provide us with specific opportunities for improving our models of 
service delivery and our program of work to further improve 
cancer outcomes across the State. 

IMPROVING SURVIVAL FROM CANCER

We often talk about how we are lessening the impact of cancer 
in NSW, so I found it very encouraging to have this statement 
reinforced during the year in a survival benchmarking study, which is 
the first publication of the International Cancer Benchmarking 
Partnership. The study was published in British journal, The Lancet, 
and showed that if you live in NSW, your chances of surviving 
cancer are among the highest in the world.  

The report is part of an extensive international comparison 
of cancer survival rates and compares eight countries with 
similar healthcare systems, including Sweden, Norway, Denmark, 
England, Wales, Northern Ireland, Canada and Australia. 

Less than 49 per cent of people diagnosed with cancer at 
the beginning of the 1980s in NSW had a chance of survival 
beyond five years. When that is compared to a 64 per cent 
five-year survival rate in the most recent period, it goes to show 
that a cancer diagnosis is far less likely to be a death sentence. 
The chances of leading a healthy life after the diagnosis and 
treatment of cancer is now the reality for the majority of people.



 CANCER INSTITUTE NSW ANNUAL REPORT 2011 9

O
V

E
R

V
IE

W

However, there is still considerable work that needs to be done 
to alleviate the burden of cancer in NSW. Cancer remains the 
largest cause of premature death in our community. Based on 
current trends, more than 38,000 people will be told they have 
cancer in 2011. This is a sobering statistic, but our ageing and 
growing population will see this number increase to more than 
50,000 by 2021.

The challenge for us now is to keep improving our cancer survival 
rates and to look at how we manage a greater number of people 
living for longer after a diagnosis of cancer.

BRIDGING THE SURVIVAL GAP FOR  

ABORIGINAL PEOPLES

The survival of Aboriginal peoples, compared to other communities, 
is poor and this is an area that will present one of the biggest 
challenges for us as an organisation. We feature this as a key 
goal in the NSW Cancer Plan 2011–15.

Our research and collaboration with Aboriginal communities in 
setting the goals for the Cancer Plan has been an eye-opening 
experience and has presented an insight into the history, the 
conflict and triumphs of Aboriginal peoples in Australia. We 
have also identified some of the language, resources and 
tools we can use to reach out to these communities more 
effectively and ultimately improve their survival (page 33). Working 
closely with the Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council is 
crucial to achieving improved outcomes.

FUTURE PLANS

With our new Cancer Plan we have consolidated our efforts 
and made a start against each objective. In the next few years, 
we will be concentrating particularly in the areas of:  reducing 
smoking prevalence and overexposure to the sun in the community; 
encouraging a healthy lifestyle; increasing participation in breast 
and cervical screening; reducing variations in cancer outcomes in 
NSW; and improving the experience of people with cancer and 
their carers in the NSW health system.

MANAGING OUR FINANCES WITHIN BUDGET

I am pleased to report that the Cancer Institute NSW has managed 
our programs within budget for the eighth consecutive year. In 
2010–11, our operating budget was $152.5 million (2009–10: 
$142.9 million). Our total expenses for the year were $148.2 
million (2009–10: $142.1 million).

MY THANKS

Delivering our vision requires strong collaboration with our partners 
and the committed support from our stakeholders. We are well 
supported by the NSW Government. In particular, I thank the Hon. 
Frank Sartor MP and the Hon. Jillian Skinner MP, whose support 
as Ministers responsible for the portfolios of Cancer and Health 
respectively during 2010–11 is deeply appreciated. 

Our work could not be achieved without the ongoing support 
of NSW Health, in par ticular the Director-General and the 
Division of Population Health. I thank the Board of the Cancer 
Institute NSW. The Board provides strong and valuable counsel, 
support and guidance for our organisation’s activities. I extend 
my sincere appreciation to The Hon. Morris Iemma, Chair of the 
Board, and all Board Members for their dedication to the Cancer 
Institute NSW.

I would also like to thank the Cancer Council NSW, Cancer Voices 
NSW, CanAssist and other important stakeholders. In addition, 
there are many people who volunteer their time with the Cancer 
Institute NSW through participation on committees, attendance at 
workshops and through the provision of their expertise.

Most importantly, I would like to acknowledge and thank all 
of the staff of the Cancer Institute NSW. This is an energetic 
organisation with people who are committed to improving 
cancer care, a passion for the work being done and pride in what 
is being achieved. To see that passion translate into improved 
cancer outcomes is exciting.

Professor David Currow 
Chief Cancer Officer and CEO  
Cancer Institute NSW
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In 2010–11, the Cancer Institute NSW managed all programs 
within budget. The total expenditure for the financial year 
was 97 per cent of the total budget. Including other sources 
of revenue, such as interest earned, other grants received 
and recoveries, the surplus was $4.2m for the year 2010–11. 
This surplus mainly represents $2.8m under spend on cancer 
prevention campaigns, which were rolled over to 2011–12,  
and expenditure timing differences in funded projects. 

Once again, delivering all programs within the total Cancer 
Institute NSW budget and achieving the set objectives of 
programs is a tribute to the experience and dedication of 
our staff, who maintained focus on providing quality programs 
to lessen the impact of cancer in NSW, while managing our 
finances with strong discipline.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AGAINST BUDGET

Our budget 2010–11 was $152.5m, including a gain on disposal 
of $18,000.

The actual spending proportions for the various areas of activity 
in the Cancer Institute NSW are in line with budgeted proportions.

OUR FUNDING

The major proportion of our funding in 2010–11 was from the 
NSW Government: $144.7m ($138.9m in 2009–10), allocated 
through NSW Health. We also received $3.9m ($887,000 in 
2009–10) from the Commonwealth Government and funds 
of $350,000 from other sources. This was supplemented by 
investment  revenue of $2.7m and other income and recoveries 
of $820,000.

EXPENDITURE IN 2010–11

Expenditure in 2010–11 was $148.2m. The screening programs 
expenditure was $51.4m, which included a contribution of $5m 
from the Cancer Institute NSW core budget towards improving 
screening participation rates through enhanced services and 
awareness campaigns.

We spent $30.6m on programs to improve cancer services and 
to up-skill the cancer workforce in NSW health services. 

This also included a contribution of $5m to NSW Health  
for radiotherapy recurrent expenditure.

The expenditure on research activities was $31m. This was 
for various grants the Cancer Institute NSW provides to 
research institutions and hospitals to fur ther the research 
activity in NSW, enabling more breakthroughs in research in 
order to achieve the objective of lessening the impact of cancer.

Our spend on prevention for the 2010–11 financial year  
was $14.0m.  The majority of the expenditure was for smoking  
cessation programs.

We also spent $12.8m on our information programs, including 
expenditure for the NSW Clinical Cancer Registry, which is 
funded by the Cancer Institute NSW to provide better analysis 
of cancer information. 

Also included in this expenditure is the Cancer Insitute NSW 
contribution for the Centre for Health Record Linkage of $1m. 

Administration and communication expenses totalled $8.4m  
for the year, which is 5.6 per cent of the total expenditure.

OVERVIEW OF F INANCIAL PERFORMANCE

 10–11 09–10 08–09 07–08 06–07
REVENUE BY FUNDING SOURCE % $ ‘000 % $ ‘000 % $ ‘000 % $ ‘000 % $ ‘000

NSW Dept of Health budget funding 95% 144,665  97%  138,890   97% 146,292  97%  134,622  97% 134,158 

Commonwealth Government project funding 2% 3,866  0% 887  0% 834  1%  777  0%  60    

Other Grants - Membership contribution 0% 350  0%  343  0% 270  1%  950    0%  755    

Investment revenue 2% 2,738  1%  1,780   2% 2,399  1%  1,840  2%  2,193  

Other income 1% 820 1%  989  1% 869  0%  550  1%  766  

Total 100% 152,439  100%  142,889   100% 150,664  100%  138,739  100%  137,932

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 2010–11

 Administration  $7.66m 5%
 Cancer Communications  $0.70m 0%
 Cancer Information & Registries  $12.77m 9%
 Cancer Services & Education  $30.61m 21%
 Screening  $51.39m 35%
 Prevention  $14.02m 9%
 Research  $31.04m 21%

FINANCIAL BUDGET 2010–11

 Administration  $7.54m 5%
 Cancer Communications  $0.96m 1%
 Cancer Information & Registries  $14.50m 10%
 Cancer Services & Education  $32.76m 21%
 Screening  $49.19m 32%
 Prevention  $16.32m 11%
 Research  $31.19m 20%
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BUDGET 2011–12 HIGHLIGHTS

The budget for 2011–12 is $156.9m. The allocation of this to 
the various Divisions remain consistent with previous years.

Our screening programs have been allocated $54.1m, of which 
the Cancer Institute continues to provide $5m from its core 

 
budget to improve participation rates through enhanced 
services and awareness campaigns.

A further $5m from the 2011–12 budget has been provided 
for radiotherapy recurrent expenditure.

BUDGET 2011–12

 Administration  $8.00m 5%
 Cancer Communications  $0.91m 1%
 Cancer Information & Registries  $15.08m 10%
 Cancer Services & Education  $31.99m 20%
 Screening  $54.14m 34%
 Prevention  $17.15m 11%
 Research  $29.67m 19%

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL ANALYSIS AND KEY FINANCIAL STATISTICS  

 10–11 09–10 08–09 07–08 06–07 Movement
 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000 $ ‘000

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE      

Operating revenue 152,457 142,889 150,664 138,739 137,932 14,525

Operating expenditure* (147,078) (141,098) (144,102) (134,796) (134,307) (12,771)

Net Result before depreciation and amortisation 5,379 1,791 6,562 3,943 3,625 1,754

Depreciation and amortisation (1,111) (998) (873) (708) (673) (438)

Net result 4,268 793 5,689 3,235 2,952 1,316

FINANCIAL POSITION      

Current assets 47,744 39,563 39,125 40,936 37,947 9,797

Non-current assets 5,774 2,675 2,929 1,706 2,199 3,575

Total assets 53,518 42,238 42,054 42,642 40,146 13,372

Current liabilities 11,180 7,175 8,216 13,899 14,257 (3,077)

Non-current liabilities 3,843 813 425 306 306 3,537

Total liabilities 15,023 7,988 8,641 14,205 14,563 460

Net assets 38,495 34,250 33,413 28,437 25,583 12,912

Equity 38,495 34,250 33,413 28,437 25,583 12,912

CASH      

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of reporting period 43,927 36,724 34,583 36,464 33,159 10,768

* Operating Expenditure for 2007–08 has been restated.
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CASE STUDY:  GETTING THE 
MESSAGE ACROSS: MELANOMA 
IN YOUNG PEOPLE

It is his story that carries a poignant message to all young 
Australians.  A message that is particularly vital for NSW, as 
melanoma is the most common cancer in people aged 15 to 39 
years. We’ve also found that 18 – 24-year-olds have the most 
positive attitude towards tanning, which in turn influences their 
younger peers (13 – 17-year-olds) to adopt the same attitude.

The Cancer Institute NSW, with the help and support of Wes’s 
family and friends, launched the Wes Bonny Testimonial campaign  
in January 2011. The campaign challenges the belief that 
melanoma does not affect young people and recognises that 
many people still do not practice sufficient sun protection in NSW. 

It is a tough message to communicate to any young person – that 
your actions today will impact your future health – but Wes’s 
older brother, Vaughan Bonny, worked with the Cancer Institute 
NSW to make sure the campaign did not fall on deaf ears.

“A lot of people seem to believe that melanoma affects people in 
their forties, fifties, sixties, not someone in their early twenties,” he said.

“Wes was cer tainly the quintessential Australian male. He 
spent a lot of time outdoors and down on the beach. But, 
he was also very aware of sun protection,” said Vaughan.

 “Nobody should have to go through what Wes went through and 
no family should have to go through what our family has gone 
through. The simple message we hoped this ad conveys is melanoma 
is entirely preventable, so why risk it when you don’t have to?”

The campaign ran during the summer of 2011 and was timed to 
coincide with Australia Day and the school holidays, a popular time 
for people to be outdoors.

The message resonated. At the end of summer 2011, 70 per cent 
of people surveyed by the Cancer Institute NSW recognised 
Wes’s story.  This is a fantastic achievement, given this was the first 
time the story had been on air and the short time in which it ran. 

Most importantly, people paid attention to the message behind 
Wes’s story. The majority of people surveyed agreed that Wes’s 
story made them think that melanoma can affect young people. 
His story also prompted them to consider increasing their level 
of sun protection.

It is this sun protection that is vital in reducing the incidence  
of melanoma. 

“Melanoma is a particularly aggressive cancer and we certainly felt 
the full brunt as a family, and all the emotional hardships that go 
with seeing a loved one slowly die,” said Vaughan.

“It’s something I wouldn’t wish on anyone.”

Wes Bonny was just 23 years old when he had 
a melanoma removed from his neck. A healthy 
and active man, it had never occurred to his 
friends or family that this disease could take the 
life of someone so young and full of life. Even 
though it was removed, the melanoma was 
already in his bloodstream and later spread 
to his brain. In March 2010, at the age of 26, 
Wes died from melanoma.
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Wes Bonny (centre), with his brothers Stuart and  Vaughan Bonny
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TARGET PROGRESS 2010–11 HIGHLIGHTS 2010–11 FUTURE PLANS

Develop and implement public 
education anti-smoking mass 
media campaigns.

• • We implemented five successful 
anti-smoking campaigns.

• Continue the development and 
implementation of public education 
anti-smoking mass media campaigns.

Improve and further integrate 
evidence-based population level 
cessation support for smokers.

• • We developed a new website, 
iCanQuit, in December 2010, 
providing an online resource 
for smokers and recent quitters 
to quit and stay quit.

• Enhance Quitline to meet the needs 
of Aboriginal people who smoke.

• Continue the implementation and 
promotion of the iCanQuit website

REDUCING THE INCIDENCE OF C ANCER
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SMOKING PREVALENCE IN NSW (PEOPLE AGED 16+) OUR QUIT SMOKING EXPENDITURE

> In 2010, 15.8 per cent of people aged more than16 years 
 were regular smokers (daily and occasional); 24.7 per cent  
 used to smoke (but did not smoke now); 11.2 per cent tried  
 smoking a few times but never smoked regularly; and 48.3  
 per cent never smoked.

> A significantly higher propor tion of men (18.1 per cent) 
 were current smokers, compared with women (13.5 per cent). 

> A significantly higher propor tion of people in the most 
 disadvantaged areas of NSW were daily smokers (the  
 fifth and fourth quintiles at 16.0 per cent and 14.9 per cent  
 respectively) and a significantly lower proportion of people  
 in the least disadvantaged areas of NSW were smokers (the  
 first (6.2 per cent) and second quintiles (10.0 per cent).

> In the past 13 years, there has been a decrease in the 
 proportion of people aged 16 years and over who were  
 current smokers in NSW (24.0 per cent to 15.8 per cent).  
 The decline has been significant in both men and women;  
 and in rural-regional and metropolitan health districts.  

Source: New South Wales Population Health Survey 2010 (HOIST). 
Centre for Epidemiology and Research, NSW Department of Health.

DEVELOPING AND IMPLEMENTING PUBLIC 

EDUCATION ANTI-SMOKING MASS MEDIA 

CAMPAIGNS 

Over 2010–11, we implemented five anti-tobacco campaigns:
> Cigarettes are eating you and your kids alive

> Stairway to emphysema

> Zita

> Willpower

> Best Intentions

Evaluation results of the new Willpower campaign found it to 
be the highest performing support-style advertisement to date 
compared to other advertisements.

 Among smokers and recent quitters:
> 86 per cent found the advertisement believable

> 69 per cent found it relevant to them

> 68 per cent found it to be attention grabbing

> 56 per cent reported it motivated them to quit.

OBJECTIVE: REDUCING SMOKING PREVALENCE

•achieved •in progress / ongoing •not achieved
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iCaNQuit: HELPING SMOKERS HELP 

THEMSELVES 

The Cancer Institute NSW’s new website iCanQuit officially 
went live in December 2010, providing an online resource for 
smokers and recent quitters to quit and stay quit. 

Since then, more than 25, 000 people have accessed the site, 
looking through the content and contributing to some of the 
stories that make up the hints, tips and thoughts around their 
own quit attempt.

From launch to the end of June, there were 34,935 visits to 
the website, with 1,317 registering to join ‘My journey’. ‘My 
journey’ is the personal area of the website, where people 
can tailor and monitor their quit journey and also track how 
much money they have saved since they quit smoking. 

More registered users were female (65%) and over half (59%) 
were aged 25–44 years. Nearly two-fifths (38%) of registered 
users were from low socioeconomic backgrounds and most 
were current smokers (80%). Health, money and fitness were 
the top three reasons selected for quitting and cold turkey, 
patches and cutting down were the most common methods 
used to quit. Registered users had uploaded more than 300 
stories sharing their personal experiences with quitting.   

ENHANCING QUITLINE

The Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing provided 
one-off supplementary funding of $1,465,000 (including GST) 
to enhance the NSW Quitline service.  Our enhancements 
over 2010–11 were directed toward projects that addressed 
one-off costs during periods of high demand, advisor training 
for high need groups and the development of new/online quit 
support resources. 

NSW SMOKERS RESPOND TO CIGARETTE  

TAX INCREASE

Between May and September 2010, we monitored NSW 
smokers’ and recent quitters’ response to the tobacco tax 
increase in April 2010. Overall, 47.5 per cent of NSW smokers 
made smoking-related changes and 11.4 per cent made 
product-related changes, indicating that the effect of increasing 
cigarette prices on smoking does not appear to be mitigated  
by using cheaper cigarette products or sources. 

Our findings also supported the use of higher cigarette prices 
to encourage people to quit smoking. In a continuous tracking 
survey to compare rates of recent quitting activity in the 
months before and after the tobacco tax increase, we found 
there was almost a 100 per cent increase in the rate of people 
quitting smoking from April to May 2010.  There was also a 
significant increase in the proportion of respondents quitting 
between May 2009 and May 2010, from 12 per cent to 22 
per cent. From these figures, we can calculate that more than 
200,000 smokers stopped smoking, or attempted to quit, in the 
month after the tax increase. This is double the number who 
tried quitting in the month prior to the tax being introduced. 
The study concluded that further regular increases in tobacco 
tax may lead to additional increases in cessation activity.

ASSESSING THE PROMOTION OF TOBACCO

We commissioned a Tobacco Promotion Impact (TPI) Study  
in 2010, a significant and timely piece of policy-driven research, 
as July 2010 marked the removal of retail point of sale displays 
from small retailers in NSW.  The TPI Study aims to monitor 
exposure to tobacco promotion in two key areas: point of sale 
and the internet, to contribute evidence where little exists. It 
assesses any associations between exposure, beliefs, attitudes 
and intentions related to smoking among youth and young 
adults in NSW, using Queensland youth and young adults as a 
comparison.  Additionally, it will assess suppor t for tobacco 
control policies such as plain packaging. The results of this study 
will be multi-faceted and are expected to contribute to the 
evidence base for tobacco control in the region and internationally.
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TARGET PROGRESS 2010–11 HIGHLIGHTS 2010–11 FUTURE PLANS

Develop and implement 
public education mass 
media campaigns to reduce 
overexposure to ultraviolet 
radiation.

• • We reproduced our 
successful Dark Side of Tanning 
advertisements aimed at  
young men.

• Continue the development and 
implementation of skin cancer 
prevention public education mass 
media campaigns.

Promote greater use of 
individual sun protection 
measures.

• • We developed a new 
testimonial campaign aimed at 
encouraging people to make 
sure they have sufficient  
sun protection.

• Work in partnership with a range of 
stakeholders to ensure the provision of 
consistent sun protection messages.

Develop a comprehensive, 
whole-of-state skin cancer 
prevention strategy.

• • We developed a first draft 
of a skin cancer prevention 
strategy, which will go public 
in 2012.

• Engage in public consultation and 
release a final skin cancer  
prevention strategy.

OBJECTIVE: REDUCING OVEREXPOSURE TO ULTRAVIOLET RADIATION BY BEHAVIOUR MODIFICATION

DEVELOPING AND IMPLEMENTING PUBLIC 

EDUCATION MASS MEDIA CAMPAIGNS TO 

REDUCE OVEREXPOSURE TO ULTRAVIOLET 

RADIATION

The Dark Side of Tanning campaign aired for the fourth time in 
NSW over summer 2010–11, with a new creative, featuring 
an Australian icon, the surfer. Alongside it, a new testimonial 
campaign launched for the first time in January. The campaign 
featured the family and friends of 26-year-old Wes Bonny who 
died of melanoma in March 2010 (see case study page 13). 

Evaluation of both campaigns showed strong results:

> The Dark Side of Tanning continued to perform well, achieving
  high recognition (80%), believability (63%) and was found to  
 be attention grabbing (62%). 

> The new Wes Bonny Testimonial campaign achieved high 
 believability (79%), recognition (70%) and was found to  
 be attention grabbing (54%).

PROMOTING GREATER USE OF INDIVIDUAL  

SUN PROTECTION MEASURES

In addition to challenging the belief that melanoma does not 
affect young people, the Wes Bonny campaign commercials 
recognise that many people do not practice sufficient sun 
protection despite high awareness of recommended sun 
protection measures. The advertisements end with a call to 
action to improve sun protection behaviours: ‘You know what 
to do. Do it’ and highlight the recommended five methods of 
sun protection.

DEVELOPING A COMPREHENSIVE, WHOLE-OF-

STATE SKIN CANCER PREVENTION STRATEGY

In 2010–11, we star ted the development of a statewide 
comprehensive skin cancer prevention strategy for the next four 
years.  A range of key stakeholder interviews were completed 
with government departments and non-government organisations 
to help inform the strategy, as well as an environmental scan 
reviewing evidence and opportunities in skin cancer prevention. 
A final plan is expected by early 2012.

•achieved •in progress / ongoing •not achieved
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THE CERVICAL CANCER CHALLENGE

Cervical cancer is almost entirely preventable. Regular Pap tests 
can pick up early warning signs that can be treated before cancer 
develops. A Pap test every two years is essential to reduce the 
incidence of this disease, as early detection improves survival.

The challenge is making sure women who don’t turn up for their  
Pap test after they are sent a reminder from the NSW Pap Test 
Register are followed up. 

Meeting this challenge head-on, we launched a trial program 
in 2011, which alerts general practitioners any time a woman’s 
record shows her test is overdue. It also generates a letter from 
the doctor to remind this woman to be screened.

The trial program will build on the current system used by the 
Pap test registry, where letters are sent to women who have 
not had a Pap test within 27 months, or if they need to see their 
doctor regarding abnormal test results.

Research shows 65 per cent of women in NSW diagnosed with 
cervical cancer do not have a regular test every two years. 
We also know that early detection through screening can 
prevent invasive cervical cancer developing, help to increase 
survival rates and reduce mortality.

The pilot will run for six months in high priority areas in Sydney 
and the Hunter region, where current cervical screening 
participations rates are poor compared to the rest of the State.

If successful, the online reminder system will be replicated 
throughout NSW.

REDUCING THE INCIDENCE OF C ANCER AND 
IMPROVING SURVIVAL FROM C ANCER: BREAST  
AND CERVIC AL SCREENING
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TARGET PROGRESS 2010–11 HIGHLIGHTS 2010–11 FUTURE PLANS

Providing screening invitation, 
reminder and referral systems 
in accordance with stakeholder 
and client expectation.

•
• We initiated a trial of a second 

reminder letter sent out at 29 
months after the previous  
Pap test.

• Conduct formative research to find 
out stakeholder expectations around 
reminder letters for Pap tests.

• Review the reminder letter.

Identifying and implementing 
best business and clinical 
practices

•
• We improved our information 

systems and upgraded our 
technology.

• Develop best practice guidelines for 
clinical practice.

Developing programs based 
on current and emerging 
barriers/enablers to uptake 
of screening in CALD 
communities.

•
• We developed a Bilingual 

Community Educational 
Program for both breast  
and cervical screening,

• Evaluate the Bilingual Community
Educational Program and roll it  
out to general practitioners.

Developing targeted behaviour 
modification models to improve 
screening in unscreened and 
under screened women.

•
• We allocated funding to 

increase cervical screening  
in rural and remote areas.

• Conduct formative research on 
attitudes and behaviours about  
why women are not attending  
breast and cervical screening.

Promoting screening through 
social media marketing 
campaigns.

•
• Planned for 2011–12.

Engaging general practitioners 
(GPs) and practice nurses 
to promote referral to 
BreastScreen and provide 
cervical screening.

•
• We developed a system to 

send out Pap test reminders  
to general practitioners.

• Increasing sustainable recall and 
reminder systems for cervical 
screening with general practices. 

Consulting widely to 
improve engagement of key 
community groups to support 
uptake of screening.

•
• In developing the Bilingual 

Community Educational 
Program, we conducted 
widespread community 
consultation.

• A community consultation planned 
for breast screening in 2011–12.

OBJECTIVE: INCREASING OVERALL PARTICIPATION RATES IN BREAST AND CERVICAL SCREENING 

PROGRAMS IN LINE WITH NATIONAL PROGRAMS

PARTICIPATION RATES IN BREAST AND 

CERVICAL SCREENING PROGRAMS 

Screening for cancer symptoms can help detect pre-cancerous 
lesions and cancer in its early stages, even if there are no outward 
symptoms of the disease. If a cancer is found in its first stages, 
before it has the chance to spread, the likelihood of a successful 
recovery is much greater.

PARTICIPATION FOR BREAST SCREENING

Between 1 June 2009 and 30 May 2011, 414,545 women 
in the 50–69 age group had a biennial mammogram. The 
participation rate for this period was 51.8 per cent.

PARTICIPATION FOR CERVICAL SCREENING

Approximately 1,126,416 women (1,147,404 in 2009–10) in  
the target age group 20–69 years had a Pap test in the biennium 
ending 30 June 2011. 

During 2010–11, we did not produce any breast or cervical screening 
adver tising campaigns. We plan to run a cervical screening 
campaign in 2011–12.

SCREENING INVITATION, REMINDER AND 

REFERRAL SYSTEMS 

We identified 13 Local Government Areas (LGAs) as priorities 
for promoting both breast and cervical screening services 
during 2010–11:  Ashfield, Auburn, Bankstown, Blacktown, 
Botany, Campbelltown, Fairfield, Kogarah, Liverpool, Marrickville, 
Parramatta, Penrith and Strathfield. 

The prioritisation process was based on factors including: lower 
than State average screening participation rates; large numbers 
of women from culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) 
backgrounds; higher proportion of population within the lowest 
socioeconomic status (SES) quintile; and higher numbers of new 
cases of cervical cancer deaths from the disease. Our future 
recruitment and marketing initiatives will be specifically tailored  
to women in these areas. 

•achieved •in progress / ongoing •not achieved
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In 2010–11, women living in 28 high priority LGAs were also the 
focus of three strategies for encouraging women to have a Pap test:

1. The trial of a second reminder letter sent out at 29 months  
 after the previous Pap test.  Evaluation of this project  
 indicated women were 1.6 times more likely to have a  
 Pap test after receiving a second reminder letter. This  
 strategy has now been implemented on a permanent basis  
 to increase participation.  

2. The trial of a letter sent out to women 50–69 years whose  
 last Pap test was between four and six years ago. Evaluation  
 showed women are 2.4 times more likely to have a Pap test  
 after receiving this letter and women living in high priority  
 areas had a higher response rate than others.

3. A secure messaging project has been implemented with  
 general practitioners (GPs) working in high priority LGAs.   
 The project involves sending a notification to GPs informing  
 them their patient has been sent an overdue reminder by  
 the Pap Test Register (see page 17). 

DEVELOPING PROGRAMS FOR CULTURALLY AND 

LINGUISTICALLY DIVERSE COMMUNITIES

In 2010–11, we developed a Bilingual Community Educational 
Program for both breast and cervical screening, focusing mainly 
on Sydney West and Sydney South West areas. As part of this, 
we produced educational resources in Arabic, Vietnamese and 
Chinese languages; engaged and trained community educators; 
and held workshops with women in June 2011.

We will under take evaluation of the program in October 
2011 and, if successful, hope to increase these resources and 
workshops for women from different countries and areas of 
NSW in 2011–12.

INCREASING CERVICAL SCREENING IN REMOTE 

AND RURAL AREAS 

We allocated funding for women’s health nurses in rural and 
remote areas to provide 11,659 Pap tests at no cost to these 
women. This strategy increased access to screening for women 
living in rural and remote areas who may not otherwise have 
access to a service and focuses on women who have never  
had a Pap test or who do not participate in regular screening.

Funding was given to the Central Coast Division of General Practice 
to provide cervical screening outreach clinics in Wyong, which 
resulted in 664 women being screened. 

We also gave funding to the Thubbo Aboriginal Medical Coop in 
Dubbo to provide Pap tests to Aboriginal women. The funding 
period ended in March 2011 and 58 Aboriginal women were 
screened during this period.

ENGAGING GENERAL PRACTITIONERS AND 

PRACTICE NURSES TO PROVIDE CERVICAL 

SCREENING

We also provided funding for 72 GPs and 85 practice nurses 
to undertake Pap tests with Family Planning NSW. We fund 
this training to increase the number of Pap test providers and 
therefore increase access to cervical screening for women.

We piloted an innovative project to establish a sustainable recall 
and reminder system for cervical screening.  This was a six-month 
pilot with Bankstown, Central Sydney, Hunter Rural and Wentwest 
Divisions of general practice. Based on evaluation the project 
has potential to be rolled out to GPs across the State (see case 
study page 17).

IDENTIFY AND IMPLEMENT BEST BUSINESS AND 

CLINICAL PRACTICES IN BREAST SCREENING

The implementation of the integrated BreastScreen NSW 
Information System (BIS) / Picture Archiving Communication 
System (PACS) is complete, with the last BreastScreen NSW 
Screening and Assessment Service going live on the 6 June 
2011. This new system allows for storage and transfer of client 
information (BIS), as well as providing an integrated statewide 
Picture Archiving Communication System (PACS), where digital 
images of client mammograms are stored centrally and can be 
transferred between services on request.

DIGITAL MAMMOGRAPHY TECHNOLOGY 

UPGRADE

In early July 2010, $18.9M in federal funding was confirmed for 
upgrading digital mammography technology across the BreastScreen 
NSW Program.  This funding allows us to: (i) replace all existing 
analogue/computed radiography (CR) equipment with digital 
radiography (DR) technology; (ii) upgrade existing BreastScreen 
NSW mobile vans to include DR machines; (iii) expand high-speed 
fibre optic links to rural hub sites; and (iv) enable National E-Health 
Transition Authority (NEHTA) connectivity within  
BreastScreen NSW.

By using the DR equipment and PACS, we can send women 
their screening results within a shorter timeframe.

ENGAGING WITH WOMEN TO IMPROVE OUR 

SERVICES

We completed a BreastScreen NSW lapsed screeners survey 
in 2010, which aimed to find out why some women who 
have attended screening previously, now no longer take part 
in the program. The findings of this survey will contribute to 
the development of strategies to raise the standard of service 
delivery even higher and encourage their return to the program 
and increase participation rates.
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IMPROVING THE SURVIVAL  
OF PEOPLE WITH  C ANCER
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CASE STUDY:  REPORTING FOR BETTER C ANCER OUTCOMES: 
REDUCING VARIATION IN PATIENT C ARE THROUGHOUT NSW

The cancer experience is different for every person, but the quality  
of care received should be the same for everyone. High quality 
cancer treatment and care can be, most often, given close to where 
the person lives, but for some rare or more complex cancers, 
people will need to travel for best outcomes. 

That’s why one of our key goals is to reduce variations in 
outcomes for people diagnosed with cancer. 

To help us achieve this goal we began a new project in 2010–11: 
Reporting for Better Cancer Outcomes. Our aim is to turn 
available data on what happens to each patient within a Local 
Health District (LHD) into meaningful information, which can  
be used to make improvements to the way services are provided.

By identifying areas of variation, new strategies can be developed  
to make a difference to individual people and also to entire 
hospital systems. 

We began this program by revising existing funding agreements 
with each LHD. These include the $17.4 million investment we 
made into more than 200 full-time positions this financial year,  
as well as the support we provide across the spectrum of cancer 
care, including screening programs.

In return for our financial investment, each health district will 
report on key questions, or indicators, which are aligned to the 
goals of the NSW Cancer Plan 2011–15. This includes information 
such as the number of patients on a clinical trial, surgical mortality 
or the proportion of Pap tests performed on un-screened and 
under-screened women. 

As cancer is a notifiable disease in NSW, we already have data 
on how many new cases of cancer there are in the State and 
how many people died from the disease. By adding more 
information, we can give LHDs access to meaningful clinical 
outcomes and performance data, so they can effect real time 
service planning and quality improvement changes.

By understanding the impacts their services have on the people 
of NSW, the doctors and nurses who treat people every day 
can make real improvements for people with cancer.
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OBJECTIVE: REDUCING VARIATIONS IN CANCER OUTCOMES ACROSS NSW

IMPROVING THE SURVIVAL OF PEOPLE WITH  CANCER

TARGET PROGRESS 2010–11 HIGHLIGHTS 2010–11 FUTURE PLANS

Further develop data capabilities, 
especially using the Clinical 
Cancer Registry.

•
•  Completed preparatory work 

for developing an integrated 
cancer registry system for all 
cancer data in the State.

•  A functioning NSW Cancer Registry, 
integrating all databases.

Expand the use of linked data.

•
•  Reported from data sets linking 

the Central Cancer Registry, 
Clinical Cancer Registry and 
Admitted Patient Data Collection.

•  Establish the reporting framework 
and develop reporting schedules.

•  Establish an internal set of priority 
projects for linked data usage. 

Refine and use reporting 
measures for systems and 
patient level outcomes.

•
•  Developed Reporting for Better 

Cancer Outcomes strategy (see 
case study, page 21).

•  Engage academics to undertake a 
literature review on patient 
reported outcome measures.

•  Establish an advisory/working group 
to consider outcomes of the literature 
review and advise on next steps.

Develop reporting schedules 
and work with State, networks, 
hospitals and clinicians to 
improve cancer outcomes  
and reduce variation.

•
•  Developed Reporting for Better 

Cancer Outcomes strategy (see 
case study, page 21).

•  Implement the strategy and report 
on performance.

Implement service delivery 
performance improvement 
strategies and priorities.

•
•  Developed Reporting for Better 

Cancer Outcomes strategy (see 
case study, page 21).

•  Establish a business improvement 
work program including identification 
of key business improvement priorities.

•achieved •in progress / ongoing •not achieved

The Cancer Institute NSW manages data registries that provide 
the most up-to-date overview of cancer in NSW. From this, we 
can generate accurate and comprehensive information about 
cancer, trends, outcomes and risk factors, so we can be more 
effective in controlling cancer within our communities and 
reducing variation in care and survival.  

Detailed information about every new case of cancer diagnosed 
and treated in NSW is sent to our registries under strict privacy and 
security measures. We then use these data to report deidentified 
cancer incidence, mortality and survival, which support the work 
of clinicians, policy makers, planners and researchers. We are also 
committed to making sure this information is available to the public, 
people with cancer, carers and survivors.

We collect, link, interpret and report high-quality cancer information 
to optimise cancer outcomes in NSW. This includes data on:

> cancer incidence and mortality

> cancer stage, treatment and quality of care

> mesothelioma incidence, mortality and exposure to asbestos

> Pap tests and related follow-up tests

> breast screening

> hereditary bowel cancer.

The data are used to:

> monitor new cases, deaths and survival from cancer in the 
 NSW population

> monitor and evaluate the quality and outcomes of cancer 
 treatment to inform best clinical practice

> support screening programs and monitor and evaluate their 
 performance

> compare local, national and international trends in cancer

> plan cancer services

> support research activities.
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ENHANCING REPORTING ABOUT CANCER

In 2010–11, we developed a new web-based data deployment 
tool to enable powerful and efficient repor ting across the 
Institute’s databases.   

The new system will help researchers, planners, policy makers 
and other stakeholders in the NSW health system to look at 
their consolidated data and analyse these locally. The system 
employs an approach to interlinking databases, called a 
datacube, within a secure, but easy to use online interface.

The enhanced reporting from the datacube, including on variation 
in outcomes by stage and treatment, will inform clinical best practice 
and lead to improvements in care and outcomes.

One of the benefits of the datacube is that stakeholders will be 
able to carry out their own queries and generate graphs, maps 
and customised reports that they can use for their individual 
requirements. For example, we will be able to generate maps 
showing the change in cancer rates over time in a specific 
geographic part of NSW. 

EXPANDING THE USE OF LINKED DATA

The Cancer Institute manages the Centre for Health Record 
Linkage (CHeReL), which provides record linkage infrastructure 
and services to enable research and evaluation. During 2010–11, 
the CHeReL provided 15 linkage services to facilitate new 
cancer research and provided researchers with access to more 
than 9.7 million non-identified records for ethically approved 
research about cancer risk factors, screening, diagnosis, 
treatment and outcomes.  Organisations using linked data 
include universities, hospitals, the Cancer Council NSW, the 
Garvan Institute, the National Breast and Ovarian Cancer 
Centre and the Cancer Institute NSW. 

Topics utilising linked data include:  

> cervical screening behaviour in migrant women 

> the genetic basis of prostate cancer

> cancer incidence and mortality among people on opioid therapy

> breast cancer screening and survival among Aboriginal women 

> outcomes following surgery for oesophageal, liver, pancreas 
 and stomach cancer

> treatment and quality of care for people with 
 upper-gastrointestinal cancer

> patterns of radiotherapy care, including palliative radiotherapy 
 and re-treatment

> patterns of cancer care over time, including specific research 
 on hospital volume and cancer outcomes, the occurrence of  
 thyroid cancer following breast cancer, colonoscopic follow- 
 up after curative surgery for colorectal cancer and end-of-life  
 hospital care for people with cancer

> the use, effectiveness and safety of cancer medicines.

KEY FEATURES OF THE DATACUBE 

Statistical analyses and calculations of rates, ratios and 
proportions across multiple databases.

Interactive graph and mapping functions.

Customised reporting and analysis.

Enhanced measurements against standards, benchmarks and 
practise guidelines.

Self service, improved response times and efficiency of service.
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CASE STUDY: C ANREFER – L INKING PEOPLE WITH C ANCER 
TO MULTIDISCIPL INARY SERVICES

A cancer diagnosis can be an extremely confronting and difficult 
situation for a person and their family.

All of a sudden, there is a lot of information to be absorbed, questions 
to be asked and key decisions to be made. 

A person diagnosed with cancer will talk to a number of health 
professionals at different times throughout their cancer journey.

At the heart of this treatment pathway is the general practitioner 
(GP). For most people, their local GP is the first person who will 
diagnose them with cancer and is often the trusted person they 
will turn to for information about their cancer and their treatment. 
They also rely on their GP to refer them to the best specialist to 
treat their cancer.

The reality is GPs only diagnose a small number of people with 
cancer each year and each cancer will be different, which makes 
referral a critical step in a person’s journey.

People with cancer need to be referred to the service that can 
best help them get the answers they need about their situation 
– and to get those answers quickly. People also want to be 
treated as close to home as possible while retaining the desire 
to get the best possible treatment.

That’s why the Cancer Institute NSW developed a new online 
cancer services directory – called Canrefer.

Canrefer is a comprehensive, searchable database of NSW cancer 
services designed to assist general practitioners to refer to the most 
appropriate and nearest specialist for their patient’s cancer 
type. Importantly, specialists listed in Canrefer practice within 
a multidisciplinary team, as we know such teams enhance the ability  
for people to get the world’s best treatment.

Once the information in Canrefer is used to make a referral, a 
multidisciplinary team of specialists from different cancer care 
disciplines – including surgeons, medical and radiation oncologists, 
pathologists doctors, nurses, general practitioners, psychiatrists, 
psychologists, social workers, dieticians, palliative and supportive 
care clinicians and other relevant health professionals – collaborate 
to design treatment and supportive care specific for that person.

The Cancer Institute NSW promotes and supports the development 
of multidisciplinary teams in NSW – a process where groups of 
health professionals, who are involved in a particular group of cancers, 
come together to discuss diagnosis, treatment and support needs.

Multidisciplinary teams can make decisions about the most 
appropriate treatment and suppor tive care for the person,  
while taking into account the individual person’s preferences  
and circumstances.

In addition to information about multidisciplinary teams, Canrefer 
includes details about:

> radiotherapy treatment centres

> chemotherapy units

> palliative care units

> BreastScreen services

> clinical trials

> cancer genetics services

> support information for people with cancer through a link to the 
 Cancer Council NSW website.

People with cancer or their carers can also search for their nearest 
cancer treatment centres, find information about how to make an 
appointment, and any specific instructions relevant to their treatment 
including important practical details such as parking.

The directory will be launched shortly for clinicians, people with 
cancer and the community at large.
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TARGET PROGRESS 2010–11 HIGHLIGHTS 2010–11 FUTURE PLANS

Define barriers/enablers to 
uptake of best evidence practice. •

• Developed a system to capture 
clinical variation in chemotherapy 
treatment across NSW.

• Identify barriers and enablers to the 
sustainability and use of eviQ within 
clinical areas.

Assist health care 
professionals transfer research 
outcomes into clinical practice.

•
• Produced point of care 

educational activities.

• Developed Translational 
Cancer Research Centres  
(see case study page 29).

• Developed evidence- based 
practice guidelines for the 
nutritional management of 
adult patients with head and 
neck cancer.

• Establish two new 
Academic Chair positions.

• Appoint to adolescent and young adult 
clinical fellowship program.

Measure practice against  
best evidence. •

•  Developed an easy to use 
opioid calculator for eviQ.

• Assess the outcomes of first round 
of Reporting for Better Cancer 
Outcomes project. 

• Pilot the capture of treatment 
completion and variation in dosage 
and scheduling against eviQ protocols. 

Promote better coordination 
of cancer care. •

• Enhanced adolescent and 
young adult clinical expertise.

• Continued to support 
multidisciplinary teams.

• Collaborated with 700 health 
professionals through a structured 
clinical consultation model.

• Set up Canrefer (see case 
study page 24).

• Developed referral guides.

• Develop a cancer care coordination 
model for NSW that includes the 
primary care interface.

• Establish a Youth Cancer Network 
in NSW and ACT.

• Develop a multidisciplinary team 
improvement plan.

• Launch Canrefer.

Define roles and 
competencies for cancer 
health care professionals 
and further develop clinical 
leadership.

•
• Worked with care coordinators 

and other stakeholders to 
further develop and refine the 
role of a care coordinator.

• Collate existing national and 
international role and competency 
frameworks for applicability in NSW.

• Develop and evaluate prostate 
cancer nurse role.

Promoting life-long learning 
among clinicians. •

• Developed a model for 
networked training in oncology.

• Hosted clinical cancer education 
forums, including specific targeting 
of regional/rural participants.

• Development of evidenced based 
education modules, chemotherapy, 
transition of cancer nurses and 
chemotherapy safety in  
community pharmacies.

OBJECTIVE: REDUCING THE GAP BETWEEN EVIDENCE AND CLINICAL PRACTICE

•achieved •in progress / ongoing •not achieved
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DEVELOPING QUALITY CARE CANCER SYSTEMS

IMPROVING SERVICES FOR ADOLESCENTS AND  
YOUNG ADULTS

In 2010–11, we took the lead for NSW and the ACT in the 
national Youth Cancer Networks Project to enhance the care  
of adolescents and young adults (AYA) with cancer. This is a 
Commonwealth-funded initiative, which is coordinated by 
CanTeen as the funds holder.

Our role is to implement a model that offers AYAs with cancer 
the best medical care while incorporating psychosocial and 
supportive care to maximise normal development into adulthood. 
We aim to achieve this by enhancing AYA clinical exper tise 
through professional development, strengthening multidisciplinary 
coordinated care and increasing clinical trial capacity. 

To enhance clinical expertise, we have distributed $1.9 million to 
services across NSW and ACT to employ AYA project staff who 
will strengthen links between adult and paediatric campuses, 
provide professional development opportunities, and coordinate 
multidisciplinary care.

To further build workforce capacity, two AYA Clinical Fellows 
have been appointed to provide newly qualified oncologists the 
opportunity to develop expertise in AYA oncology.  One of the 
fellowships will build AYA palliative care capacity by training a 
palliative care medical specialist in AYA cancer care.

SURVEYING MULTIDISCIPLINARY TEAMS

We continued to monitor the success of cancer multidisciplinary 
teams (MDTs) in NSW in 2010–11, and implemented a third 
profiling survey. This survey builds upon the results of the 2006 
baseline survey and 2008 follow-up survey and we hope it will 
identify broad system changes across multiple tumour groups. 

We found that in 2010–11, there were 170 MDTs in the NSW 
population, of which 145 (85%) participated in the survey.  This 
represents an increase of 6 per cent, or 10 MDTs, since 2008 
and an increase of 19 per cent, or 27 MDTs, since the initial 
baseline study in 2006.   

Averaged across all tumour streams, the data suggest that the 
proportion of new cases discussed by MDTs improved from 53 
per cent in 2008 to 61 per cent in 2011. 

In 2006, the Cancer Institute NSW developed a set of criteria for 
MDTs based on the work undertaken by the National Breast and 
Ovarian Cancer Centre, the Victorian Department of Health, and 
the United Kingdom National Health Service (NHS).  The criteria 
relate to communication, team membership, patient involvement, 
number of patients discussed, data collection and treatment 
planning.  The MDTs in the 2011 survey sample met, on average, 
17.7 of the 24 criteria (or 74% of all best practice criteria).  

We will be producing a more detailed report about our findings 
in 2011–12 to continue to improve the quality and number of 
MDTs throughout NSW.

SUPPORTING BEST EVIDENCE PRACTICE IN NSW

POINT-OF-CARE EDUCATION RESOURCES 

In 2010–11, we further developed eviQEd, a new program 
designed to run in parallel with our online-standardised 
treatment website, eviQ. eviQEd provides cancer health 
professionals with point-of-care educational resources to 
standardise and implement clinical best practice.

The modules provide a blend of online and other learning and 
assessment processes, including clinical learning and skill assessment, 
workshops and simulations.

In 2010, we piloted a medical orientation course through eviQEd 
for basic physician trainees (caring for people receiving 
chemotherapy) and advanced trainees (prescribing chemotherapy) 
as well as a pain management module for nursing staff in hospitals 
throughout NSW and South Australia.

We have also introduced a chemotherapy nurses training 
project under the eviQEd program, which is scheduled for 
release in July 2011.

DEVELOPING AN OPIOID CALCULATOR

After two years in development, we launched an easy to use 
opioid conversion calculator on eviQ. 

Opioid medicines are invaluable for the treatment of acute and 
chronic pain. The calculator helps to ensure the right dose of 
medication is prescribed when patients are changed from one type 
of opioid to another, helping to prevent both under and over dosing. 

The online tool allows clinicians to safely and accurately convert 
several opioids to a single opioid at any one time – irrespective 
of routes of administration. Ultimately, we hope the calculator 
will promote standardisation and consistency of practice.

The calculator was released in November 2010 and within the first 
five days nearly 1,000 clinicians logged on to view or use this feature. 
The calculator receives a steady use of around 20 to 30 visits a day 
and between November 2010 and June 2011, we had 3,800 visits.

INCREASING EVIQ REGISTRATIONS

Registrations to the Cancer Institute NSW website, eviQ, increased 
by 110 per cent in the 2010–11 financial year. This online tool is 
being used by clinicians throughout Australia and the rest of the 
world to standardise cancer treatment for people with cancer.
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MEASURING BEST PRACTICE AGAINST EVIDENCE

REPORTING MEASURES FOR HOSPITAL SYSTEMS

During 2010–11, Cancer Institute staff evaluated differences in the 
treatment outcomes for people with cancer who had an operation 
in hospital.

Using data, we measured four standard hospital-wide indicators:

> a return to the operating room after a procedure

> a length of stay after an operation of longer than 21 days

> emergency re-admission within 28 days after a procedure.

These data show some variations across different hospitals for 
some cancers. 

Using these data, we have started to develop some surgical outcome 
indicators for lung, colon, rectal, breast, stomach, oesophagus and 
pancreatic cancer. 

IMPROVING RADIOTHERAPY TREATMENT IN NSW

Radiotherapy (or radiation therapy) is the use of high energy x-rays 
(called ionising radiation) to kill cancer cells and stop them from 
growing and dividing. Cancer cells are less able to repair radiation 
damage than normal cells, which usually recover or repair themselves 
quite quickly.

Some cancers can be cured by radiotherapy alone or when 
combined with other treatments, such as chemotherapy and 
surgery. Radiotherapy may also control other cancers, by making 
them smaller or stopping them from spreading. When cure is 
not possible, radiotherapy may also be used to provide pain and 
symptom relief.

In NSW, waiting times for radiotherapy treatment have been 
identified as an issue for several years; so we developed a 
Radiotherapy Business Improvement Strategy project aimed at 
identifying what causes these issues by analysing service delivery.

The project developed process improvements that increased 
the capacity of NSW radiotherapy units by 16 per cent. NSW 
Health, as part of their ongoing management of radiotherapy, 
now uses the resulting set of electronic tools across the State.

The tools have been integrated into all NSW public radiation 
oncology treatment centres, and will assist with ongoing reporting 
and quality improvement. We will also be supporting centres 
with training and a radiotherapy information systems manager.

AMBULATORY CHEMOTHERAPY BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT 
STRATEGY

Chemotherapy refers to a type of cancer treatment, which uses 
medications to stop or slow the growth of cancer cells. It can be 
used to cure cancer, control cancer or for palliation. Chemotherapy 
may be used as the sole type of treatment, or it may be used in 
conjunction with surgery, radiotherapy or hormonal therapies.

Chemotherapy can be delivered to patients in hospital, or on an 
outpatient basis at home or in a day procedure centre (also known 
as ambulatory care).

Ambulatory or outpatient care of people with cancer is an efficient, 
cost effective and person-centred method of delivering treatment 
for many people. 

In 2010–11, we star ted the process of evaluating ambulatory 
chemotherapy and analysed eight representative units across the 
State. This evaluation found that a simple electronic scheduling 
tool could significantly improve patient bookings for paper-based 
units throughout NSW. By doing this, we can help the services 
schedule patient appointments more efficiently and use their 
resources more effectively.

SUPPORTING SKILLED CANCER PROFESSIONALS

BUILDING CAPACITY IN KEY ACADEMIC DISCIPLINES

The Academic Chairs Program aims to develop capacity in 
academic disciplines relevant to cancer in par tnership with 
Universities. In 2010–11, we continued our funding of five 
academic, chairs throughout NSW. In 2011–12, we hope to 
appoint two new positions to this program.

ACADEMIC CHAIRS

POSITION UNIVERSITY

Academic Chair in Cancer Nursing University of Sydney

Academic Chair in Medical Physics University of Wollongong

Academic Chair in Radiation Oncology University of NSW

Academic Chair in Radiation Therapy University of Sydney

Academic Chair in Palliative University of NSW/ 
Medicine/Nursing University of Notre Dame
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GYNAECOLOGICAL ONCOLOGY WORKFORCE 

PROJECT

In 2010–11, we contributed the NSW component to Cancer 
Australia’s national project to support a skilled gynaecological 
cancer workforce and improve patient outcomes.

The project involved developing targeted tools, resources and 
education to support health professionals caring for women with 
gynaecological cancers. This included three educational forums.

We also developed referral guides for cervical, vulval and vaginal 
cancers to assist with symptom assessment and appropriate 
referral to multidisciplinary teams. 

DEFINING ROLES AND COMPETENCIES FOR 

CANCER HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONALS

In 2010–11, we completed our evaluation of the 50 care 
coordinator roles we fund across NSW. 

We found that:

> Eighty-three per cent of people with cancer who access a 
 cancer nurse coordinator will see an allied health professional,  
 such as a psychologist or social worker, compared to 42  
 per cent of patients who do not have access to a cancer  
 nurse coordinator.

> People who have someone coordinating their care were 
 more satisfied with the care they received and their  
 involvement in the decision-making process, compared  
 to people who had no one responsible for their care.

> People who have cancer believe that having access to a 
 cancer care coordinator is an essential par t of their  
 treatment and care.

> Almost all people with access to someone to coordinate 
 their care were satisfied with the care they received.

> Eighty-four per cent of people with no one person 
 responsible for coordinating their care were satisfied  
 with care they received.

> More than half of people with no one person coordinating 
 their care were dissatisfied with the availability of someone  
 to contact or talk to when required.

> This compares to 4 per cent of people with a cancer care 
 coordinator and 7 per cent of people with another health  
 professional coordinating their care.

Overall, we found that care coordination is essential to the provision 
of well-coordinated multidisciplinary cancer care.

Using these results and engaging with the cancer care community, 
we are working towards developing and refining the role of a 
cancer care coordinator.
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CASE STUDY: CREATING CENTRES WHERE CLINICIANS AND 
RESEARCHERS WORK TOGETHER

In 2010–11, we embarked on 
a new direction for cancer 
research in NSW – the 
Translational Cancer Research 
Program – a national first for 
cancer research.

More than $30 million will 
be invested in seven major 
cancer research centres in 
NSW to ensure at all points 
in the health system we are 
working towards common 
goals in cancer control.

The doctors, nurses and specialists, who treat people with cancer 
everyday, will work closely with outstanding researchers to make 
new treatments available to clinicians and patients sooner.

Likewise, researchers will have the opportunity to hear first-hand 
from doctors and nurses about the issues and gaps in practice 
needing to be addressed through innovative research to 
improve outcomes. 

The Translational Cancer Research Program is an exciting 
development in cancer research that will bring together some of the 
brightest minds and technologically advanced facilities in the State.

Professor John Simes is the director of Sydney Catalyst Translational 
Cancer Centre, a consor tium that includes leading research 
institutions and hospitals in metropolitan Sydney and regional 
NSW (see table below). 

It is the amalgamation and combined potential of these leading 
facilities and researchers that is important to Professor Simes.

 “The Translational Research Program is about identifying synergies 
and bringing people together,” Professor Simes explains.

“It’s about cutting edge research but also about exploring new 
ways to conduct research and share information such as the use of 
interactive web tools and seminar programs that enable people to 
work together more effectively. It really is an opportunity for the 
NSW research sector to come together, to attack new questions and 
to address research that may not happen if we worked in isolation.

“NSW is home to a highly productive cancer research program 
and this new funding model will only help to build these talents 
and resources.”

Professor Simes acknowledged that cancer research and 
treatment is moving towards ‘personalised medicine’ and that 
this is something that will be at the forefront of Sydney 
Catalyst’s research endeavours.

“We’ll focus on projects that examine tissue and blood from 
cancer patients, to explore their treatment outcomes and to 
identify gaps in their patterns of care,” Professor Simes said.

“We’ll also look closely at ‘cancer profiles’ for each patient and 
how we can maximise the treatment plan of each individual.” 

Sydney Catalyst will also design projects that will take results 
from research and apply this evidence into everyday practice in 
the clinic. This consor tium will also study how this kind of 
evidence-based medicine can be taken up rapidly and widely 
among different disciplines in healthcare. 

Professor Simes welcomed the funding boost from the Cancer 
Institute NSW and said the challenge for each Translational 
Centre will be to create research programs and opportunities 
that attract additional funding from government, non-government 
organisations and industry.

SYDNEY CATALYST INCLUDES THE FOLLOWING LEADING RESEARCH INSTITUTIONS AND HOSPITALS:

HOSPITALS MEMBER GROUPS

• Bathurst Base Hospital

• Coffs Harbour Base Hospital

• Concord Repatriation General Hospital

• Dubbo Base Hospital

• Orange Base Hospital

• Royal Prince Alfred Hospital

• St Vincent’s Hospital

• Wagga Wagga Base Hospital

• ADRI: Asbestos Diseases Research Institute

• CeMPED: Centre for Medical Psychology and 
Evidence-based Decision-making

• Centenary Institute of Cancer Medicine

• CSER: Cancer Epidemiology and Services Research Group

• Cunningham Centre for Palliative Care

• NHMRC Clinical Trials Centre

• Cancer researchers, University of Sydney

• SOuRCE: Surgical Outcomes Research Centre

• Sydney Cancer Centre / Lifehouse

• The Kinghorn Cancer Centre, Garvan Institute of 
Medical Research 

Professor John Simes
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OBJECTIVE: REDUCING THE GAP BETWEEN EVIDENCE AND POLICY

TARGET PROGRESS 2010–11 HIGHLIGHTS 2010–11 FUTURE PLANS

Increase investment in policy 
relevant health service 
research.

•
• Developed Translational Cancer

Research Centres (see case 
study p 29).

• Establish an annual forum to present 
outcomes of the Translational 
Health Services Research Grant 
program projects.

• Establish the Translational Health 
Services Research Grant of the 
Year Award as part of the NSW 
Premiers Research Awards.

•achieved •in progress / ongoing •not achieved

INCREASING INVESTMENT IN POLICY RELEVANT HEALTH SERVICE RESEARCH

NEW GRANTS AWARDED BETWEEN 2010 AND 2011

GRANT TYPE NUMBER AWARDED AMOUNT AWARDED

Cancer Epidemiology Linkage Grants 3 $907,910

Cancer Epidemiology Linkage Innovation Grant 1 $50,000

Career Development & Support Fellowship 10 $3,879,372

Clinical Research Fellowship 4 $2,674,639

Early Career Development Fellowship 9 $4,835,525

Future Research Leader 1 $999,409

Research Equipment Grant 12 $2,768,315

Research Innovation Grant 9 $442,073

Research Scholar Award 15 $646,834

Translational Health Services Research Grant 3 $1,764,201

Translational Program Grant 4 $14,967,903

Adolescent and Young Adult Clinical Fellowship 1 $271,384

Clinical Fellowships 3 $514,632

Education Scholarships 2 $34,880

Primary Care and Cancer Specialist Shared Care Model 1 $298,922

Registrars 3 $596,165

Travel Grants 3 $10,730
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The Cancer Institute NSW views research as a critical factor  
for influencing innovation in our health system and improving 
health outcomes for the people of NSW. 

Since 2004, the organisation has invested more than $170 
million in research projects that have the potential to lead to 
better treatment, diagnosis and, ultimately, survival for people 
with cancer in NSW.

This funding has been directed towards building research capacity 
and facilitating the rapid translation of findings into clinical practice.  
Our evaluation of this funding indicates that we have made excellent 
progress towards achieving these objectives with key indicators for 
workforce, research income and clinical trials participation all showing 
significant increases since we started funding research in NSW.

CONTRIBUTING TO THE QUALITY OF RESEARCH 
IN NSW

The Cancer Institute NSW is a proud supporter of cancer research 
and we are responsible for more than 27 per cent of all reported 
cancer research funding in NSW. 

Cancer Institute NSW-funded researchers have also been recognised 
as leaders in their fields with Fellowship grants from the National 
Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC). The highly 
competitive and sought-after Fellowships allow the nation’s 
foremost health and medical professionals develop their research 
careers. Eleven researchers supported by the Cancer Institute NSW 
have also received NHMRC funding in this round, which is an 
outstanding achievement and testament of the high calibre of 
cancer researchers in NSW. Since the inception of the Cancer 
Institute research-funding program, NSW has increased its share 
of NHMRC cancer funds from 17 per cent in 2004 to 29 per cent 
in 2010.

INCREASING CLINICAL TRIALS

The NSW Cancer Trials Network, a partnership between the 
Cancer Institute NSW and the Cancer Council NSW, provided 
funding for 53 cancer trial nurses and data managers across 44 
individual trial units at a value of $5.8m per year ($4.28m in 2010).  

This year saw a continuation of the increasing trend seen in the 
recruitment and treatment of participants on clinical trials in 
NSW, from 2,207 new enrolments in 2009 to 2,340 in 2010.  This 
represents an increase of 122 per cent from the start of funding 
in 2004 when there were 1,054 participants enrolled on trials.  
Similarly, the number of people in follow-up has doubled over the 
funding period from 4, 459 in 2004 to 9,032 in 2010, representing 
an increase of 102 per cent compared to 2004.  This represents 
an additional 832 participants in follow-up in 2010, compared to 
8,200 participants in follow-up at the end of 2009.  

At the end of 2010, the overall proportion of people newly 
diagnosed with cancer enrolled on clinical trials was 6.4 per cent, 
compared to 6.1 per cent at the end of 2009.  

We are encouraged by significant increases in enrolments for 
neurological cancer (6.8 per cent of people newly diagnosed 
with cancer in 2009, compared to 13 per cent in 2010) and 
colorectal cancer (9.8 per cent in 2009 to 11 per cent in 2010). 

Through the NSW Clinical Trials Network, we also helped 
establish seven network support offices in 12 Local Health 
Districts.  These offices introduced area-specific programs to 
support trials staff in increasing the quality and quantity of 
cancer trials, including streamlining clinical trials administration, 
communication and networking within the clinical trails community.
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CASE STUDY:  IMPROVING THE QUALITY OF LIFE OF 
ABORIGINAL PEOPLES WITH CANCER IN NSW

The health issues experienced by Aboriginal peoples is well 
documented and includes 12 per cent of the total burden of 
disease and injury from smoking in Australia; lower rates of 
access to acute care investigations and procedures; and lower 
likelihood of being treated for and surviving cancer.* 

The higher rates of disease and poorer survival from cancer shows 
that our priority should be to improve the responsiveness of the 
health system and close the gaps for Aboriginal peoples with 
cancer, their carers and their communities. 

That’s why improving cancer care and survival in Aboriginal 
communities across NSW is a key feature of the NSW Cancer 
Plan 2011–15 and we are already looking at new programs 
and initiatives that will help to reduce the gap in cancer 
outcomes in the years ahead. 

To help us in our objective, the Cancer Institute, the Aboriginal 
Medical and Health Research Council of NSW and the Centre 
for Aboriginal Health, NSW Department of Health held a 
collaborative forum in August 2010 to identify ways we can 
reduce disparities and increase the effectiveness of prevention 
and screening strategies for Aboriginal peoples in NSW. 

The keynote address for the forum was delivered by Dr Tom 
Calma (the National Coordinator for Tackling Indigenous 
Smoking as a consultant to the Department of Health and 
Ageing) who highlighted that Aboriginal peoples are the 
fastest growing population group in the country, and that it is 
a very young group, with 38 per cent under the age of 14.  Dr 
Calma illustrated that most Aboriginal people die in middle age, 
primarily due to tobacco use, obesity and other lifestyle factors. 

The challenge is that addressing these issues will increase life 
expectancy and subsequently increase rates of cancer as a 
primary cause of death in Aboriginal peoples.  

Sandra Bailey, Chief Executive Officer of the Aboriginal Health 
and Medical Research Council, highlighted the impact of social 
determinants on health outcomes – such as lower income 
and education levels.

“Cancer has a significant impact on Aboriginal people, their 
families and carers, and the community as a whole,” Sandra said.

“It’s important that their stories are recorded because there 
are better ways to improve the journey for Aboriginal people.”

In closing, Dr. Kerry Chant, NSW Department of Health Chief 
Health Officer, said that cancer needs to be recognised as a 
chronic illness.  She identified the key issues of the forum being:

> increasing the Aboriginal workforce in the health system

> improving access for Aboriginal peoples to services and 
 screening

> improving health literacy and communication to reflect 
 the needs of Aboriginal peoples

> increasing the identification of Aboriginality to enhance 
 standards of care

> investigating substandard care and racism within the health 
 system.

In direct response to this forum, NSW Health approved more 
than $1.4m for the Cancer Institute NSW, in collaboration with the 
Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council, to improve 
access for Aboriginal peoples to mainstream cancer services.

We aim to achieve this through increasing the Aboriginal health 
workforce’s (including health workers, nurses and allied health) 
cancer awareness, as well as building links, networks and 
partnerships between the Aboriginal-controlled health sector 
and Local Health Districts mainstream cancer services.

The Cancer Institute will lead the project components that 
specifically focus on health professionals and the interface with 
the system at the treatment side of cancer. Both organisations 
will also work with local communities to raise cancer awareness.

*http://www.coag.gov.au/intergov_agreements/federal_financial_relations/docs/
national_partnership/NP_closing_the_gap_indigenous_health_outcomes.pdf

Improving the cancer outcomes of Aboriginal peoples in NSW is an area that will present one of 
the biggest challenges for us as a community in years to come.
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OBJECTIVE: IMPROVING THE EXPERIENCE OF PEOPLE WITH CANCER AND THEIR CARERS

TARGET PROGRESS 2010–11 HIGHLIGHTS 2010–11 FUTURE PLANS

Mitigating the impact of the 
patient’s cancer on carers and 
significant others.

•
•  Developed new ways to find out 

about the patient’s experiences.

•  Helped people in rural areas.

•  Include patients and key agencies in 
engagement strategy.

•  Explore options regarding patient/
carer survey and approach.

Engaging the person with 
cancer as an active partner 
and decision-maker in his/her 
treatment.

•
•  Developed new patient fact sheets.

•  Translated patient question 
prompt lists into 20 languages.

•  Refine self assessment tool 
for services report on patient 
engagement.

•  Promote the use of question 
prompt lists for patients.

Considering and addressing 
the specific needs of 
Aboriginal people with cancer 
and their carers, and monitor 
whether they are being met – 
including through developing 
culturally appropriate feedback 
mechanisms.

•
•  Gained funding to improve 

access for Aboriginal peoples to 
mainstream cancer services (see 
case study page 33).

•  Improve access for Aboriginal 
people to mainstream cancer 
services.

Providing relevant and 
accurate information about 
cancer and the cancer care 
system including web-based 
technologies.

•
•  Developed online educational 

resources for cancer forums.

•  Worked in collaboration with the
Cancer Council NSW on cancer 
information gaps.

•  Ensure reporting framework has a 
patient-friendly focus.

•  Promote to patients quality 
information materials and electronic 
resources.

•achieved •in progress / ongoing •not achieved

MITIGATING THE IMPACT OF CANCER ON 

CARERS AND SIGNIFICANT OTHERS

DEVELOPING WAYS TO FIND OUT ABOUT PEOPLE’S 
EXPERIENCES

Directly asking people about their experiences of health care 
and quality of life through a survey is an important method for 
obtaining information. By collecting feedback, we can assist cancer 
service providers to improve their services. 

We need information at several levels for the feedback to be 
meaningful: the individual level (for example screening and 
further assessment); the level of the cancer service; and for a 
system-wide perspective.

The Cancer Institute NSW commissioned patient experience/
satisfaction surveys from 2007–09. While these provided 
valuable information, we found some limitations in this approach. 
In 2011–12, we will develop new ways of examining people’s 
experiences and using this information to determine priorities 
for system improvement.

HELPING PEOPLE IN RURAL AREAS

The Cancer Institute provides $0.5m per year to support the 
Isolated Patients Travel and Accommodation Assistance Scheme 
(IPTAAS), a transport and accommodation subsidy scheme that 
assists people in isolated and rural communities gain access to 
specialist medical treatment not available in their own area. 

In 2010–11, 46 health professionals from across NSW rural, 
regional and remote areas received Cancer Institute funding 
to attend our educational forums and translate their new 
knowledge and skills to people with cancer and carers in  
their communities. 
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ENGAGING THE PERSON WITH CANCER AS AN 

ACTIVE PARTNER AND DECISION-MAKER IN 

HIS/HER TREATMENT

DEVELOPING INFORMATION TOOLS

In 2010–11, we developed new fact sheets for procedures on our 
standardised cancer treatments website, eviQ. We have also put 
together information addressing the safe administration of 
chemotherapy, with a focus on education and assessment of 
people and increasing the skills of nurses. 

In 2010, we translated question prompt lists for surgeons, 
medical/radiation oncologists and haematologists into 20 
languages, including: Vietnamese, Turkish, Spanish, Serbian, Russian, 
Por tuguese, Polish, Persian, Mandarin, Macedonian, Korean, 
Khmer, Japanese, Italian, Indonesian, Greek, Croatian, Cantonese, 
Assyrian and Arabic to suppor t people from culturally and 
linguistically diverse backgrounds.

PROVIDING RELEVANT AND ACCURATE 

INFORMATION ABOUT CANCER AND THE 

CANCER CARE SYSTEM 

IDENTIFYING GAPS IN INFORMATION

We commissioned the Cancer Council NSW to identify gaps 
in existing published information and educational resources for  
people with cancer and their carers.

The analysis will canvas what resources are available, based on an 
existing database, and is part of the Cancer Council’s National 
Cancer Care Resources Directory project.

We anticipate the Cancer Council NSW will host and maintain 
the database.

USING NEW TECHNOLOGY TO INFORM A WIDER AUDIENCE

For the first time in 2011, we provided live web streaming of our 
forums, to allow equity of access and a more sustainable approach 
to our education resources. This year we filmed and broadcast the 
brain tumour support and education forum live in May.

This is an exciting area, capitalising on the expertise of the 
leading clinical specialists who dedicate their time to providing 
accurate information to improve cancer care in NSW.  
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MINISTER FOR MEDICAL RESEARCH

DIRECTOR-GENERAL 
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

LOCAL HEALTH 
DISTRICTS

BOARD OF THE CANCER 
INSTITUTE NSW

CANCER INSTITUTE NSWAGENCY FOR CLINICAL  
INNOVATION

CHIEF CANCER OFFICER & 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CLINICAL EXCELLENCE 
COMMISSION

CLINICAL EDUCATION & 
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BUREAU OF HEALTH 
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DIVISION OF CANCER 
SCREENING

DIVISION OF CANCER 
PREVENTION

DIVISION OF STRATEGIC 
RESEARCH INVESTMENT

DIVISION OF CANCER 
SERVICES & INFORMATION

EXECUTIVE OFFICE

CENTRE FOR HEALTH  
RECORD LINKAGE FINANCE & ADMINISTRATIONCOMMUNICATIONS

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY HUMAN RESOURCES

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

THE BOARD OF THE CANCER INSTITUTE NSW 

The Cancer Institute NSW is a statutory body governed by the 
Cancer Institute NSW Board appointed by the NSW Minister 
for Health and Minister for Medical Research the Hon. Jillian 
Skinner MP.

The Board membership consists of 10 non-executive members 
and the Chief Cancer Officer and CEO. Board Members are 
appointed for a term of three years by the Minister under the 
Cancer Institute (NSW) Act 2003. 

The Board seeks to ensure that at any point in time its membership 
comprises persons with the appropriate mix of skills, knowledge, 
specialist expertise and availability to maximise its effectiveness 
and contribution to the organisation.

THE ROLE OF THE BOARD

The Board has responsibility for the organisation’s broad policies 
and determines strategic priorities and exercises its functions, 
responsibilities and obligations under the Cancer Institute (NSW) 
Act 2003. 

The Board delegates responsibility for the management of the 
Cancer Institute NSW through the Chief Cancer Officer. The 
Chief Cancer Officer is accountable to the Board for all authority 
delegated to executive management. Professor David Currow 
was appointed to the position of Chief Cancer Officer and CEO 
commencing on 15 March 2010.

BOARD MEETINGS

During 2010–11, the Board met on six occasions. Attendance 
of Board Members at these meetings, as well as relevant 
committees are listed below:

BOARD MEMBER ATTENDANCE RECORD

 BOARD MEETING AUDIT AND RISK CANCER RESEARCH CLINICAL SERVICES 
  COMMITTEE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ADVISORY COMMITTEE
BOARD MEMBER No of meetings No of possible No of meetings No of possible No of meetings No of possible No of meetings No of possible 
 attended meetings attended meetings attended meetings attended meetings

The Hon Morris Iemma (Chair)  5 6
Ms Liza Carver 4 6 
Mr Keith Cox OAM 6 6
Dr Patrick Cregan 5 6
Professor David Currow 6 6 4 7 1 1
Professor Peter Gunning 6 6 1 1
Dr Tony Hobbs 5 6
Dr Paul Moy 3 6 6 7
Mr John Stubbs 5 6 7 7
Ms Lucy Turnbull AO 4 6 
Professor Robyn Ward 5 6   0 1 1 2

BOARD GOVERNANCE INSTRUMENTS

The Board has developed a number of key governance 
instruments to provide guidance for the organisation  
and to ensure a high level of accountability -

STATEMENT OF STRATEGIC INTENT
The Statement of Strategic Intent defines strategic priorities 
through which to govern and guide the organisation’s strategic 
position in cancer control in NSW in conjunction with the 
State Cancer Plan. 

BOARD CHARTER
A Board Charter has been drawn up to ensure consistency 
with Board objectives, responsibilities and governance standards. 
The Charter outlines key responsibilities of the Board to: develop 
the policies and identify strategies necessary to enable the 
Cancer Institute NSW to improve cancer control in NSW; 
Review and monitor the performance of the CEO; ensure 
appropriate policies and procedures are in place to manage 
risks and comply with applicable laws and regulations; and 
approve and monitor financial reporting and budgets. The Board 
Charter was last reviewed and approved in February 2008.

CODE OF CONDUCT
The Board of the Cancer Institute NSW has adopted a 
comprehensive Code of Conduct and Ethics that is consistent 
with best practice. The code outlines the fundamental values 
and principles that define the standards of behaviour expected 
of the Board of the Cancer Institute NSW.

REGISTER OF INTERESTS 
In accordance with the Cancer Institute (NSW) Act 2003 
a register of interests and a conflict of interest register is 
maintained and updated for all Board Members. Board 
members are required to advise of any perceived or  
actual conflicts of interest at the commencement of  
all Board meetings.
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COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

The Board is advised on specific matters by a number of committees. 
These include an Audit and Risk Committee; two Ethics Committees; 
a Clinical Services Advisory Committee; a Research Advisory 
Committee; a Quality and Clinical Effectiveness Advisory Committee; 
and other committees as the Board considers appropriate to provide 
advice and assistance to the Board in carrying out its functions.  

Each committee has the function of providing independent 
advice, in its respective area of expertise, to the Board on: 

(a) the priorities of the Cancer Institute NSW in achieving its  
 objectives, and 

(b) such other matters as the Board from time to time requests.  

The Ethics Committees, Clinical Services Advisory Committee, 
Quality and Clinical Effectiveness Committee and Research Advisory 
Committee in addition to being statutory are all independent of the 
Board and non-Board members serve as the majority of committee 
members and as the chair of each committee. Details of these 
committees are included on pages 106–109.

REMUNERATION OF BOARD MEMBERS

The Chairperson and Board Members are entitled to receive 
remuneration for service on the Board and some members 
have opted to receive this entitlement. Travel expenditure and 
reasonable costs incurred in discharging their role as Board 
Members are also reimbursed in accordance with the Cancer 
Institute NSW Travel Policy.

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Cancer Institute NSW identifies and manages its business 
and operational risks within an integrated risk management 
framework including the following elements:

> Periodic risk assessment and analysis performed as part of the
 Internal Audit Program.

> Periodic updates of the risk register and risk action plan and 
 ongoing monitoring of risk management strategies.

> A risk-based Internal Audit Program.

> Oversight of all elements of the risk management framework 
 by the Audit Committee of the Board (page 106 ).
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THE HON MORRIS IEMMA BEc LLB
Chairperson of the Board of the Cancer Institute NSW

Morris Iemma served as a Member of Parliament in the NSW Legislative Assembly for 17 years from 
May 1991 until September2008. He held a number of Ministerial portfolios including Premier, Treasurer, 
Minister for Health, Minister for Sport and Recreation, Minister for Public Works and Services, Minister for 
State Development and Minister Assisting the Premier on Citizenship. Morris has a BEc degree from the 
University of Sydney and an LLB from the University of Technology, Sydney.

PROFESSOR DAVID CURROW BMed MPH FRACP
Chief Cancer Officer and CEO
David Currow is Chief Cancer Officer and CEO of the Cancer Institute NSW. Prior to this he was the foundation 
chief executive officer of Cancer Australia, the Australian Government’s national cancer control agency. 
David initially trained as a physician in internal medicine with sub-speciality training in palliative medicine and 
he completed a Master of Public Health exploring changes in the reported incidence of cancer of unknown 
primary in NSW over a 25-year time period. Former roles include foundation Director of the Nepean 
Cancer Care Centre, Sydney and Area Director of Palliative Services Wentworth Area Health Service, Sydney. 

MS LIZA CARVER BEc LLB LLM
Liza Carver is a Partner in the law firm, Gilbert + Tobin, and is a Commissioner of the Australian Energy 
Market Commission. She is a former Non-Executive Director of RailCorp NSW, a former Non-Executive 
Director of the Rail Infrastructure Corporation, a former Non-Executive Director of State Rail Authority 
of NSW and a former Non-Executive Director of Rail Access Corporation. Liza has also served as an 
Associate Commissioner with the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission, a member of the 
NSW Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal, and a member of the NSW Premier’s Council for 
Women between 1995 and 1999.

MR KEITH COX NP OAM
Keith Cox is a nurse practitioner in the oncology chemotherapy unit at Sydney’s Royal Prince Alfred Hospital 
(RPA). He was authorised as a nurse practitioner in 2005 and prior to this he acted in a clinical nurse consultant 
role. Keith has travelled to Nepal and New Guinea to help set up oncology units and to train local nurses.

He is also a member of the Cancer Nursing Society of Australia and Chair of their Winter Congress 
Committee. Keith is an honorary consultant at the University of Sydney and has tutored in chemotherapy 
at The Australian College of Nursing. He also works in other community areas including CanTeen, St Vincent 
de Paul and volunteering through his local parish. Keith was awarded an OAM in 2007 for his services to 
nursing and community volunteer work.

DR PATRICK CREGAN MBBS FRACS
Patrick Cregan is a specialist surgeon with a major interest in breast, endocrine and endoscopic surgery 
based at Nepean Hospital. He has a particular interest in surgical robotics, having performed Australia’s 
first and the world’s sixth Telesurgical procedure. Other interests include research interest in mathematical 
modelling of cancer, patient communication and the application of advanced technologies.

Patrick has served on a number of committees/boards including the Royal Australian College of Surgeons, 
Wentworth Area Health Service, NSW Health Clinical Council and the Australasian Medical Simulation Society. 
Patrick is currently the Chairman of the Board of a private Medical Technology and Research Company, Medicvision.

C ANCER INSTITUTE NSW BOARD

PROFESSOR PETER GUNNING BSc(Hons) PhD
Peter Gunning is the Head of the Oncology Research Unit in the Department of Pharmacology at the University 
of New South Wales. His research is focussed on the development of new therapeutic strategies for the 
treatment of childhood cancer. These strategies target the skeleton of the cancer cell and build on the principles 
of cell architecture that Peter’s group has discovered over the past 20 years. Peter has published more than 
100 primary research articles and has recently edited the first book devoted to his field of research. Previous 
appointments have included leadership roles as Chair of the Division of Research at The Children’s Hospital at 
Westmead, Chair of the Westmead Research Hub Executive and Chair, Board of Bio-Link, a company established 
by the NSW Government to support commercialisation of biomedical intellectual property.
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DR TONY HOBBS MBBS DRANZCOG Dip.Child Health Dip.Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 
FACRRM GAICD
Tony Hobbs is a Rural GP obstetrician based in Cootamundra, NSW. He chaired the external reference 
group developing Australia’s first national primary health care strategy. Tony is the immediate past chair of 
the Australian General Practice Network and the current chair of the Riverina Division of General Practice 
and Primary Health. He has a strong interest in primary health care reform and has been involved in 
developing an innovative integrated Primary Health Care Centre in Cootamundra.

DR PAUL MOY BA PhD
Paul Moy is Global Head of Infrastructure and Private Equity, UBS Global Asset Management, based in 
London. Paul has extensive experience in banking and principal investment internationally, as well as public 
policy in the early part of his career. Paul is an experienced company director of both private and public 
companies, as well as non-profit organisations.

MR JOHN STUBBS BA Dip Acct
John Stubbs is the Executive Officer of Cancer Voices Australia and holds government positions at both 
board and committee levels. John is a survivor of leukaemia and an active representative of cancer consumers.

He is an Honorary Associate of the University of Sydney, School of Medicine, a member of the Australian 
Health Ethics Committee and the Radiation Oncology Workforce Committee. John is the Australian Consumer 
representative on the International Colon Cancer Familial Register funded through the National Cancer 
Institute (NCI) in the US. John has contributed to a number of booklets, including Cancer how are you 
travelling; research papers; edited consumer booklets for the Cancer Council; and is an active contributor 
to Government policy on cancer, cancer services and the value of consumer involvement.

MS LUCY TURNBULL LLB MBA
Lucy Turnbull was Lord Mayor of the City of Sydney from 2003 to 2004 and Deputy Lord Mayor from 
1999 to 2003. She served as an Administrator of Tweed Shire Council until the Council elections in 
September 2008. She currently chairs a number of companies, both private and public, including Prima 
Biomed Limited, and Pengana Holdings Limited. Lucy is a former chair of the NSW Government’s 
Ministerial Advisory Committee on Biotechnology and also served on the NSW Government’s Information 
Industry Business Advisory Board. She has served as a Director of the Sydney Cancer Foundation and as 
president of the Sydney Children’s Hospital Foundation. Lucy is currently a Board member of the Waterloo 
Redfern Authority and is a director of Melbourne IT Limited, an internet services company.

PROFESSOR ROBYN WARD MBBS PhD FRACP
Robyn Ward is the Clinical Associate Dean Prince of Wales Clinical School, University of NSW and the 
Director of Cancer Services for the South East Sydney Local Health District. She is a specialist medical 
oncologist at Prince of Wales Hospital, Sydney and also leads the adult cancer research program in the 
Lowy Cancer Research Centre. Amoungst other roles, Robyn serves as a member of the Commonwealth’s 
Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee and in 2009, she was appointed as Chair of the Medical 
Services Advisory Committee.
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PROFESSOR DAVID CURROW BMed MPH FRACP
Chief Cancer Officer and CEO

MS BETH MACAULEY BA GCHSM RN
Chief Operating Officer 
Beth Macauley was appointed chief operating officer, Cancer Institute NSW in September 2003. Beth has 
extensive professional experience in strategic health services management, medical relations management 
and administration in the private hospital sector. She directs the financial management and reporting of the 
organisation, as well as direction of human resources and information management. Beth also leads strategic 
planning and corporate governance processes.

PROFESSOR SANCHIA ARANDA RN PhD FAAN
Director of Cancer Services and Information
Prof. Sanchia Aranda is director of the Cancer Services and Information Division and also holds academic 
appointments within the School of Health Sciences at the University of Melbourne and at the Peter MacCallum 
Cancer Centre.  With more than 30 years experience in cancer nursing as a clinician, researcher and educator, 
Sanchia’s work focuses on the development of innovative nursing roles and interventions to improve support 
outcomes for people with cancer. She has conducted several randomised controlled trials of novel nursing 
and supportive care interventions which have been implemented successfully in clinical settings.  She has received 
in excess of $6.5 million competitive research funding and a further $6.5 million development funding. Recently, 
Sanchia undertook a $3.5 million Government funded project with Prof. Patsy Yates to develop a framework for 
cancer nursing education and the production of readily accessible learning materials. Sanchia is the immediate 
past president of the International Society of Nurses in Cancer Care (2006–10).  She is on the Advisory Council 
for Cancer Australia, Chair of the National Centre for Gynaecological Cancers, a board member of International 
Union Against Cancer (UICC) and was elected as a Fellow of the American Academy of Nursing in 2009. 

MS ANITA DESSAIX MPH MA (Communication Management)
Manager, Cancer Prevention
Anita Dessaix joined the Cancer Institute NSW in January 2005 and was appointed program manager, 
cancer prevention in 2006. Over the years her focus has been in the area of primary prevention, managing 
the Tobacco Control, Melanoma Awareness and Lifestyle Cancers portfolios. In 2009, her role expanded to 
include managing the Cancer Prevention Division. Anita’s experience and knowledge is in social marketing, 
health promotion, communication management and public relations. Prior to joining the Cancer Institute, 
she held senior positions at NSW Health and prior to that at Western Sydney Area Health Service. Anita 
has a Master of Public Health, Master of Arts in Communication Management and a Diploma in Public Relations.

DR PETER WEJBORA Grad Dip (Arts Mgt) MA PhD
Director of Cancer Research
Peter Wejbora joined the Cancer Institute NSW in February 2008 as director of research. Prior to 
his appointment, Peter held senior positions within the university sector, most recently as research 
development manager at the University of Western Sydney, where he was responsible for facilitating 
the increase of research activity and external research income across all colleges. Prior to his return to 
academe, Peter gained extensive experience in project management and policy development within the 
public and private sectors, including the Sydney Olympics Bid Company, the Ethnic Affairs Commission of 
NSW and two leading commercial galleries.

OUR EXECUTIVE TEAM

DIVISIONAL DIRECTORS
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DR ROBYN GODDING MB BS MPH FRACMA
Director of Cancer Screening
Robyn Godding joined the Cancer Institute in 2007 in the role of manager of the NSW Cervical Screening 
Program and NSW Pap Test Register. Robyn’s prior work experience includes being director of the BreastScreen 
NSW Northern Sydney Lower Central Coast Service, director of the Australian Government Health Service 
and 11 years spent in general practice.

MR LEE DAVELAAR

Manager, Communications
Lee Davelaar joined the Institute as manager, communications in 2010 and has extensive experience in 
political advisory and government communication roles. Lee is responsible for the internal and external 
publications, marketing and promotion of cancer information.

MS MIRJANA JUKA MBusHRM CAHRI
Manager, Human Resources
Mirjana Juka joined the Cancer Institute NSW in October 2005 and has held the position of manager, human 
resources since November 2007. She has extensive experience and knowledge as a human resources 
generalist, having worked previously in the information technology industry and has experience consulting  
in the private and public sector across a broad range of human resource management practices. Mirjana has 
a keen interest in organisation development and talent management.

MR DAVID SABANAYAGAM MBA FIPA
Financial Controller
David Sabanayagam joined the Cancer Institute NSW as finance and administration manager in 2004 and 
has had the position of financial controller since September 2008. He has 19 years’ experience in finance 
roles in communications, information technology, publishing and advertising industries in the private sector. 
David has a Masters in Business Administration from Macquarie University and is a Fellow of the Institute  
of Public Accountants..

MR MICHAEL SCHMITZ MPD
Manager, Information Technology
Michael Schmitz joined the Cancer Institute NSW in July 2004 and has been involved in the information 
technology and communications industry for more than 25 years. Michael has an Advanced Diploma in 
Project Management, is a Master Project Director and a member of the Australian Institute of Project 
Management. Prior to joining the public sector, he held senior positions with several major information 
technology organisations and niche consultant firms in the areas of system integrations and project management.
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OUR PEOPLE

Our people – with their combined exper tise, capability and 
commitment – entirely underpin our organisational success.

The skills required to develop and implement effective statewide 
cancer programs are complex and not readily available in the 
Australian market. We employ clinicians, nurses, pharmacists, 
researchers and statisticians, as well as a variety of professionals 
from the information technology, communication, marketing, 
human resources and finance areas.

Due to the NSW Government staff freeze, retention and 
engagement of our employees is of the upmost importance 
when planning our human resources strategies.

HIGHLIGHTS

> We decreased annual turnover from 16.9 per cent to 
 14.8 per cent: a reduction of 2.13 per cent.  This is the  
 lowest employee turnover since the establishment of the  
 Cancer Institute NSW.

> We continued quarterly reporting of employee turnover 
 to the Leadership team and the Board.

> There was an increased uptake of flexible working 
 arrangements.

> We developed a structured and consistent approach to 
 learning and development.

> We developed divisional curriculums to align learning 
 needs to the Cancer Plan.

> We implemented an organisation-wide induction 
 program: Compass. 

During the year :

> The average number of sick days taken per employee was 
 5.59 days.

> Two claims were lodged for worker’s compensation, with 
 minimal time lost.

> In July 2010, staff received a 3.9 per cent salary increase.

> As at 30 June 2011, the value of untaken recreation leave 
 was $1,406,000. 

> As at 30 June 2011, the value of untaken long service leave 
 was $1,962,000. 

> There were no industrial disputes involving the Cancer 
 Institute NSW during the year.

RECRUITMENT AND STAFFING

NUMBER OF STAFF

YEAR

2010–11 119.1 35.5 154.6

2009–10 103.3 32.5 135.8

2008–09 97.1 34.2 131.3

2007–08 113.3 35.2 148.5

2006–07 90.6 26.4 117.0

Number of staff = all staff on Cancer Institute NSW payroll.

> Excludes anyone not on our payroll (temporary staff/
 contractors/consultants).

> Excludes backfill duplication (maternity relief/secondment relief).

The NSW Government recruitment freeze was still in place during 
2010–11. Our current recruitment actions continue to be in line 
with the freeze restrictions.

LEVEL

SES 5.9 1 4.9 6.6 2 4.6 6.6 2.6 4 6 3 3 6 3 3

HSM 4-6 26.4 9 17.4 29.89 9 20.89 27.89 7 20.89 27.26 9 18.26 28.63 8 20.63

HSM 1-3 68.28 16.43 51.85 86.48 22.47 64.01 73.93 22.89 51.04 84.11 18.47 65.64 95.23 22.47 72.76

Admin 
Officers

14.07 - 14.07 23.11 1.68 21.43 21.45 1.68 19.77 18.03 2 16.03 23.92 2 21.92

Staff  
Specialists

0.4 - 0.4 0.4 - 0.4 0.4 - 0.4 0.4 - 0.4 0.8 - 0.8

Career 
Medical 
Officer

1 - 1 1 - 1 1 - 1 - - - - - -

Medical 
Radiation 
Scientist

1 - 1 1 - 1 - - - - - - - - -

TOTAL 117.05 26.43 90.62 148.48 35.15 113.33 131.27 34.17 97.1 135.8 32.48 103.33 154.58 35.47 119.11

 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10 2010–11

LEVEL

SES 5.9 1 4.9 6.6 2 4.6 6.6 2.6 4 6 3 3 6 3 3

HSM 4-6 26.4 9 17.4 29.89 9 20.89 27.89 7 20.89 27.26 9 18.26 28.63 8 20.63

HSM 1-3 68.28 16.43 51.85 86.48 22.47 64.01 73.93 22.89 51.04 84.11 18.47 65.64 95.23 22.47 72.76

Admin 
Officers

14.07 - 14.07 23.11 1.68 21.43 21.45 1.68 19.77 18.03 2 16.03 23.92 2 21.92

Staff  
Specialists

0.4 - 0.4 0.4 - 0.4 0.4 - 0.4 0.4 - 0.4 0.8 - 0.8

Career 
Medical 
Officer

1 - 1 1 - 1 1 - 1 - - - - - -

Medical 
Radiation 
Scientist

1 - 1 1 - 1 - - - - - - - - -

TOTAL 117.05 26.43 90.62 148.48 35.15 113.33 131.27 34.17 97.1 135.8 32.48 103.33 154.58 35.47 119.11
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CEO AND SENIOR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

LEVEL

6 1 1 - 1 1 - 0.6 0.6 - 1 1 - 1 1 -

3 1 - 1 2 - 2 1 - 1 2 - 2 3 - 3

2 2 - 2 3.6 1 2.6 4 1 3 2 1 1 1 1 -

1 1.9 - 1.9 - - - 1 1 - 1 1 - 1 1 -

TOTAL 5.9 1 4.9 6.6 2 4.6 6.6 2.6 4 6 3 3 6 3 3

ENGAGING OUR STAFF

Our employee engagement survey was conducted in May 2011 
with a 75 per cent response rate.  Aon Hewitt managed the survey 
and define engagement as the state of emotional and intellectual 
involvement in a group or organisation–the extent to which an 
organisation has captured the ‘hearts and minds‘ of its people.  

We conducted focus groups with all people managers to 
develop action plans for addressing organisational themes of 
communication, management/leadership and recognition.

In response to our staff feedback, we have developed a new study 
assistance program, promoted our flexible work arrangements to 
help our employees manage their work-life balance and initiated 
our leadership and management development program.

COMPASS ORIENTATION PROGRAM

We developed a new organisation-wide induction program, 
named Compass, to ensure new employees have an effective and 
smooth integration across the organisation. New staff participate 
in various modules during their first three-month journey, such 
as eLearning, performance development process training, human 
resources and occupational health and safety induction. They are 
given the opportunity to provide feedback at one month, two 
months and three months regarding their experience.

LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT

Our employees are highly skilled when they start work at the 
Cancer Institute NSW and we consider it essential they continue 
to develop their competency and capability throughout their career. 
All staff are encouraged to take responsibility for their development 
and negotiate an individual development plan that assists them 
deliver their objectives and increase their capability. This year, we 
developed divisional curriculums and also made available in-house 
training in project management and project evaluation.

The Cancer Institute NSW has invested $272,391 in 2010–11 
($285,784 in 2009–10) in professional development this year.

LEARNING MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (LMS)

The Cancer Institute NSW purchased an LMS to facilitate the 
delivery of eLearning modules, with the following modules 
currently active: 

> Compass – a core component of the Cancer Institute NSW 
 induction program, designed to encourage early engagement  
 and retention.

> Project management – designed to provide practical tools to 
 achieve project success using best practice project  
 management methodology.

> Program evaluation – designed to ensure all staff have a consistent 
 approach to program/project evaluation, as well as ensuring  
 all programs/projects have an evaluation framework.

LEVEL

6 1 1 - 1 1 - 0.6 0.6 - 1 1 - 1 1 -

3 1 - 1 2 - 2 1 - 1 2 - 2 3 - 3

2 2 - 2 3.6 1 2.6 4 1 3 2 1 1 1 1 -

1 1.9 - 1.9 - - - 1 1 - 1 1 - 1 1 -

TOTAL 5.9 1 4.9 6.6 2 4.6 6.6 2.6 4 6 3 3 6 3 3

 2006–07 2007–08 2008–09 2009–10 2010–11
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

There were two claims (two in 2009–10) lodged for worker’s 
compensation with minimal time lost.

The Occupational Health and Safety Committee continue to 
promote a safe working environment. Sick leave guidelines were 
developed, with the aim of providing clear guidelines to staff on 
sick leave entitlements and procedures. The guidelines will also help 
managers when advising staff who need a longer period of leave.

ASSESSMENTS

Regular ergonomic assessments continue to be carried out to 
ensure that our workplace practices are safe.

FUTURE PLANS

> Further identification of organisation-wide skill gaps.

> Engage staff in another survey, using 360 degree survey 
 development tool for managers.

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO) TABLES

REPRESENTATION OF EEO GROUPS

DISTRIBUTION OF EEO GROUPS

EEO GROUP BENCHMARK/
TARGET

 
2009

 
2010

 
2011

Women 50.0% 74.8% 76.5% 77.0%

Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders 2.6% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7%

People whose first language was not English 19.0% 22.6% 25.4% 26.1%

People with a disability N/A 1.4% 2.1% 2.6%

People with a disability requiring work-related adjustment 1.5% 0.7% 0.7% 0.6%

EEO GROUP BENCHMARK 2009 2010 2011

Women 100 91 91 91

Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islanders 100 N/A N/A N/A

People whose first language was not English 100 88 92 91

People with a disability 100 N/A N/A N/A

People with a disability requiring work-related adjustment 100 N/A N/A N/A
 
Note. The Distribution Index is not calculated where EEO group or non-EEO group numbers are less than 20.

PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL STAFF
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IMPROVING OUR ENVIRONMENTAL 

RESPONSIBILITY

In November 2010, the Cancer Institute moved most of our 
offices to 8 Central Avenue in the Australian Technology 
Park, Eveleigh. The new building, which also houses Channel 
7 and Pacific Magazines, has been designed to achieve a 
4.5-Star NABERS Energy rating, and has a 4 Star Green Star 
– Office Design v2 rating from the Green Building Council 
of Australia. The building features a high-performance façade 
with performance glazing and shading to reduce reliance on 
air-conditioning, even with extreme outside temperatures. In 
addition, high-efficiency underfloor air-conditioning systems 
and high-efficiency water and light fittings have been installed. 
Recycled water is used for flushing toilets, while the design 
features an occupant-friendly interior with reduced air pollutants 
from paints, carpets, and composite wood products.

As tenants of the building, our lease required us to ensure that 
the initial fit-out and any new major fit-out of the premises was 
designed and tested using the NABERS energy guide to tenancy 
energy estimation and the Green Star rating.

It was an important move for the organisation and was done as 
a conscious effort to improve our environmental responsibility. 
Green buildings are built for high energy and water efficiency, 
so they are cheaper to operate. It can therefore give us a buffer 
against future increases in water and energy services costs and 
protect against services shortages.

GIVING BACK TO THE COMMUNITY

The Cancer Institute is proud to support community and 
industry events and seminars that help to further reduce the 
burden of cancer across the State.

In 2010–11 the Institute’s Sponsorship Program provided financial 
support to a number of events, which helped to promote the 
latest diagnosis, research and models of care for cancer; as well as 
events that provided support and guidance for cancer patients, 
their loved ones and carers. Details of our sponsorship over this 
period are overleaf.

We also supported community events such as the Malfunction 
Surf Festival on the Far North Coast, which was not only the 
largest longboard surfing tournament in the southern hemisphere 
but also provided an important vehicle to raise awareness about 
sun protection and the simple steps people can take at the beach 
to reduce their risk of melanoma and other skin cancers.

OUR SUSTAINABIL ITY
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SPONSORSHIPS AND COMMUNITY GRANTS

PURPOSE ORGANISATION AMOUNT

Let's Tackle Tobacco Together Campaign Aboriginal Health And Medical Research 
Council of NSW

            
$10,000.00 

Asia Pacific Conference On Tobacco And Health Asia Pacific Conference on Tobacco and Health   $4,118.19 

Asia Pacific Conference On Tobacco And Health Asia Pacific Conference on Tobacco and Health $10,000.00 

12th Annual Australasian Gastro Intestinal Trials Group Scientific 
Meeting 2010

Australasian Gastro Intestinal Trials Group                
$2,400.00 

Australian Lung Cancer Conference 2010 Australian Lung Foundation   $7,500.00 

BreasetScreen Australia Conference 2011 Breastscreen Victoria Inc   $2,000.00 

COSA Annual Scientific Meeting 2011 Clinical Oncological Society of Australia $40,000.00 

COSA Annual Scientific Meeting 2010 Clinical Oncological Society of Australia     $40,000.00 

5th Garvan Signalling Meeting Garvan Institute Of Medical Research $15,000.00 

Palliative care Research Development Workshop - Hope 
Healthcare Limited

Hope Healthcare Limited                
$6,450.00 

Sponsorship of five attendees - Indigenous Cancer Survivors 
Forum 2011

Indigenous Cancer Survivors Forum               
$4,750.00 

2011 Malfunction Surf Festival Island Style Promotions   $5,000.00 

Australia and Asia Pacific Clinical Oncology Research 
Development Workshop (ACORD) - 2010 Fellowship Sponsor

Medical Oncology Group of Australia Inc             
$13,636.36 

National Breast & Ovarian Cancer Centre - Pink Ribbon Campaign National Breast & Ovarian Cancer Centre   $1,545.45 

Royal Australasian College of Surgeons Annual Scientific Meeting 
2010

Royal Australasian College  of Surgeons                
$8,100.00 

Sun Surf Smart Programme Surf Life Saving School $20,000.00 

The Australian & New Zealand Society of Palliative Medicine 
(ANZSPM) Conference

The Australian & New Zealand Society of 
Palliative Medicine Inc

               
$3,636.36 

TOBNET 2010 Conference The Cancer Council NSW   $4,211.96 

Co-Sponsorship of NSW Radiotherapy Club The Royal Australian and New Zealand College 
of Radiologists

               
$2,500.00 

Co-Sponsorship of NSW Radiotherapy Club The Royal Australian and New Zealand College 
of Radiologists

               
$2,500.00 

Co-Sponsorship of NSW Radiotherapy Club The Royal Australian and New Zealand College 
of Radiologists

               
$2,500.00 

Contribution To Coalition for Research to Improve Aboriginal 
Health (CRIAH) Aboriginal Health Research Conference

The Sax Institute                
$5,000.00 

Grant For Community Partnership Programme Evaluating the 
Impact of Breast Cancer Support Group

The University of Sydney                
$4,000.00 

Sydney Cancer Conference 2010 The University of Sydney $13,636.36 

Bosch Annual Scientific Conference The University of Sydney $12,000.00 

Cancer Screening Awareness & Promotion for Chinese-
Australian Community

The University of Sydney             
$20,893.00 

Support for lecture by Dr H Klingemann The University of Sydney      $700.00 

Solid State Dosimetry Conference The University of Wollongong $10,000.00 

TOTAL  $272,077.68 
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WHAT DO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SHOW?

Our financial statements provide an insight into the Cancer 
Institute NSW’s financial health by showing

• how the Institute performed during the year

•  the value of assets held by the Institute

•  the ability of the Institute to pay its debts.

WHY DO WE HAVE TWO SETS OF FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS?

The Cancer Institute has two sets of financial statements, namely

•  Cancer Institute NSW

•  Cancer Institute Division

The Cancer Institute Division is a controlled entity of the 
Cancer Institute NSW. It was set up in March 2006 to provide 
personnel services to the Cancer Institute NSW. This was 
established pursuant to Part 2 of Schedule 1 to the Public 
Sector Employment and Management Act 2002. All employees 
related expenses and liabilities are assumed by the Division.

WHAT’S IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS?

The financial statements of the Institute consist of the following, 
and explanatory notes to support the financial statements. It 
also includes and endorsement statement by the Board and 
the CEO of the Cancer Institute NSW, and an Independent 
Auditor’s Report issued by the Auditor General of NSW.

Included in the statements are:

• Statement of Comprehensive Income – This lists the sources 
 of revenue, and the operating costs from our day to day  
 running of the Institute. This does not include costs of  
 asset purchases; however it does include deprecation  
 of asset expenses.

• Statement of Financial Position – This shows the value 
 of the assets that we hold, as well as the liabilities or claims  
 against these assets. These are expressed as current or  
 non-current. Current means these are assets or liabilities  
 that will be expected to be paid or converted into cash  
 within the next 12 months.

• Statement of Changes in Equity – This statement summarises 
 the change in the Cancer Institute NSW’s net worth.  
 Changes to our net worth occur mainly as a result of a  
 Surplus or Deficit recorded in the Statement of  
 Comprehensive Income. A change may also occur in net  
 worth due to the revaluation of assets that results in the  
 increased value of non-current assets.

• Statement of Cash Flows – This statement summarised our 
 cash receipts and payments for the financial year and shows  
 the net increase or decrease in cash held by the Cancer  
 Institute NSW. This statement is prepared on a ‘cash’ basis;  
 whereas the operating statement is prepared on an accrual  
 basis which includes money not yet paid or spent.

UNDERSTANDING OUR F INANCIALS

50 CANCER INSTITUTE NSW  ANNUAL REPORT 2011 F INANCIAL REPORT 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Revenue	  	  	
Interest Income 2(a) 2,738 1,780 2,738 1,780

Grants and contributions 2(b) 148,881	 140,120 148,881 140,120

Other revenue 2(c) 820	 989 820	 989

Total	Revenue	  152,439	 142,889 152,439	 142,889

Gain	/	(loss)	on	disposal	 4 18	 (15) 18	 (15)

	  	  	

Expenses	
Employee related	 3(a) 17,996	 17,226 18,019	 17,182

Operating expenses 3(b) 24,955	 25,592 24,955	 25,592

Depreciation and amortisation 3(c) 1,111	 998 1,111	 998

Grants and subsidies 3(d) 104,105	 98,265 104,105	 98,265

Finance costs 3(e) 22 - 22 -

Total	Expenses  148,189 142,081 148,212 142,037

SURPLUS	/	(DEFICIT)	FOR	THE	YEAR	 	 4,268	 793 4,245 837

Other	comprehensive	income	 	 	 	 	

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on Superannuation  (23) 44 - -
Other comprehensive income for the year  (23) 44 - -
     

TOTAL	COMPREHENSIVE	INCOME	FOR	THE	YEAR 4,245 837 4,245 837

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

 Consolidated	 Cancer	Institute	NSW
  2011	 2010 2011	 2010
 Notes $’000	 $’000 $’000	 $’000
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ASSETS	 	 	 	 	

Current	Assets  

Cash and cash equivalents 5 43,927 36,724 43,917 36,724

Receivables 6 3,817 2,839 3,871 2,839

Total	current	assets  47,744 39,563 47,788 39,563

Non	Current	Assets     

Plant and Equipment 7 4,272 1,575 4,272 1,575

Intangible assets 8 1,502 1,100 1,502 1,100

Total	Non	Current	Assets  5,774 2,675 5,774 2,675

Total	Assets  53,518 42,238 53,562 42,238

LIABILITIES     

Current	Liabilities     

Payables 9 7,075 3,975 11,491 7,603

Provisions 10 3,692    3,200 - 263

Other current liabilities 11 413 - 413 -

Total	Current	Liabilities  11,180 7,175 11,904 7,866

Non	Current	Liabilities     

Provisions 10 1,225 813 545 122

Other non current liabilities 11 2,618 - 2,618	 -

Total	Non	Current	Liabilities  3,843 813 3,163 122

Total	Liabilities  15,023 7,988 15,067 7,988

Net	Assets  38,495 34,250 38,495 34,250

EQUITY	 	 	 	 	

Accumulated funds  38,495            34,250 38,495 34,250

Total	Equity  38,495            34,250 38,495            34,250

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

 Consolidated	 Cancer	Institute	NSW
  2011	 2010 2011	 2010
 Notes $’000	 $’000 $’000	 $’000

STATEMENT OF F INANCIAL POSITION 
as at 30 June 2011
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Consolidated
Balance	at	1	July	2010	 	 34,250	 34,250
Surplus	/	(deficit)	for	the	year	 	 4,268	 4,268
Other	comprehensive	income:	 	 	
Actuarial loss on superannuation  (23)	 (23)
Total	other	comprehensive	income	 	 (23)	 (23)
Total	comprehensive	income	for	the	year	 	 4,245	 4,245

Balance	at	30	June	2011	 	 38,495	 38,495
   
  Accumulated	Funds	 Total
  $’000	 $’000

Consolidated    
Balance at 1 July 2009  33,413 33,413
Surplus / (deficit) for the year  793 793
Other comprehensive income:   
Actuarial gain on superannuation  44 44
Total other comprehensive income  44 44
Total comprehensive income for the year  837 837

Balance at 30 June 2010  34,250 34,250

  Accumulated	Funds	 Total
  $’000	 $’000

Cancer	Institute
Balance	at	1	July	2010	 	 34,250	 34,250
Surplus	/	(deficit)	for	the	year	 	 4,245	 4,245
Other	comprehensive	income:	 	 	
Total	other	comprehensive	income	 	 -	 -
Total	comprehensive	income	for	the	year	 	 4,245	 4,245

Balance	at	30	June	2011	 	 38,495	 38,495
   
  Accumulated	Funds	 Total
  $’000	 $’000

Cancer Institute
Balance at 1 July 2009  33,413 33,413
Surplus / (deficit) for the year  837 837
Other comprehensive income:   
Total other comprehensive income  - -
Total comprehensive income for the year  837 837
Balance at 30 June 2010  34,250 34,250

  Accumulated	Funds	 Total
  $’000	 $’000
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CASH	FLOWS	FROM		
OPERATING	ACTIVITIES	 	 	 	 	

Receipts    
Grants  165,032 154,480 165,032 154,480

Interest  2,500 1,746 2,500 1,746

Other  3,163 2,304 3,109 2,304

Total	Receipts  170,695 158,530 170,641 158,530

Payments	 	 	 	 	 	
Employee Related  (17,172) (16,569) (17,184) (16,569)

Grants & Subsidies 	 (120,482) (112,540) (120,482) (112,540)

Suppliers 	 (21,808) (26,521) (21,752) (26,521)

Total	Payments 	 (159,462) (155,630) (159,418) (155,630)

NET	CASH	FLOWS	FROM		
OPERATING	ACTIVITIES 14 11,233 2,900 11,223 2,900

CASH	FLOWS	FROM		
INVESTING	ACTIVITIES     
Purchases of Property,  
Plant and Equipment & Intangibles  (4,030) (759) (4,030) (759)

NET	CASH	FLOWS	FROM		
INVESTING	ACTIVITIES  (4,030) (759) (4,030) (759)

NET	INCREASE	/	(DECREASE)	IN	CASH	 7,203 2,141 7,193 (2,141)

Opening cash and cash equivalents  36,724 34,583 36,724 34,583

CLOSING	CASH	AND		
CASH	EQUIVALENTS 5 43,927 36,724 43,917 36,724

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

 Consolidated	 Cancer	Institute	NSW
  2011	 2010 2011	 2010
 Notes $’000	 $’000 $’000	 $’000

STATEMENT OF C ASH FLOWS 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2011

1	 SUMMARY	OF	SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES

(a) Reporting entity
The Cancer Institute NSW (the Institute), as a reporting entity, comprises the Institute and all the entities under its control, 
namely: the Cancer Institute Division.

The Cancer Institute NSW (the Institute) has been established under the Cancer Institute NSW Act 2003 to address the 
increasing incidence of cancer and the unacceptable rate of cancer deaths, to relieve suffering and to improve the quality of life 
of cancer patients and to provide key information to the government and the community thus accelerating the control and cure 
of cancer.

The Cancer Institute NSW is a not for profit entity.

In the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the economic entity consisting of the controlling and 
controlled entities, all inter entity transactions and balances have been eliminated.

These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011 have been authorised for issue by the Board of the 
Cancer Institute NSW on 17 October 2011.                .

(b) Basis of preparation
The Institute’s financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with:

• applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)

• the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Regulation and

• specific directions issued by the Treasurer.

Property, plant and equipment, investment property, assets (or disposal groups) held for sale and financial assets at ‘fair value 
through profit or loss’ and available for sale are measured at fair value. Other financial statements items are prepared in 
accordance with the historical cost convention.

Judgements, key assumptions and estimations management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial 
statements.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars (except for the superannuation disclosure in note 10, which is 
provided by Pillar in whole dollars) and are expressed in Australian currency.

(c) Statement of compliance
The consolidated and parent entity financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include 
Australian Accounting Interpretations.

(d) Insurance
The Institute’s insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self insurance for 
Government agencies.  The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund Manager based on past claim experience.

(e) Accounting for Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except that:

• the amount of GST incurred by the Institute as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office is recognised  
 as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense and

• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flow on a gross basis.  However, the GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office are classified as operating 
cash flows.
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1	 SUMMARY	OF	SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES	(cont’d)	

(f) Income recognition
Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Additional comments regarding 
the accounting policies for the recognition of income are discussed below.

(i) Grants revenue
  Grants are generally recognised as income when the Institute obtains control over the assets. Control is normally obtained upon  
  the receipt of cash. 

(ii) Rendering of services
  Revenue is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion (based on labour hours  
  incurred to date).

(iii) Investment revenue
  Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method as set out in AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition  
  and Measurement. 

(g) Recognition of Grants and Subsidies expenditure
 (i) Grants to NSW Local Health Districts (LHD’s) 
  Grants to NSW LHD’s were made from 1 January 2011 through the Health Reform Transitional Offices (TO’s) as the NSW Area  
  Health Services were abolished on 31 December 2010.   Grants are recognised as an expenditure in the relevant year based on  
  an agreed payment schedule at the time when all formal contract documentation has been fully executed by all parties.

 (ii) Hospital and Research Grants
  Hospital and Research grants are recognised at the time the Institute becomes liable to make payment according to the funding  
  agreement. Grants that have not been paid are accrued at balance date.

(h) Assets
 (i) Acquisitions of assets
  The cost method of accounting is used for the initial recording of all acquisitions of assets controlled by the Institute.  Cost is the  
  amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of  
  its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised in accordance  
  with the requirements of other Australian Accounting Standards.

  Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

 (ii) Impairment of assets
   As a not for profit entity with no cash generating units, the Institute is effectively exempted from AASB 136 Impairment of Assets  
  and impairment testing. This is because AASB 136 modifies the recoverable amount test to the higher of fair value less costs to sell  
  and depreciated replacement cost. This means that, for an asset already measured at fair value, impairment can only arise if selling  
  costs are material. Selling costs are regarded as immaterial.

 (iii) Capitalisation thresholds
  Property, plant and equipment & intangible assets costing $5,000 and above individually (or forming part of a network costing  
  more than $5,000) are capitalised.

 (iv) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
  Depreciation is provided for on a straight line basis for all depreciable assets so as to write off the depreciable amount of each  
  asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the Institute. 
	

	 	 Depreciation	Rates	 30	June	2011	%	Rate

	 	 Plant	&	Equipment
  Computer equipment 25 
  Office equipment 14 
  Leasehold Improvements amortised over the period of the lease. -
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1	 SUMMARY	OF	SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES	(cont’d)	

(h) Assets (cont’d)
 (v)  Restoration costs
   The estimated cost of dismantling and removing an asset and restoring the site is included in the cost of the asset, to the  
   extent it is initially recognised as a liability.

 (vi)  Maintenance
   Day to day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the  
   replacement of a part or component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

 (vii) Intangible assets
  The Institute recognises intangible assets only if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Institute and  
  the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired  
  at no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

  The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be finite.

  Intangible assets are subsequently measured at fair value only if there is an active market. As there is no active market for  
  the Institute’s intangible assets, the assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation.

  The Institute’s intangible assets are amortised using the straight line method over a period of 4 years.

 (viii) Receivables
  Receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active  
  market. These financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value.  
  Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for any impairment  
  of receivables. Any changes are recognised in the surplus / (deficit) for the year when impaired, derecognised or through  
  the amortisation process.

  Short term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of  
  discounting is immaterial.

 (ix) Investments
  Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,  
  transaction costs. The Institute determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, when allowed  
  and appropriate, re evaluates this at each financial year end.

 (x) Leases
  Under operating leases the lessor effectively retains all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the leased  
  assets. Operating lease payments are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the periods in which they  
  are incurred.

 (xi) Impairment of financial assets

  All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through profit and loss, are subject to an annual review for  
  impairment. An allowance for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the entity will not be  
  able to collect all amounts due.

  For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying  
  amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount of the  
  impairment loss is recognised in the surplus / (deficit) for the year.

  Any reversals of impairment losses are reversed through the surplus / (deficit) for the year, where there is objective  
  evidence. Reversals of impairment losses of financial assets carried at amortised cost cannot result in a carrying amount  
  that exceeds what the carrying amount would have been had there not been an impairment loss.
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1	 SUMMARY	OF	SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES	(cont’d)	

(i) Liabilities

 (i) Payables
  These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Institute and other amounts. Payables are  
  recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised  
  cost using the effective interest method. Short term payables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original  
  invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

 (ii) Employee benefits and other provisions
  (a) Salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and on costs
   Liabilities for salaries and wages (including non monetary benefits), annual leave and paid sick leave that are due to be  
   settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured  
   in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date at undiscounted amounts based on the amounts expected to be  
   paid when the liabilities are settled.

   Unused non vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the future  
   will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

   The outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums and fringe benefits tax, which are  
   consequential to employment, are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which they relate  
   have been recognised.

  (b) Long service leave and superannuation
   Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. This is based on the  
   application of certain factors to employees with five or more years of service, using current rates of pay. These factors were  
   determined based on an actuarial review to approximate present value. For each future year the amounts of entitlements  
   expected to be paid in service and on termination of employment have been determined by making a projection of each  
   employee based on their current salary and LSL balance, assumed rates of taking long service leave in service, rates of death,  
   disablement, retirement, resignation and rates of salary escalation. The resulting cash flows are then converted to a present  
   value by discounting from the expected date of payment to the valuation date at the assumed interest rate.

 i) Defined contribution plan
  A defined contribution plan is a post employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate  
  entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution  
  plans are recognised as expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset, to the extent that a cash  
  refund or reduction in future payments is available.

 ii) Defined benefit plan 
  A defined benefit plan is a post employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. An actuarial assessment of the  
  defined benefit is undertaken before each reporting date.

  A liability or an asset in respect of the defined benefit superannuation plan is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position  
  and is measured as the present value of the defined benefit obligation as at reporting date. Any unrecognised past service costs  
  and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The discount rate is the market yield rate on government bonds of similar  
  maturity to those obligations.

  The amount recognised in the surplus/(deficit) for superannuation is the net total of current service cost and the expected return  
  on plan assets. Actuarial gains and losses are charged directly to equity in the year they occur.

  (c) Other provisions 
   Other provisions exist when the Institute has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is probable  
   that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount  
   of the obligation.
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1	 SUMMARY	OF	SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES	(cont’d)

 (j) Equity and reserves

  (i) Accumulated Funds 
   The category accumulated funds includes all current and prior period retained funds.

  (ii) Separate reserve accounts are recognised in the financial statements only if such accounts are required by specific  
   legislation or Australian Accounting Standards (e.g. asset revaluation reserve and foreign currency translation reserve).

 (k) Comparative information 
  Except when an Australian Accounting Standard permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is disclosed in respect of the  
  previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.

 (l) New Australian Accounting Standards issued but not effective 
  The following Accounting Standards have not been applied and are not yet effective.

 

•  AASB 2010-2 regarding Reduced Disclosure Requirements

•  AASB 2010-4 regarding Annual Improvements

•  AASB 2010-5 regarding editorial corrections

•  AASB 2010-6 regarding Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets

•  AASB 2010-7 regarding financial instruments

•  AASB 2010-8 regarding Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets regarding AASB112

•  AASB 2010-9 regarding severe hyperinflation and removal of fixed dates for first time adopters

•  AASB 2010-10 regarding removal of fixed dates for first time adopters

•  AASB 2009-12 regarding related party transactions

•  AASB 2009-14 regarding prepayments of a minimum funding requirement

It is considered that the impact of these new Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the  
financial statements of the Institute.
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2	 REVENUE
(a)	 Investment	revenue    
 Interest revenue from financial assets  
 not at fair value through profit or loss 1,733 1,076 1,733 1,076

 TCorp Hour Glass Investment Facilities  
 designated at fair value through profit or loss 1,005 704 1,005 704

  2,738	 1,780 2,738 1,780

(b)	 Grants	and	contributions    
 NSW Dept of Health 144,665 138,890 144,665 138,890

 Commonwealth Government 3,866 887 3,866 887

 Membership contribution 350 343 350 343

  148,881 140,120 148,881 140,120

(c)	 Other	revenue    
 Recoveries 820 989 820 989

  820 989 820 989

3	 EXPENSES	EXCLUDING	LOSSES
(a)		 Employee	related	expenses    

 Salaries and wages (including recreation leave) 15,589 14,531 - -

 Superannuation – defined benefit plans 55 71 - -

 Superannuation – defined contribution plans 1,042 936 - -

 Long service leave 374 911 - -

 Workers compensation insurance 52 57 - -

 Payroll tax and fringe benefit tax 884 720 - -

 Personnel Services - - 18,019 17,182

  17,996 17,226 18,019 17,182

(b)		 Other	operating	expenses	include	the	following:    

 Auditor’s remuneration audit of the financial statements 47 32 47 32

 Corporate services provider fees 368 351 368 351

 Electronic Data Processing expenses 1,550 659 1,550 659

 Consultancy costs 252 157 252 157

 General contractors 1,846 2,216 1,846 2,216

 Cancer audits and reviews 1,606 2,690 1,606 2,690

 Cancer Information Systems Development 2,703 848 2,703 848

 Cancer Plans and Strategic Planning - 35 - 35

 Production of Cancer Prevention Campaigns 1,558 1,539 1,558 1,539

 Operating lease rental expense-minimum lease payments 1,734 1,475 1,734 1,475

 Postage 355 284 355 284

 Printing 180 150 180 150

 Stores and stationery 114 113 114 113

 Travel 289 385 289 385

 Cancer Prevention campaign advertising 9,182 11,520 9,182 11,520

 Board and committee expenses 256 232 256 232

 NSW Clinical Information Access Program journals 360 356 360 356

 Sponsorships 272 116 272 116

 Repairs and maintenance 8 16 8 16

 Other 2,275 2,418 2,275 2,418

  24,955 25,592 24,955 25,592

 Consolidated	 Cancer	Institute	NSW
  2011	 2010 2011	 2010
  $’000	 $’000 $’000	 $’000
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3	 EXPENSES	EXCLUDING	LOSSES	(cont’d)
(c)		 Depreciation	and	amortisation	expense    

	 Depreciation    

 Plant and equipment  125 145 125 145

	 Amortisation    

 Leasehold improvements  894 846 894 846

 Intangibles  92 7 92 7

   1,111 998 1,111 998

(d)		 Grants	and	subsidies    

 Grants to NSW Area Health Services 
 including grants to Local Health  
 Districts/Health Reform Transition  
 Offices after January 2011  64,501 61,908 64,501 61,908

 Hospitals and Research  29,724 27,404 29,724 27,404

 Capital grants  9,880 8,953 9,880 8,953

   104,105 98,265 104,105 98,265

(e)	 Finance	costs    

 Interest on leasehold obligations  22 - 22 -

   22 - 22 -

4	 GAIN	/	(LOSS)	ON	DISPOSAL
 Gain / (loss) on disposal of plant and equipment     
 Proceeds from disposal  - - - - 
 Written down value of assets disposed  - 15 - 15
 Provision for make good 	 		263                      -                   	263                      -
 Settlement of make good provision  (245) - (245) -|

 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of plant and equipment  18 (15) 18 (15)

5	 CURRENT	ASSETS	–	CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS

 Cash at bank and on hand  24,192 17,994 24,182 17,994

 Treasury Corporation deposits  19,735 18,730 19,735 18,730

   43,927 36,724 43,917 36,724

For the purposes of the Statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, cash on hand and 
deposits in the NSW Treasury Corporation’s Hour-Glass cash facility.

Cash and cash equivalent assets recognised in the statements of financial position are reconciled at the end of the financial 
year to the statements of cash flows as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents  
(per statement of financial position)  43,927 36,724 43,917 36,724

Closing cash and cash equivalents  
(per statement of cash flows)  43,927 36,724 43,917 36,724

Restricted	Assets
Included in the Treasury Corporation Deposits is an amount of $10M ($9.5M for 2010) classified as BreastScreen Capital 
Reserve which is restricted for use on Capital equipment for BreastScreen NSW Services and maintenance of Central 
BreastScreen NSW capital infrastructure.

 Consolidated	 Cancer	Institute	NSW
  2011	 2010 2011	 2010
  $’000	 $’000 $’000	 $’000
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6	 CURRENT	ASSETS	–	RECEIVABLES	
Goods and Services Tax recoverable 1,495 1,270 1,495 1,270

Debtors 1,336 649 1,390 649

Accrued Interest 907 668 907 668

Prepayments 79 252 79 252

  3,817 2,839 3,871 2,839

7	 NON	CURRENT	ASSETS	–	PROPERTY,	PLANT	AND	EQUIPMENT Plant	and	Equipment
	 	 $’000

Consolidated	and	Cancer	Institute	NSW 
At	1	July	2010	–	fair	value 

Gross carrying amount          5,791 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment         (4,216) 

Net carrying amount          1,575 

At	30	June	2011	–	fair	value 

Gross carrying amount          6,192 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment         (1,920) 

Net carrying amount          4,272 

Reconciliation
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current 
reporting period is set out below.

Year	ended	30	June	2011	
Net carrying amount at start of year          1,575

Additions 3,716

Disposals (3,315)

Depreciation expense (1,019)

Write back depreciation on disposals 3,315

Net carrying amount at end of year 4,272

At	1	July	2009	–	fair	value 
Gross carrying amount           5,793

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (3,302)

Net carrying amount          2,491

At	30	June	2010	–	fair	value 
Gross carrying amount           5,791

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (4,216)

Net carrying amount           1,575

Reconciliation
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the previous 
reporting period is set out below.

Year	ended	30	June	2010 
Net carrying amount at start of year 2,491

Additions 90

Disposals (93)

Depreciation expense (991)

Write back depreciation on disposals 78

Net carrying amount at end of year           1,575

 Consolidated	 Cancer	Institute	NSW
  2011	 2010 2011	 2010
  $’000	 $’000 $’000	 $’000
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8	 INTANGIBLE	ASSETS

	 Software	 Research	 	Web	analysis	 Cancer	Registry		 Total	
	 	 management	application		 tool	development	 Redesign	
	 	 development
	 $’000	 $’000	 	$’000	 	$’000

Consolidated	and	Cancer	Institute	NSW	 	 	 	

At	1	July	2010	 	 	 	 	

Cost (gross carrying amount) 100 725 326 - 1,151

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (51) - - - (51)

Net carrying amount 49 725 326 - 1,100

At	30	June	2011	 	 	 	 	

Cost (gross carrying amount) 107 393 510 634 1,644

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (67) (32) (43) - (142)

Net carrying amount 40 361 467 634 1,502

Year	ended	30	June	2011	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount at start of year 49 725 326                 - 1,100

Additions 7 - 184 634 825

Write-off - (331) - - (331)

Amortisation expense (16) (33) (43) - (92)

Net carrying amount at end of year 40 361	 467 634 1,502

	 Software	 Research	 	Web	analysis	 Cancer	Registry		 Total	
	 	 management	application		 tool	development	 Redesign	
	 	 development
	 $’000	 $’000	 	$’000	 	$’000

Consolidated	and	Cancer	Institute	NSW	

At	1	July	2009     

Cost (gross carrying amount) 55 427 - - 482

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (44) - - - (44)

Net carrying amount 11 427 - - 438

     

At	30	June	2010	 	 	 	 	

Cost (gross carrying amount) 100 725 326 - 1,151

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (51) - - - (51)

Net carrying amount 49 725 326 - 1,100

Year	ended	30	June	2010	 	 	 	 	

Net carrying amount at start of year 11 427 - - 438

Additions 45 298 326 - 669

Amortisation expense (7) - - - (7)

Net carrying amount at end of year 49 725	 326																									-	 1,100

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
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9	 CURRENT	LIABILITIES	–	PAYABLES

Creditors 1,463 1,410 1,520 1,410 
Accrued, salaries, wages and on-costs 332 230 - - 
Accruals 5,280 2,335 5,280 2,335

Personnel Services - - 4,691 3,858

  7,075 3,975 11,491 7,603

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity analysis of the above payables, are disclosed in Note 15.

10	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	–	PROVISIONS

Current		 	 	 	 	
Employee	benefits	and	related	on	costs    
Recreation leave 1,406 1,182 - - 
Long service leave 1,282 763 - - 
Fringe benefits tax 55 51 - - 
Superannuation (see Superannuation funds below) 949 941 - -

  3,692 2,937 - -

Other	provisions    
Restoration cost - 263 - 263

  - 263 - 263

Total	current	provisions 3,692 3,200 - 263

Non	current		 	 	 	
Employee	benefits	and	related	on	costs    
Long service leave 680 657 - -
Payroll tax - 34 - -

  680 691 - -

Other	provisions    
Restoration costs 545 122 545 122

  545 122 545 122

Total non current provisions              	1,225 813 545 122
   
Aggregate	employee	benefits	and	related	on-costs    
Provisions - current 3,692 2,937 - - 
Provisions - non-current 680 691 - - 
Accrued salaries, wages and on costs (Note 9) 332 230 - -

Total	employee	benefits	and	related	on-costs 4,704 3,858 - -

Movements	in	provisions	(other	than	employee	benefits)
Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits are set out below:

	 	 	 Restoration	cost	 Total
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Current	liabilities	 	
Consolidated	and	Cancer	Institute	NSW	 	
2011  
Carrying amount at the beginning of financial year        263 263 
Additional provisions recognised  - - 
Amounts used  (263) (263) 
Amounts transferred from non current liabilities  - - 
Carrying amount at end of financial year  - -

 Consolidated	 Cancer	Institute	NSW
  2011	 2010 2011	 2010
  $’000	 $’000 $’000	 $’000
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10	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	–	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)

Non	current	liabilities	 	
Consolidated	and	Cancer	Institute	NSW	 	 Restoration	 Total
2011   cost

Carrying amount at the beginning of financial year  122 122 
Additional provisions recognised  423 423 
Amounts used  - - 
Amounts transferred to current liabilities  - - 

Carrying amount at end of financial year  545 545 

Superannuation	Funds	as	at		30	June	2011	
Basis	–	AASB	119

	 	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS	 Rounding	 TOTAL	
	 	 	 	 	 adjustments	 	
	 	 30-Jun-11	 30-Jun-11	 30-Jun-11	 30-Jun-11	 30-Jun-11

Member	Numbers  
Contributors 5 6 1    
Deferred benefits 0 0 1    
Pensioners 0 0 0    
Pensions fully commuted 0 0 0    

Superannuation	Position	for	AASB	119	purposes	 A$	 A$	 A$	 	A$	 A$

Accrued liability 1,036,569 251,073 1,548,962 0 2,836,604

Estimated reserve account balance (838,236) (188,762) (860,456) (1) (1,887,455)

Rounding adjustment (1) 0 0 1 0

  198,332 62,311 688,506 0 949,149

Future Service Liability (Note 1) (443,095) (96,146) 0 0 (539,241)

Surplus in excess of recovery available from schemes 0 0 0 0 0

Net (asset)/liability to be recognised in statement  
of financial position 198,332 62,311 688,506 0 949,149

Note 1: 
The Future Service Liability (FSL) does not have to be recognised by an employer.  It is only used to determine if an asset ceiling limit 
should be imposed (AASB 119, para 58).  Under AASB 119, any prepaid superannuation asset recognised cannot exceed the total of 
any unrecognised past service cost and the present value of any economic benefits that may be available in the form of refunds from 
the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.  Where the “surplus in excess of recovery” is zero, no asset ceiling limit is imposed.
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10	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	–	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)	

Superannuation	Funds	as	at		30	June	2010	
Basis	–	AASB	119

	 	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS	 Rounding	 TOTAL	
	 	 	 	 	 adjustments	 	
	 	 30-Jun-10	 30-Jun-10	 30-Jun-10	 30-Jun-10	 30-Jun-10

Member	Numbers  

Contributors 3 4 1    
Deferred benefits 0 0 1    
Pensioners 0 0 0    
Pensions fully commuted 0 0 0    

Superannuation	Position	for	AASB	119	purposes	 A$	 A$	 A$	 	A$	 A$

Accrued liability 536,441 152,116 1,473,125 0 2,161,682

Estimated reserve account balance (353,709) (92,543) (774,249) 1 (1,220,500)

Rounding adjustment 1 0 0 (1) 0

   182,733 59,573 698,876 0 941.182  

Future Service Liability (Note 1) (274,419) (69,617) (13,905) 0 (357,941)

Surplus in excess of recovery available from schemes 0 0 0 0 0

Net (asset)/liability to be recognised in statement  
of financial position 182,733 59,573 698,876 0 941.182

AASB	119
Disclosure	Items	30	June	2011	and	30	June	2010
Accounting	policy	{AASB	119	–		paragraph	120A(a)	}
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income in the year in which they occur. 

Fund	information	{AASB	119	–	paragraph	120A(b)	}

The Pooled Fund holds in trust the investments of the closed NSW public sector superannuation schemes:
State Authorities Superannuation Scheme (SASS)
State Superannuation Scheme (SSS)
Police Superannuation Scheme (PSS)
State Authorities Non-contributory Superannuation Scheme (SANCS).

These schemes are all defined benefit schemes – at least a component of the final benefit is derived from a multiple of member salary 
and years of membership.

All the Schemes are closed to new members.
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10	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	–	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)

Reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(c)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
		 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 to	30	June	2011	 to	30	June	2011	 to	30	June	2011	
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation at beginning of the year 536,441 152,116 1,473,125
Current service cost   32,138 7,203 12,058
Interest cost   27,351 7,581 76,503
Contributions by Fund participants   19,584 0 14,772
Actuarial (gains)/losses   173,088 3,891 (18,028)
Benefits paid   247,967 80,282 (9,467)
Past service cost   0 0 0
Curtailments   0 0 0
Settlements   0 0 0
Business Combinations   0 0 0
Exchange rate changes   0 0 0
Rounding adjustments   0 0 (1)
Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation at end of the year  1,036,569	 251,073	 1,548,962

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
		 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 to	30	June	2010	 to	30	June	2010	 to	30	June	2010	
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation at beginning of the year 978,907 223,487 1,249,649
Current service cost 39,477 11,267 12,416
Interest cost 54,000 12,248 70,154
Contributions by Fund participants 24,041 0 11,541
Actuarial (gains)/losses (321,878) (34,630) 136,298
Benefits paid (238,107) (60,255) (6,932)
Past service cost 0 0 0
Curtailments 0 0 0
Settlements 0 0 0
Business Combinations 0 0 0
Exchange rate changes 0 0 0
Rounding adjustments 1 (1) (1)
Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation at end of the year 536,441	 152,116	 1,473,125

Reconciliation of the fair value of Fund assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(e)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
		 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 to	30	June	2011	 to	30	June	2011	 to	30	June	2011	
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Fair value of Fund assets at beginning of the year   353,709 92,543 774,249
Expected return on Fund assets   31,383 7,829 68,171
Actuarial gains/(losses)   140,685 (770) (4,180)
Employer contributions   44,910 8,877 16,911
Contributions by Fund participants   19,584 0 14,772
Benefits paid   247,967 80,282 (9,467)
Settlements   0 0 0
Business combinations   0 0 0
Exchange rate changes   0 0 0
Rounding adjustments   (2) 1 0
Fair value of Fund assets at end of the year	 	 	 838,236	 188,762	 860,456
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10	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	–	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)

Reconciliation of the fair value of Fund assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(e)} (cont’d)

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
		 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 to	30	June	2010	 to	30	June	2010	 to	30	June	2010	
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Fair value of Fund assets at beginning of the year 654,569 131,148 687,832

Expected return on Fund assets 57,097 11,459 60,392

Actuarial gains/(losses) (182,150) 1,461 4,732

Employer contributions 38,259 8,729 16,683

Contributions by Fund participants 24,041 0 11,541

Benefits paid (238,107) (60,255) (6,932)

Settlements 0 0 0

Business combinations 0 0 0

Exchange rate changes 0 0 0

Rounding adjustments 0 1 1

Fair value of Fund assets at end of the year 353,709	 92,543	 774,249

Reconcilliation of the assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position {AASB 119 – paragraphs 120A(d) and (f)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
		 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 to	30	June	2011	 to	30	June	2011	 to	30	June	2011	
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation at end of year  1,036,569 251,073 1,548,962
Fair value of Fund assets at end of year   (838,236) (188,762) (860,456)
Rounding adjustments   (1) 0 0
Subtotal   198,332 62,311 688,506
Unrecognised past service cost   0 0 0
Unrecognised gain/(loss)    0 0 0
Adjustment for limitation on net asset   0 0 0
Net Liability/(Asset) recognised in statement of financial position at end of year 198,332 62,311 688,506

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
		 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 to	30	June	2010	 to	30	June	2010	 to	30	June	2010	
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation at end of year 536,441 152,116 1,473,125

Fair value of Fund assets at end of year (353,709) (92,543) (774,249)

Rounding adjustments 1 0 0

Subtotal 182,733 59,573 698,876

Unrecognised past service cost 0 0 0

Unrecognised gain/(loss)  0 0 0

Adjustment for limitation on net asset 0 0 0

Net Liability/(Asset) recognised in statement of financial position at end of year 182,733	 59,573	 698,876
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10	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	–	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)

Expense recognised in statement of comprehensive income {AASB 119 – paragraph 46 & 120A(g)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
		 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 to	30	June	2011	 to	30	June	2011	 to	30	June	2011	

Components	Recognised	in	Statement	of		Comprehensive	Income	 A$	 A$	 A$

Current service cost 32,138 7,203 12,058
Interest cost 27,351 7,581 76,503
Expected return on Fund assets (net of expenses) (31,383) (7,829) (68,171)
Actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in year 0 0 0
Past service cost 0 0 0
Movement in adjustment for limitation on net asset 0 0 0
Curtailment or settlement (gain)/loss 0 0 0
Rounding adjustments 0 0 0
Expense/(income) recognised  28,106	 6,955	 20,390

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
		 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 to	30	June	2010	 to	30	June	2010	 to	30	June	2010	

Components	Recognised	in	Statement	of	comprehensive	income	 A$	 A$	 A$

Current service cost 39,477 11,267 12,416

Interest cost 54,000 12,248 70,154

Expected return on Fund assets (net of expenses) (57,097) (11,459) (60,392)

Actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in year 0 0 0

Past service cost 0 0 0

Movement in adjustment for limitation on net asset 0 0 0

Curtailment or settlement (gain)/loss 0 0 0

Rounding adjustments 1 (1) (1)

Expense/(income) recognised  36,381	 12,055	 22,177

Amounts recognised in the other comprehensive income {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(h)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
		 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 to	30	June	2011	 to	30	June	2011	 to	30	June	2011	

	 A$	 A$	 A$

Actuarial (gains)/losses  32,403 4,661 (13,849)

Adjustment for limit on net asset 0 0 0

	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 to	30	June	2010	 to	30	June	2010	 to	30	June	2010	

	 A$	 A$	 A$

Actuarial (gains)/losses  (139,728) (36,092) 131,566

Adjustment for limit on net asset 0 0 0

Fund assets (AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(j)}

The percentage invested in each asset class at the Statement of Financial Position date:
		 	 	 30-Jun-11	 30-Jun-10

Australian equities  33.4% 31.0%
Overseas equities  29.5% 26.8%
Australian fixed interest securities  5.7% 6.1%
Overseas fixed interest securities  3.1% 4.3%
Property  9.9% 9.5%
Cash   5.1% 9.6%
Other   13.3% 12.7%
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10	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	–	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)

Fair value of Fund assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(k)}

All Fund assets are invested by STC at arm’s length through independent fund managers.

Expected rate of return  on assets {AASB119 – paragraph 120A(l)}

The expected return on assets assumption is determined by weighting the expected long-term return for each asset class by the 
target allocation of assets to each class.  The returns used for each class are net of investment tax and investment fees.

Actual	Return	on	Fund	Assets	{AASB	119	–	paragraph	120A(m)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
		 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 to	30	June	2011	 to	30	June	2011	 to	30	June	2011	
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Actual return on Fund assets 28,235 7,060 65,942

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Actual return on Fund assets 66,660 12,920 63,341

Valuation method and principal actuarial assumptions at the statement of financial position date {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(n)}

a)	Valuation	Method
The Projected Unit Credit (PUC) valuation method was used to determine the present value of the defined benefit obligations 
and the related current service costs. This method sees each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit 
entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final obligation.

b)	Economic	Assumptions	 30-Jun-11	 30-Jun-10

Salary increase rate (excluding promotional increases) 3.5% pa 3.5% pa
Rate of CPI Increase 2.5% pa 2.5% pa
Expected rate of return on assets 8.6% 8.6%
Expected rate of return on assets backing current pension liabilities n/a n/a
Expected rate of return on assets backing other liabilities n/a n/a
Discount rate 5.28% pa 5.17% pa

c)	Demographic	Assumptions
The demographic assumptions at 30 June 2011 are those that were used in the 2009 triennial actuarial valuation.  The triennial 
review report is available from the NSW Treasury website.

Historical information {AASB119 – paragraph 120A(p)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of defined benefit obligation 1,036,569 251,073 1,548,962
Fair value of Fund assets (838,236) (188,762) (860,456)
Rounding adjustments (1) 0 0
(Surplus)/Deficit in Fund 198,332 62,311 688,506
Experience adjustments – Fund liabilities  173,088 3,891 (18,028)
Experience adjustments – Fund assets (140,685) 770 4,180

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of defined benefit obligation 536,441 152,116 1,473,125

Fair value of Fund assets (353,709) (92,543) (774,249)

rounding adjustments 1 0 0

(Surplus)/Deficit in Fund 182,733 59,573 698,876

Experience adjustments – Fund liabilities  (321,878) (34,630) 136,298

Experience adjustments – Fund assets 182,150 (1,461) (4,732)
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10	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	–	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2009	 30	June	2009	 30	June	2009
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of defined benefit obligation 978,908 223,487 1,249,649

Fair value of Fund assets (654,569) (131,148) (687,833)

(Surplus)/Deficit in Fund 324,339 92,339 561,816

Experience adjustments – Fund liabilities  59,153 48,037 244,944

Experience adjustments – Fund assets 192,913 39,676 128,773

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2008	 30	June	2008	 30	June	2008
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of defined benefit obligation 969,451 215,881 930,872

Fair value of Fund assets (902,517) (209,753) (738,848)

(Surplus)/Deficit in Fund 66,934 6,128 192,024

Experience adjustments – Fund liabilities  140,576 21,173 22,735

Experience adjustments – Fund assets 61,436 26,051 109,304

Expected contributions {AASB119 – paragraph 120A(q)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Expected employer contributions to be paid in the next reporting period 37,210 7,963 23,635

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Expected employer contributions to be paid in the next reporting period 45,678 13,308 18,466

Funding Arrangements for Employer Contributions

(a)   Surplus/deficit

The following is a summary of the 30 June 2011 financial position of the Fund calculated in accordance with AAS 25  
“Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”:

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Accrued benefits 952,702 222,900 1,040,476
Net market value of Fund assets (838,236) (188,762) (860,456)
Rounding adjustments 0 (1) (1)
Net (surplus)/deficit 114,466 34,137 180,019

The following is a summary of the 30 June 2010 financial position of the Fund calculated in accordance with AAS 25  
“Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”:

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Accrued benefits 482,343 132,238 953,366

Net market value of Fund assets (353,709) (92,543) (774,249)

rounding adjustments 0 1 1

Net (surplus)/deficit 128,634 39,696 179,118
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10	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	–	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)

(b)   Contribution recommendations 
Recommended contribution rates for the entity are: 

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 multiple	of	member	 %	member	 multiple	of	member
	 contributions	 salary	 contributions

2011  1.90 2.50 1.60
2010  1.90 2.50 1.60

(c)    Funding method

Contribution rates are set after discussions between the employer, STC and NSW Treasury.

(d)   Economic assumptions
The economic assumptions adopted for the 2009 actuarial review of the fund are:

Weighted-Average	Assumptions	 2011	 2010

Expected rate of return on Fund assets backing current pension liabilities  8.3% pa 8.3% pa

Expected rate of return on Fund assets backing other liabilities  7.3% pa 7.3% pa

Expected salary increase rate  4.0% pa 4.0% pa

Expected rate of CPI increase  2.5% pa 2.5% pa

Nature of Asset/Liability

If a surplus exists in the employer’s interest in the Fund, the employer may be able to take advantage of it in the form of a 
reduction in the required contribution rate, depending on the advice of the Fund’s actuary.

Where a deficiency exists, the employer is responsible for any difference between the employer’s share of Fund assets and the 
defined benefit obligation.

11	 CURRENT	/	NON-CURRENT	LIABILITIES	-	OTHER

 Consolidated	 Cancer	Institute	NSW
  2011	 2010 2011	 2010
  $’000	 $’000 $’000	 $’000

Other	current	liabilities	 	 	
Unamortised lease incentive - current 413             -  413              - 
  413 -  413  -
    
Other	non-current	liabilities    
Unamortised lease incentive – non-current 2,618             -  2,618              - 
  2,618 -  2,618  -

12	 COMMITMENTS	FOR	EXPENDITURE

 Consolidated	 Cancer	Institute	NSW
  2011	 2010 2011	 2010
  $’000	 $’000 $’000	 $’000

(a)	 Other	Expenditure	Commitments

 Aggregate other expenditure relating to purchase orders,  
 research funding and Local Health Districts funding  
 contracted for at balance date and not provided for:

 Not later than one year 23,511 37,100 23,511 37,100
 Later than one year and not later than five years 43,870 9,993 43,870 9,993
 Later than five years 137 - 137 -

	 Total	(including	GST) 67,518 47,093 67,518 47,093
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12	 COMMITMENTS	FOR	EXPENDITURE	(cont’d)

 Consolidated	 Cancer	Institute	NSW
  2011	 2010 2011	 2010
  $’000	 $’000 $’000	 $’000

(b)	 Operating	Lease	Commitments   

Future non cancellable operating leased properties rentals not provided for and payable

Not later than one year 1,982 1,814 1,982 1,814 
Later than one year and not later than five years 7,043 6,859 7,043 6,859
Later than five years 4,052 5,236 4,052 5,236

Total	(including	GST) 13,077 13,909 13,077 13,909

Operating lease payments mainly represent rental payable for certain properties. Some of these operating lease arrangements 
have renewal options and rental escalation clauses, though the effect of these is not material. No arrangements have been entered 
into for contingent rental payments.

The total minimum sublease payments expected to be made under non-cancellable subleases until 31 October 2018 is $13 million 
(2010: $14 million).

Commitments above include input tax credits of $7.3 million that are expected to be recovered from the Australian Taxation 
Office ($5.5 million in 2010). 

13	 CONTINGENT	LIABILITIES	AND	CONTINGENT	ASSETS

There are no known contingent assets and contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2011 (Nil at 30 June 2010).

14	 NOTE	TO	THE	STATEMENT	OF	CASH	FLOWS

Reconciliation	of	Net	Cash	Flows	from	Operating	Activities	to	Operating	Surplus

 Consolidated	 Cancer	Institute	NSW
  2011	 2010 2011	 2010
  $’000	 $’000 $’000	 $’000

Operating Surplus 4,268 793 4,245 837
Actuarial Gain / (Loss) on Superannuation (23) 44 - -
Depreciation & amortisation 1,111 998 1,111 998
Increase in Employee Entitlements and other provisions 3,774 608 3,030 -
Increase / (decrease) in creditors 3,099 (1,261) 3,887 (653)
(Increase) / decrease in receivables (978) 1,703 (1,032) 1,703
Net  (gain) / loss on sale of plant and equipment (18) 15 (18) 15

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 11,233 2,900 11,223 2,900

15	 FINANCIAL	INSTRUMENTS

The Institute’s principal financial instruments are outlined below. These financial instruments arise directly from the Institute’s 
operations or are required to finance the Institute’s operations. The Institute does not enter into or trade financial instruments for 
speculative purposes. The Institute does not use financial derivatives.

The Institute’s main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the Institute’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these financial 
statements.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and agrees policies for 
managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Institute, to set 
risk limits and controls and to monitor risks. Compliance with policies is reviewed by the internal auditors on a continuous basis.
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15	 FINANCIAL	INSTRUMENTS	(cont’d)

(a)	Financial	instrument	categories

 Note Category	 Carrying Carrying  
   Amount Amount
   2011 2010
   $’000 $’000

Consolidated

Financial	Assets	 	 	
Cash and cash equivalents 5 N/A 43,927 36,724
Receivables1 6 Loans and receivables 
   (at amortised cost) 2,243 1,317
Financial	Liabilities    
Payables2  9 Financial liabilities measured 
   at amortised cost 6,995 3,975
Other3  11 Financial liabilities measured 
   at amortised cost 3,031 -
    
Cancer	Institute	NSW

Financial	Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 5 N/A 43,917 36,724
Receivables 6 Loans and receivables  
   (at amortised cost) 2,297 1,317 
    
Financial	Liabilities    
Payables 9 Financial liabilities measured  
   at amortised cost 11,491 7,603
Other  11 Financial liabilities measured  
   at amortised cost 3,031 -

(b)	Credit	Risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Institute, including cash, receivables and authority deposits. No collateral is held by 
the Institute. The Institute has not granted any financial guarantees. Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Institute’s 
debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, resulting in a financial loss to the Institute. The maximum exposure to credit risk 
is generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets (net of any allowance for impairment).

Cash
Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the NSW Treasury Banking System. Interest is earned on daily bank 
balances at the monthly average NSW Treasury Corporation (TCorp) 11am unofficial cash rate, adjusted for a management  
fee to NSW Treasury. The TCorp Hour Glass cash facility is discussed in paragraph (d) below.

Receivables			trade	debtors
All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. Collectability of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover outstanding amounts, including letters of 
demand. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. An allowance for impairment is raised when there is objective 
evidence that the entity will not be able to collect all amounts due. This evidence includes past experience, and current and 
expected changes in economic conditions and debtor credit ratings. No interest is earned on trade debtors. Sales are made  
on 30 day terms.

The Institute is not materially exposed to concentrations of credit risk to a single trade debtor or group of debtors. Based  
on past experience, debtors that are not past due (2011: $ 880,000 ; 2010: $512,000) and not less than 3 months past due  
(2011: $ 258,000 ; 2010: $5,000) are not considered impaired and together these represent 87% (2010: 98%) of the total  
trade debtors. There are no debtors which are currently not past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated.

1 Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7)
2 Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7)
3 Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7) 
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15	 FINANCIAL	INSTRUMENTS	(cont’d)

  Total1	 Past	due	but	 Considered	
   not	impared1	 impared1

  $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Consolidated	 	 	
2011	   
< 3 months overdue  258 258 -
3 months – 6 months overdue  29 29 -
> 6 months overdue  146 146 -

Consolidated	 	 	
2010	   
< 3 months overdue  5 5 -
3 months – 6 months overdue  10 10 -
> 6 months overdue  - - -

Cancer	Institute	NSW	 	 	
2011   
< 3 months overdue  258 258 -
3 months – 6 months overdue  29 29 -
> 6 months overdue  137 137 -

Cancer	Institute	NSW	 	 	 	
2010	   
< 3 months overdue  5 5 -
3 months – 6 months overdue  10 10 -
> 6 months overdue  - - -

Authority	Deposits
The Institute has placed funds on deposit with TCorp, which has been rated ‘’AAA’’ by Standard and Poor’s. These deposits are 
similar to money market or bank deposits and can be placed “at call” or for a fixed term. For fixed term deposits, the interest 
rate payable by TCorp is negotiated initially and is fixed for the term of the deposit, while the interest rate payable on at call 
deposits can vary. The deposits at balance date were earning an average interest rate of 5.37% (2010   4.46%), while over the year 
the weighted average interest rate was 5.24% (2010   4.38%) on a weighted average balance during the year of $19.3M (2010   
$16.3M). These assets are not past due or impaired.

(c)	 Liquidity	risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Institute will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Institute 
continuously manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of high quality 
liquid assets. 

The Institute’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. 
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in Treasurer’s Direction 
219.01. If trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month following the month in which an 
invoice or a statement is received. Treasurer’s Direction 219.01 allows the Minister to award interest for late payment. No penalty 
interest was paid during the year (2010   $Nil).

The following table summarises the maturity profile of the Institute’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate exposure.

1The ageing analysis excludes receivables that are not past due and not impaired. Therefore the ‘’total’’ will not reconcile to the 
receivables total recognised in the statement of financial position.
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15	 FINANCIAL	INSTRUMENTS	(cont’d)

Maturity	Analysis	and	interest	rate	exposure	of	financial	liabilities

	 Interest	Rate	Exposure	 	 Maturity	Dates

	 Nominal	Amount	 Fixed	Interest	 Non-interest	 <	1	yr	 1-5	yrs	 >	5	yrs	
	 	 Rate	 Bearing	 	 	 	
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Consolidated	2011    

Payables:    
Creditors                     6,995                    - 6,995 6,995 - -

Other:
Lease incentive 3,031                  -               3,031                  413 1,652 966

   10,026                    - 10,026    7,408 1,652 966

Consolidated	2010      

Payables:      
Creditors                     3,975 - 3,975 3,975 - -

   3,975 - 3,975 3,975 - -

Cancer	Institute	NSW	2011      

Payables:      
Creditors 11,491                    - 11,491 11,491 - -

Other:      
Lease incentive                     3,031                  -              3,031                       413                    1,652 966

   14,522                    - 14,522 11,904 1,652 966

Cancer	Institute	NSW	2010      

Payables:      
Creditors 7,603      - 7,603 7,603 - -

   7,603                   - 7,603 7,603 - -
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15	 FINANCIAL	INSTRUMENTS	(cont’d)

(d)	 Market	risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 
The Institute’s exposure to market risk is primarily through price risks associated with the movement in the unit price of the Hour 
Glass Investment facilities. The Institute has no exposure to foreign currency risk and does not enter into commodity contracts.

The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably possible change in risk variable is outlined in the information below, for interest 
rate risk and other price risk. A reasonably possible change in risk variable has been determined after taking into account the 
economic environment in which the Institute operates and the time frame for the assessment (i.e. until the end of the next annual 
reporting period). The sensitivity analysis is based on risk exposures in existence at the statement of financial position date. The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2010. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

Interest	rate	risk
The Institute does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss or as available for 
sale. Therefore, for these financial instruments, a change in interest rates would not affect profit or loss or equity. A reasonably 
possible change of +/  1% is used, consistent with current trends in interest rates. The basis will be reviewed annually and 
amended where there is a structural change in the level of interest rate volatility. The Institute’s exposure to interest rate risk is 
set out below.

	 Carrying	Amount	 -1%	 +1%
	 	 Profit	 Equity	 Profit	 Equity

Consolidated	2011    
Financial assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 43,927 (439) (439) 439 439
Receivables 2,243 - - - -

  46,170 (439)	 (439)	 439	 439

Financial liabilities     
Payables 6,995 - - - -
Other  3,031 

  10,026 - - - -

Consolidated	2010     
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 36,724 (367) (367) 367 367
Receivables 1,317 - - - -

                 38,041 (367) (367) 367 367

Financial liabilities     
Payables 3,975 - - - -

  3,975 - - - -

Cancer	Institute	NSW	2011     
Financial assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 43,917 (439) (439) 439 439
Receivables 2,297 - - - -

  46,214 (439)	 (439)	 439	 439

Financial liabilities    
Payables 11,491	 -	 -	 -	 -
Other	 	 3,031	 -	 -	 -	 -

	 	 14,522	 -	 -	 -	 -

Cancer	Institute	NSW	2010    
Financial assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 36,724 (367) (367) 367 367
Receivables 1,317 - - - -

                 38,041 (367) (367) 367 367

Financial liabilities     
Payables 7,603 - - - -

  7,603 - - - -
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15	 FINANCIAL	INSTRUMENTS	(cont’d)

Other	price	risk	-	TCorp	Hour	Glass	facilities

Exposure to ‘other price risk’ primarily arises through the investment in the TCorp Hour Glass Investment facilities, which are 
held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Institute has no direct equity investments. The Institute holds units in the 
following Hour Glass investment trusts:

Facility	 	 Investment	Sectors	 Investment	Horizon	 2011	 2010
	 	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Consolidated	and	Cancer		
Institute	NSW	 	 	 	 	
Cash facility Cash, money market instruments Up to 1.5 years 19,735 18,730

The unit price of each facility is equal to the total fair value of net assets held by the facility divided by the total number of units 
on issue for that facility. Unit prices are calculated and published daily.

NSW TCorp is trustee for each of the above facilities and is required to act in the best interest of the unit holders and also to 
administer the trusts in accordance with the trust deeds. As trustee, TCorp has appointed external managers to manage the 
performance and risks of each facility in accordance with a mandate agreed by the parties. However, TCorp acts as manager for 
part of the Cash Facility. A significant portion of the administration of the facilities is outsourced to an external custodian.

Investment in the Hour Glass facilities limits the Institute’s exposure to risk, as it allows diversification across a pool of funds with 
different investment horizons and a mix of investments.

NSW TCorp provides sensitivity analysis information for each of the investment facilities, using historically based volatility 
information collected over a ten year period, quoted at two standard deviations (i.e. 95% probability). The TCorp Hour Glass 
Investment facilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss and therefore any change in unit price impacts directly on 
profit (rather than equity). A reasonably possible change is based on the percentage change in unit price (as advised by TCorp) 
multiplied by the redemption value as at 30 June each year for each facility (balance from Hour Glass statement).

	 	 	 Imapact	on	profit/loss	
	 	 Change	in	unit	price	 2011	 2010	
	 	 	 $’000	 $’000

Consolidated	and	Cancer	Institute	NSW	 	 	
Hour Glass Investment   Cash facility +/-  1% 197 187

(e)	 Fair	Value	compared	to	carrying	amount

Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost, with the exception of the TCorp Hour Glass facilities, which are measured 
at fair value. As discussed, the value of the Hour Glass Investments is based on the Institute’s share of the value of the underlying 
assets of the facility, based on the market value. All Hour Glass facilities are valued using ‘redemption’ pricing.

16	 AFTER	BALANCE	DATE	EVENTS
The Institute has not identified any events or transactions that are material to require adjustments to or disclosures in the 
financial statements.

End of audited financial statements
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Revenue   
Rendering of services   2 18,019 17,182

Total	Revenue    18,019 17,182

Expenses	excluding	losses   
Employee related expenses   3 17,996 17,226

Total	expenses	excluding	losses    17,996 17,226

SURPLUS	/	(DEFICIT)	FOR	THE	YEAR    23 (44)

Other	comprehensive	income   

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on Superannuation                    (23)                   44

Other	comprehensive	income	for	the	year	   (23) 44

   

TOTAL	COMPREHENSIVE	INCOME	FOR	THE	YEAR   - -

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

    2011	 2010
   Notes $’000	 $’000
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ASSETS   
Current	Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents   4 10 -
Receivables   5 4,699 3,859

Total	current	assets    4,709 3,859

Total	assets    4,709 3,859

LIABILITIES	 	 	
Current	Liabilities   
Payables   6 338 230
Provisions   7 3,691 2,937

Total	Current	Liabilities    4,029 3,167

Non	current	liabilities   
Provisions   7 680 692

Total	Non	Current	Liabilities    680 692

Total	Liabilities    4,709 3,859

Net	Assets    - -

EQUITY   
Accumulated funds    - -
Total	Equity    - -

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

    2011	 2010
   Notes $’000	 $’000

STATEMENT OF F INANCIAL POSITION 
as at 30 June 2011
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Balance	at	1	July	2010  -                    - 
Surplus	/	(deficit)	for	the	year  23 23
Other	comprehensive	income:    
Actuarial (loss) on superannuation  (23) (23) 
Total	other	comprehensive	income  (23) (23) 
Total	comprehensive	income	for	the	year  - - 
Balance	at	30	June	2011  - 

Balance	at	1	July	2009  -                   - 
Surplus	/	(deficit)	for	the	year  (44)              (44)
Other	comprehensive	income:    
Actuarial gain on superannuation  44                44

Total	other	comprehensive	income  44                44

Total	comprehensive	income	for	the	year  - -

Balance	at	30	June	2010  - -

  Accumulated	Funds	 Total
  $’000	 $’000
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CASH	FLOWS	FROM	OPERATING	ACTIVITIES   

Payments   
Employee related    (17,168) -

Total	Payments    (17,168) -

Receipts   
Rendering of services    17,178 -

Total	Receipts    17,178 -

NET	CASH	FLOWS	FROM	OPERATING	ACTIVITIES  8 10 -

CASH	FLOWS	FROM	INVESTING	ACTIVITIES                    			-                     -

NET	CASH	FLOWS	FROM	INVESTING	ACTIVITIES   - -

NET	INCREASE	/	(DECREASE)	IN	CASH   10 -

OPENING	CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS   - -

CLOSING	CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS  4 10 -

  	  2011	 2010
   Notes $’000	 $’000

STATEMENT OF C ASH FLOWS 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2011
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2011

1	 SUMMARY	OF	SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES

(a) Reporting entity

The Cancer Institute Division is a Division of the Government Service, established pursuant to Part 2 of Schedule 1 to the 
Public Sector Employment and Management Act 2002. It is a not for profit entity as profit is not its principal objective. It is 
consolidated as part of the NSW Total State Sector Accounts. It is domiciled in Australia and its principal office is at Level  
9, 8 Central Avenue, Australian Technology Park, Sydney.

 The Cancer Institute Division’s objective is to provide personnel services to Cancer Institute NSW.

 The Cancer Institute Division commenced operations on 17 March 2006 when it assumed responsibility for the employees  
 and employee related liabilities of the Cancer Institute NSW. 

The financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011 have been authorised for issue by the Chief Cancer Officer and Chief 
Executive Officer on 17 October 2011.                    

(b) Basis of preparation

The Division’s financial statements are a general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with:

 • applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations)

 • the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Regulation and

 • specific directions issued by the Treasurer.

Generally, the historical cost basis of accounting has been adopted and the financial statements does not take into account 
changing money values or current valuations. However, certain provisions are measured at fair value.

The accrual basis of accounting has been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements, except for cash flow information.

Judgements, key assumptions and estimations that management has made are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars (except for the superannuation disclosure in note 7, which is 
provided by Pillar in whole dollars) and are expressed in Australian currency.

(c) Statement of compliance

The Division’s financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting 
Interpretations.

(d) Income recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Revenue from rendering of 
personnel services is recognised when the service is provided and only to the extent that the associated recoverable expenses 
are recognised.

(e) Assets

 (i) Receivables

Receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
These financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent 
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for any impairment of receivables. Any 
changes are recognised in the surplus / (deficit) for the year when impaired, derecognised or through the amortisation process. 

Short term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2011

1	 SUMMARY	OF	SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES	(Cont’d)

(f) Liabilities

(i) Payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Division and other amounts. Payables are 
recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short term payables with no stated interest rate are measured  
at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

(ii) Employee benefits and other provisions

 (a) Salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and on costs

Liabilities for salaries and wages (including non monetary benefits), annual leave and paid sick leave that are due to 
be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised 
and measured in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date at undiscounted amounts based on the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Unused non vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability, as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken 
in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

The outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums and fringe benefits tax, which 
are consequential to employment, are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which 
they relate have been recognised.

 (b) Long service leave and superannuation

Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits.  This is based on 
the application of certain factors to employees with five or more years of service, using current rates of pay.  These 
factors were determined based on an actuarial review to approximate present value. For each future year the 
amounts of entitlements expected to be paid in service and on termination of employment have been determined 
by making a projection of each employee based on their current salary and LSL balance, assumed rates of taking 
long service leave in service, rates of death, disablement, retirement, resignation and rates of salary escalation. The 
resulting cash flows are then converted to a present value by discounting from the expected date of payment to 
the valuation date at the assumed interest rate.

 (i) Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.  Obligations for 
contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as expense when they are due.  Prepaid contributions 
are recognised as an asset, to the extent that cash refund or reduction in future payments is available.

 (ii) Defined benefit plan

A defined benefit plan is a post employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.  An actuarial 
assessment of the defined benefit is undertaken before each reporting date.

A liability or an asset in respect of the defined benefit superannuation plan is recognised in the Statement of 
financial position and is measured as the present value of the defined benefit obligation as at reporting date.  Any 
unrecognised past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted.  The discount rate is the market 
yield rate on government bonds of similar maturity to those obligations.

The amount recognised in the surplus/(deficit) for superannuation is the net total of current service cost and the 
expected return on plan assets.  Actuarial gains and losses are charged directly to equity in the year they occur.

(g) Equity and reserves

Superannuation actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of changes in equity as required by AASB 119 
Employee Benefits.   
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2011

1	 SUMMARY	OF	SIGNIFICANT	ACCOUNTING	POLICIES	(Cont’d)

(h) New Australian Accounting Standards issued but not effective

The following new Accounting Standards have not been applied and are not effective for 30 June 2011 reporting period. The 
Division did not early adopt any of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations that are not yet effective:

• AASB 2010-2 regarding Reduced Disclosure Requirements

• AASB 2010-4 regarding Annual Improvements

• AASB 2010-5 regarding editorial corrections

• AASB 2010-6 regarding Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets

• AASB 2010-7 regarding financial instruments

• AASB 2010-8 regarding Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets regarding AASB 112

• AASB 2010-9 regarding severe hyperinflation and removal of fixed dates for first time adopters

• AASB 2010-10 regarding removal of fixed dates for first time adopters

• AASB 2009-12 regarding related party transactions

• AASB 2009-14 regarding prepayments of a minimum funding requirement

It is considered that the impact of these new Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the 
financial statements of the Division.

2	 REVENUE
	 Personnel Services 18,019 17,182

  18,019 17,182 

3	 EXPENSES	EXCLUDING	LOSSES

 Employee	related	expenses  

 Salaries and wages (including recreation leave) 15,589 14,531 

 Superannuation - defined benefit plans 55 71

 Superannuation - defined contribution plans 1,042 936 

 Long service leave 374 911 

 Payroll tax, fringe benefit tax and workers compensation 936 777 

  17,996 17,226 

4	 CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS

 Cash at bank and on hand 10 - 

  10 - 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents  
include cash at bank and cash on hand.

Cash and cash equivalents recognised in the statement of financial position are  
reconciled at the end of the financial year to the statement of cash flows as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents (per Statement of financial position) 10 - 

Closing cash and cash equivalents (per Statement of cash flows) 10 -

5	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	ASSETS	-	RECEIVABLES

Current	  
Sundry debtors                  		8                     -
Personnel Services 4,691 3,859 

  4,699 3,859 

  	  2011	 2010
    $’000	 $’000
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6	 CURRENT	LIABILITIES	-	PAYABLES

	 Payables  
 Accrued salaries, wages and oncosts 338 230 

  338 230 

7	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	-	PROVISIONS

 Current		 	
	 Employee	benefits	and	related	on	costs  
 Recreation leave 1,405	 1,182 
 Long service leave 1,282 763 
 Fringe benefits tax 55 51 
 Superannuation  949 941

	 Total	current	provisions 3,691 2,937 

	 Non	current	  
	 Employee	benefits	and	related	on	costs  
 Long service leave 680 692 

	 Total	non	current	provisions 680 692 

  

	 Aggregate	employee	benefits	and	related	on-costs  

 Provisions – current 3,691 2,937

 Provisions – non current 680 692

 Accrued salaries, wages and oncosts (Note 6) 338 230

	 Total	Employee	benefits	and	related	on-costs 4,709 3,859

Superannuation	Funds	as	at	30	June	2011

Basis – AASB 119
	 	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS	 Rounding	 TOTAL	
	 	 	 	 	 adjustments	 	
	 	 30-Jun-11	 30-Jun-11	 30-Jun-11	 30-Jun-11	 30-Jun-11

Member	Numbers  
Contributors 5 6 1    
Deferred benefits 0 0 1    
Pensioners 0 0 0    
Pensions fully commuted 0 0 0    

Superannuation	Position	for	AASB	119	purposes	 A$	 A$	 A$	 A$	 A$

Accrued liability 1,036,569 251,073 1,548,962 0 2,836,604

Estimated reserve account balance (838,236) (188,762) (860,456) (1) (1,887,455)

Rounding adjustment (1) 0 0 1 0

   198,332 62,311 688,506 0 949,149

 

Future Service Liability (Note 1) (443,095) (96,146) 0 0 (539,241)

Surplus in excess of recovery available from schemes 0 0 0 0 0

Net (asset)/liability to be recognised in statement  
of financial position 198,332 62,311 688,506 0 949,149

Note	1:	 

The Future Service Liability (FSL) does not have to be recognised by an employer.  It is only used to determine if an asset ceiling 
limit should be imposed (AASB 119, para 58).  Under AASB 119, any prepaid superannuation asset recognised cannot exceed the 
total of any unrecognised past service cost and the present value of any economic benefits that may be available in the form of 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.  Where the “surplus in excess of recovery” is zero, no asset 
ceiling limit is imposed. 

  	  2011	 2010
    $’000	 $’000
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7	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	-	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)

Superannuation	Funds	as	at	30	June	2010

Basis – AASB 119

	 	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS	 Rounding	 TOTAL	
	 	 	 	 	 adjustments	 	
	 	 30-Jun-10	 30-Jun-10	 30-Jun-10	 30-Jun-10	 30-Jun-10

Member	Numbers  
Contributors 3 4 1   

Deferred benefits 0 0 1   

Pensioners 0 0 0   

Pensions fully commuted 0 0 0   

Superannuation	Position	for	AASB	119	purposes	 A$	 A$	 A$	 A$	 A$

Accrued liability 536,441 152,116 1,473,125 0 2,161,682

Estimated reserve account balance (353,709) (92,543) (774,249) 1 (1,220,500)

Rounding adjustment 1 0 0 (1) 0

  182,733 59,573 698,876 0 941,182

Future Service Liability (Note 1) (274,419) (69,617) (13,905) 0 (357,941)

Surplus in excess of recovery available from schemes 0 0 0 0 0

Net (asset)/liability to be recognised in statement  
of financial position 182,733 59,573 698,876 0 941,182

Disclosure	Items	30	June	2011	and	30	June	2010

Accounting	policy	{AASB	119	–		paragraph	120A(a)	}

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income in the year in which they occur. 

Fund	information	{AASB	119	–	paragraph	120A(b)	}

The Pooled Fund holds in trust the investments of the closed NSW public sector superannuation schemes:
State Authorities Superannuation Scheme (SASS)
State Superannuation Scheme (SSS)
Police Superannuation Scheme (PSS)
State Authorities Non-contributory Superannuation Scheme (SANCS).

These schemes are all defined benefit schemes – at least a component of the final benefit is derived from a multiple of member 
salary and years of membership.

All the Schemes are closed to new members.

Reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(c)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation at beginning of the year 536,441 152,116 1,473,125

Current service cost   32,138 7,203 12,058

Interest cost   27,351 7,581 76,503

Contributions by Fund participants   19,584 0 14,772

Actuarial (gains)/losses   173,088 3,891 (18,028)

Benefits paid   247,967 80,282 (9,467)

Past service cost   0 0 0

Curtailments   0 0 0

Settlements   0 0 0

Business Combinations   0 0 0

Exchange rate changes   0 0 0

Rounding adjustments     (1)

Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation at end of the year  1,036,569	 251,073	 1,548,962
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7	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	-	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)

Reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation {AASB 119 - paragraph 120A(c)} (cont’d)

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation at beginning of the year 978,907 223,487 1,249,649

Current service cost   39,477 11,267 12,416

Interest cost   54,000 12,248 70,154

Contributions by Fund participants   24,041 0 11,541

Actuarial (gains)/losses   (321,878) (34,630) 136,298

Benefits paid   (238,107) (60,255) (6,932)

Past service cost   0 0 0

Curtailments   0 0 0

Settlements   0 0 0

Business Combinations   0 0 0

Exchange rate changes   0 0 0

Rounding adjustments   1 (1) (1)

Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation at end of the year 	 536,441	 152,116	 1,473,125

Reconciliation of the fair value of Fund assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(e)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Fair value of Fund assets at beginning of the year   353,709 92,543 774,249

Expected return on Fund assets   31,383 7,829 68,171

Actuarial gains/(losses)   140,685 (770) (4,180)

Employer contributions   44,910 8,877 16,911

Contributions by Fund participants   19,584 0 14,772

Benefits paid   247,967 80,282 (9,467)

Settlements   0 0 0

Business combinations   0 0 0

Exchange rate changes   0 0 0

Rounding adjustments   (2) 1 0

Fair value of Fund assets at end of the year   838,236	 188,762	 860,456

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Fair value of Fund assets at beginning of the year   654,569 131,148 687,832

Expected return on Fund assets   57,097 11,459 60,392

Actuarial gains/(losses)   (182,150) 1,461 4,732

Employer contributions   38,259 8,729 16,683

Contributions by Fund participants   24,041 0 11,541

Benefits paid   (238,107) (60,255) (6,932)

Settlements   0 0 0

Business combinations   0 0 0

Exchange rate changes   0 0 0

Rounding adjustments   0 1 1

Fair value of Fund assets at end of the year  	 353,709	 92,543	 774,249
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7	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	-	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)

Reconciliation of the assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial position {AASB 119 – paragraphs 120A(d) and (f)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation at end of year  1,036,569 251,073 1,548,962

Fair value of Fund assets at end of year   (838,236) (188,762) (860,456)

Rounding adjustments     (1) 0 0

Subtotal   198,332 62,311 688,506

Unrecognised past service cost   0 0 0

Unrecognised gain/(loss)    0 0 0

Adjustment for limitation on net asset   0 0 0

Net Liability/(Asset) recognised in statement of financial position at end of year  198,332	 62,311	 688,506

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of partly funded defined benefit obligation at end of year  536,441 152,116 1,473,125

Fair value of Fund assets at end of year   (353,709) (92,543) (774,249)

Rounding adjustments   1 0 0

Subtotal   182,733 59,573 698,876

Unrecognised past service cost   0 0 0

Unrecognised gain/(loss)    0 0 0

Adjustment for limitation on net asset   0 0 0

Net Liability/(Asset) recognised in statement of financial position at end of year  182,733	 59,573	 698,876

Expense recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Income {AASB 119 – paragraph 46 & 120A(g)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
Components	Recognised	in	Statement	of	Comprehensive	Income	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year
	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011

	 A$	 A$	 A$

Current service cost   32,138 7,203 12,058

Interest cost   27,351 7,581 76,503

Expected return on Fund assets (net of expenses)   (31,383) (7,829) (68,171)

Actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in year   0 0 0

Past service cost   0 0 0

Movement in adjustment for limitation on net asset   0 0 0

Curtailment or settlement (gain)/loss   0 0 0

Rounding adjustments   0 0 0

Expense/(income) recognised    28,106	 6,955	 20,390

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
Components	Recognised	in	Statement	of	Comprehensive	Income	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year
	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010

	 A$	 A$	 A$

Current service cost   39,477 11,267 12,416

Interest cost   54,000 12,248 70,154

Expected return on Fund assets (net of expenses)   (57,097) (11,459) (60,392)

Actuarial losses/(gains) recognised in year   0 0 0

Past service cost   0 0 0

Movement in adjustment for limitation on net asset   0 0 0

Curtailment or settlement (gain)/loss   0 0 0

Rounding adjustments   1 (1) (1)

Expense/(income) recognised    36,381	 12,055	 22,177
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7	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	-	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)

Amounts recognised in the other comprehensive income {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(h)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Actuarial (gains)/losses    32,403 4,661 (13,849)

Adjustment for limit on net asset   0 0 0

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Actuarial (gains)/losses    (139,728) (36,092) 131,566

Adjustment for limit on net asset   0 0 0

Fund assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(j)}

The percentage invested in each asset class at the statement of financial position date:

	 	 	 30-Jun-11	 30-Jun-10

Australian equities    33.4% 31.0%

Overseas equities    29.5% 26.8%

Australian fixed interest securities    5.7% 6.1%

Overseas fixed interest securities    3.1% 4.3%

Property    9.9% 9.5%

Cash     5.1% 9.6%

Other     13.3% 12.7%

Fair value of Fund assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(k)}

All Fund assets are invested by STC at arm’s length through independent fund managers.

Expected rate of return  on assets {AASB119 – paragraph 120A(l)}

The expected return on assets assumption is determined by weighting the expected long-term return for each asset class by the 
target allocation of assets to each class.  The returns used for each class are net of investment tax and investment fees.

Actual Return on Fund Assets {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(m)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Actual return on Fund assets   28,235 7,060 65,942

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Actual return on Fund assets   66,660 12,920 63,341

Valuation method and principal actuarial assumptions at the statement of financial position date {AASB 119 – paragraph 120A(n)}

a) Valuation Method

The Projected Unit Credit (PUC) valuation method was used to determine the present value of the defined benefit obligations 
and the related current service costs. This method sees each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit 
entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final obligation.
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7	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	-	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)

b) Economic Assumptions
	 	 	 30-Jun-11	 30-Jun-10

Salary increase rate (excluding promotional increases)    3.5% pa 3.5% pa
Rate of CPI Increase    2.5% pa 2.5% pa
Expected rate of return on assets    8.6% 8.6%
Expected rate of return on assets backing current pension liabilities   n/a n/a
Expected rate of return on assets backing other liabilities    n/a n/a
Discount rate    5.28% pa 5.17% pa

c) Demographic Assumptions

The demographic assumptions at 30 June 2011 are those that were used in the 2009 triennial actuarial valuation.  The triennial 
review report is available from the NSW Treasury website.

Historical information {AASB119 – paragraph 120A(p)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of defined benefit obligation   1,036,569 251,073 1,548,962
Fair value of Fund assets   (838,236) (188,762) (860,456)
Rounding adjustments   (1) 0 0
(Surplus)/Deficit in Fund   198,332 62,311 688,506
Experience adjustments – Fund liabilities    173,088 3,891 (18,028)
Experience adjustments – Fund assets   (140,685) 770 4,180

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of defined benefit obligation   536,441 152,116 1,473,125
Fair value of Fund assets   (353,709) (92,543) (774,249)
Rounding adjustments   1 0 0
(Surplus)/Deficit in Fund   182,733 59,573 698,876
Experience adjustments – Fund liabilities    (321,878) (34,630) 136,298
Experience adjustments – Fund assets   182,150 (1,461) (4,732)

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2009	 30	June	2009	 30	June	2009
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of defined benefit obligation   978,908 223,487 1,249,649
Fair value of Fund assets   (654,569) (131,148) (687,833)
(Surplus)/Deficit in Fund   324,339 92,339 561,816
Experience adjustments – Fund liabilities    59,153 48,037 244,944
Experience adjustments – Fund assets   192,913 39,676 128,773

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2008	 30	June	2008	 30	June	2008
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Present value of defined benefit obligation   969,451 215,881 930,872
Fair value of Fund assets   (902,517) (209,753) (738,848)
(Surplus)/Deficit in Fund   66,934 6,128 192,024
Experience adjustments – Fund liabilities    140,576 21,173 22,735
Experience adjustments – Fund assets   61,436 26,051 109,304
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7	 CURRENT	/	NON	CURRENT	LIABILITIES	-	PROVISIONS	(cont’d)

Expected contributions {AASB119 – paragraph 120A(q)}

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Expected employer contributions to be paid in the next reporting period  37,210 7,963 23,635

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	 Financial	Year	
	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Expected employer contributions to be paid in the next reporting period  45,678 13,308 18,466

Funding Arrangements for Employer Contributions

(a)   Surplus/deficit

The following is a summary of the 30 June 2011 financial position of the Fund calculated in accordance with AAS 25 “Financial 
Reporting by Superannuation Plans”:

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011	 30	June	2011
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Accrued benefits   952,702 222,900 1,040,476
Net market value of Fund assets   (838,236) (188,762) (860,456)
Rounding adjustments   0 1 (1)
Net (surplus)/deficit   114,466 34,137 180,019

The following is a summary of the 30 June 2010 financial position of the Fund calculated in accordance with AAS 25 “Financial 
Reporting by Superannuation Plans”:

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010	 30	June	2010
	 A$	 A$	 A$

Accrued benefits   482,343 132,238 953,366
Net market value of Fund assets   (353,709) (92,543) (774,249)
Rounding adjustments   0 1 1
Net (surplus)/deficit   128,634 39,696 179,118

(b)   Contribution recommendations
Recommended contribution rates for the entity are: 

	 SASS	 SANCS	 SSS
	 multiple	of	member	 %	member	 multiple	of	member
	 contributions	 salary	 contributions

2011    1.90 2.50 1.60
2010    1.90 2.50 1.60

(c)    Funding method
Contribution rates are set after discussions between the employer, STC and NSW Treasury.

(d)   Economic assumptions
The economic assumptions adopted for the 2009 actuarial review of the Fund are:

Weighted-Average	Assumptions	 2011	 2010

Expected rate of return on Fund assets backing current pension liabilities   8.3% pa 8.3% pa
Expected rate of return on Fund assets backing other liabilities   7.3% pa 7.3% pa
Expected salary increase rate    4.0% pa 4.0% pa
Expected rate of CPI increase    2.5% pa 2.5% pa

Nature	of	Asset/Liability
If a surplus exists in the employer’s interest in the Fund, the employer may be able to take advantage of it in the form of a 
reduction in the required contribution rate, depending on the advice of the Fund’s actuary.

Where a deficiency exists, the employer is responsible for any difference between the employer’s share of Fund assets and the 
defined benefit obligation.
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8	 RECONCILIATION	OF	NET	CASH	FLOWS	FROM	OPERATING	ACTIVITIES	TO	OPERATING	SURPLUS

	 2011	 2010	
	 $’000	 $’000

Operating Surplus / (Deficit)    23 - 
Actuarial Gain / (Loss) on Superannuation    (23) - 
Increase / (decrease) in Employee Entitlements and other provisions   742 - 
Increase / (decrease) in creditors    108 - 
(Increase) / decrease in Receivables    (840) - 

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities    10 - 

9	 FINANCIAL	INSTRUMENTS

The Cancer Institute Division’s principal financial instruments are short term receivables and payables. These financial instruments 
expose the Division primarily to credit risk on short term receivables. The Division does not enter into or trade financial 
instruments for speculative purpose and does not use financial derivatives.

The Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and 
agrees policies for managing risk. Compliance with policies are reviewed by the internal auditors on a continuous basis.

(a)	 Financial	instrument	categories

 Note Category	 Carrying Carrying  
   Amount Amount
   2011 2010
   $’000 $’000

Financial	Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 4 N/A                     10 -
Receivables1  5 Loans and receivables 
   (at amortised cost) 4,699 3,859

Financial	Liabilities 
Payables2  6 Financial liabilities measured 
   at amortised cost 263 230

b)	 Credit	Risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Division, which are receivables. No collateral is held by the Division. The Division 
has not granted any financial guarantees.

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Division’s debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, resulting in a 
financial loss to the Division. The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial 
assets (net of any allowance for impairment).

Cash
Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the NSW Treasury Banking System. 

Receivables			trade	debtors
All trade debtors are recognised as amounts receivable at balance date. The balance owing represents monies due from the 
Cancer Institute NSW. Debtors’ invoices are issued on 14 day terms.

  Total1	 Past	due	but	 Considered	
2011   not	impared1	 impared1

  $’000	 $’000	 $’000

> 6 months overdue   8 8 -

The ageing analysis excludes receivables that are not past due and not impaired. Therefore the ‘’total’’ will not reconcile to the 
receivables total recognised in the statement of financial position.

1 Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within scope of AASB 7)
2 Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7)
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9	 FINANCIAL	INSTRUMENTS	(cont’d)

(c)	 Liquidity	risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Division will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Division continuously 
manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate holding of high quality liquid assets. 

The Division’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. 
Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in Treasurer’s Direction 
219.01. If trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month following the month in which an 
invoice or a statement is received. Treasurer’s Direction 219.01 allows the Minister to award interest for late payment. No interest 
for late payment was paid during the 2011 financial year (2010   $Nil).

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Division’s financial liabilities, together with the interest rate exposure.

Maturity	Analysis	and	interest	rate	exposure	of	financial	liabilities

	 Interest	Rate	Exposure	 Maturity	Dates

	 Nominal	Amount	 Fixed	Interest	 Non-interest	 <	1	yr	 1-5	yrs	 >	5	yrs	
	 	 Rate	 Bearing	 	 	 	
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

2011      
Payables:      
Accrued salaries, wages  
and on-costs                   263 -                     263 263 - -

              263 -                     263             263        - -

2010      
Payables:      
Accrued salaries, wages  
and on-costs                         230 - 230 230 - -

              230 - 230             230                      - -

(d)	 Market	risk

The Division has no exposure to foreign currency risk and does not enter into commodity contracts.

Interest	rate	risk

The Division does not account for any fixed rate financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss or as available for sale. 
Therefore, for these financial instruments, a change in interest rate would not affect profit or loss or equity. A reasonably possible 
change of +/  1% is used, consistent with current trends in interest rates. The basis will be reviewed annually and amended where 
there is a structural change in the level of interest rate volatility. The Division’s exposure to interest rate risk is set out below.

	 Carrying	Amount	 -1%	 +1%
	 	 Profit	 Equity	 Profit	 Equity

2011     
Cash and cash equivalents 10 - - - -
Receivables 4,699 - - - -

  4,709 - - - -
2010	     
Cash and cash equivalents - - - - -
Receivables 3,859 - - - -

  3,859 - - - -

(e)	 Fair	Value
Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost.

10		 CONTINGENT	LIABILITIES
There are no known contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2011 (Nil at 30 June 2010)

11	 AFTER	BALANCE	DATE	EVENTS
The Division has not identified any events or transactions that are material to require adjustments or disclosures in the financial statements.

End of audited financial statements
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ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PERFORMANCE REPORT

QUARTER CURRENT (I.E 

WITHIN DUE DATE)

LESS THAN 30 

DAYS OVERDUE

BETWEEN 30 DAYS 

AND 60 DAYS 

OVERDUE

BETWEEN 60 

DAYS AND 90 

DAYS OVERDUE

MORE THAN 90 DAYS 

OVERDUE

$ $ $ $ $

September 142,915 0 0 0 0

December 997,528 0 0 14,773 –602

March 6,649,869 0 84,271 3,484 3,752

June 1,337,550 0 7,674 0 129,667

 
Accounts paid on time within each quarter 
 

QUARTER TOTAL ACCOUNTS PAID ON TIME TOTAL 

AMOUNT PAID 

($)
TARGET ACTUAL $

September 88% 92%  22,413,539    24,197,310  

December 88% 75%   28,353,614   38,331,667 

March 88% 76%  32,614,938   37,253,595  

June 88% 84%   45,609,408   53,488,944 

 
During 2010–11 there were no instances where penalty interest was paid in accordance with section 18 of the Public Finance and 
Audit (General) Regulation 1995.   
  
There were no significant events that affected payment performance during the reporting period.   
 

Aged analysis at the end of each quarter

Credit card certification 2010–11   
    
It is affirmed that for the 2010–11 financial year credit card use 
within the Cancer Institute NSW was in accordance with  
Premier’s memoranda and Treasurer’s Directions.   
    
Credit card use    
    
Credit card use within the Cancer Institute NSW is largely  
limited to:    
    
•	 the reimbursement of travel and subsistence expense 
•	 the purchase of books and publications 
•	 seminar and conference deposits  
•	 travel booking deposits   
•	 official business use whilst engaged in overseas travel.  

 

    
Documenting credit card use    
   
The following measures are used to monitor the use of credit 
cards within the Cancer Institute NSW: 

•	 the organisation’s credit card policy is documented
•	 reports and statements on the appropriateness of  

credit card usage are priodically lodged for  
management consideration.   

Six-monthly reports/complaince surveys are submitted to  
Treasury, certifying that the Insitute’s credit card use is within  
the guidelines issued.   

Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009

Section 7(3) of the Government Information (Public Access) Act 
2009 requires the Cancer Institute NSW to review, at least 
annually, its program for the release of government information. 
The review should identify the kinds of government information 
held that should, in the public interest, be made publicly 
available and that can be made available without imposing 
unreasonable additional costs on the Cancer Institute NSW.

A review of the information that is published under the 
‘Open Access Information’ page on the Cancer Institute 
NSW’s website was conducted in June 2011. The Publication 
Guide and Organisational Chart were updated, and a review 
undertaken of the Cancer Institute NSW’s policies to ensure 
the currency of the published versions.

For the reporting period, there have been no access 
applications received by the Cancer Institute NSW.

Protection of personal and health information

The Cancer Institute NSW Data Governance Policy and 
associated Procedure identify how the Institute and all agencies 
and health services funded by the Institute will comply with 
privacy legislation. The Policy and Procedure provide  details of 
how the Institute intends to protect the of privacy its clients, 
staff and the public when it processes personal information, to 
assist people who may wish to exercise their rights under the 
Privacy and Personal Information Protection (PPIP) Act 1998 or 
the Health Records and Information Privacy (HRIP) Act 2002 and 
make a complaint or request for an internal review.

For the reporting period, there have been no complaints 
received by the Cancer Institute (NSW) regarding its dealings 
with personal information under the PPIP Act and personal 
health information under the HRIP Act that have resulted in a 
request for an internal review.

Guarantee of Service

The Cancer Institute NSW has established standards  
and guidelines for responding to requests from health 
consumers for information and non-medical advice  
concerning cancer; whether received by phone, fax, email or 
written correspondence.

These standards ensure that informative, timely responses are 
provided to inquiries.

Consumer participation

The Cancer Institute NSW actively engages and supports the 
participation of people affected by cancer in our programs. 
Consumer interests are represented through the membership 
and participation of people affected by cancer on all 
committees. Consumers are also represented on the Board of 
the Cancer Institute NSW by Mr John Stubbs (see page 41).

Consultants

During the year the Cancer Institute NSW engaged 27 
consultants to provide expert advice on cancer research and 
clinical programs. Total consultancy cost was $251,831.57 
(2009–10: $156,658.73). Two consultancy assignments relating 
to Professor Richard Fox, Chair of the Research Grants Review 
Committee, and, Professor Robyn Ward providing strategic 
direction to the eviQ program, cost more than $50,000 each.

Waste reduction

The Cancer Institute NSW continued to observe and practise 
the principles contained within the Government’s Waste 
Reduction and Purchasing Policy by implementing an action 
plan promoting the minimisation and recycling of generated
waste and the use/purchase of recycled materials, when and 
where appropriate.

Reducing waste generation

The Cancer Institute NSW reduces its generation of waste 
paper by using electronic communication methods, including 
email and making published reports, papers and brochures 
available on the Cancer Institute NSW’s website. Our records 
management system accommodates full electronic
document management and greatly reduce the volume of 
paper-based records. The generation of waste paper is further
reduced by double-sided printing and copying, which is actively 
encouraged across all areas of the Cancer Institute NSW.
 
Increasing resource recovery

The Cancer Institute NSW returns all used toner cartridges 
(printers and copies) for recycling and paper waste is collected 
within strategically placed bins for collection and recycling by a 
contracted service provider.

Increasing usage of recycled material

The Cancer Institute NSW purchases recycled content product 
when feasible and cost effective. 
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ACCOUNTS PAYABLE PERFORMANCE REPORT

QUARTER CURRENT (I.E 

WITHIN DUE DATE)

LESS THAN 30 

DAYS OVERDUE

BETWEEN 30 DAYS 

AND 60 DAYS 

OVERDUE

BETWEEN 60 

DAYS AND 90 

DAYS OVERDUE

MORE THAN 90 DAYS 

OVERDUE

$ $ $ $ $

September 142,915 0 0 0 0

December 997,528 0 0 14,773 –602

March 6,649,869 0 84,271 3,484 3,752

June 1,337,550 0 7,674 0 129,667

 
Accounts paid on time within each quarter 
 

QUARTER TOTAL ACCOUNTS PAID ON TIME TOTAL 

AMOUNT PAID 

($)
TARGET ACTUAL $

September 88% 92%  22,413,539    24,197,310  

December 88% 75%   28,353,614   38,331,667 

March 88% 76%  32,614,938   37,253,595  

June 88% 84%   45,609,408   53,488,944 

 
During 2010–11 there were no instances where penalty interest was paid in accordance with section 18 of the Public Finance and 
Audit (General) Regulation 1995.   
  
There were no significant events that affected payment performance during the reporting period.   
 

Aged analysis at the end of each quarter

Credit card certification 2010–11   
    
It is affirmed that for the 2010–11 financial year credit card use 
within the Cancer Institute NSW was in accordance with  
Premier’s memoranda and Treasurer’s Directions.   
    
Credit card use    
    
Credit card use within the Cancer Institute NSW is largely  
limited to:    
    
•	 the reimbursement of travel and subsistence expense 
•	 the purchase of books and publications 
•	 seminar and conference deposits  
•	 travel booking deposits   
•	 official business use whilst engaged in overseas travel.  

 

    
Documenting credit card use    
   
The following measures are used to monitor the use of credit 
cards within the Cancer Institute NSW: 

•	 the organisation’s credit card policy is documented
•	 reports and statements on the appropriateness of  

credit card usage are priodically lodged for  
management consideration.   

Six-monthly reports/complaince surveys are submitted to  
Treasury, certifying that the Insitute’s credit card use is within  
the guidelines issued.   

Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009

Section 7(3) of the Government Information (Public Access) Act 
2009 requires the Cancer Institute NSW to review, at least 
annually, its program for the release of government information. 
The review should identify the kinds of government information 
held that should, in the public interest, be made publicly 
available and that can be made available without imposing 
unreasonable additional costs on the Cancer Institute NSW.

A review of the information that is published under the 
‘Open Access Information’ page on the Cancer Institute 
NSW’s website was conducted in June 2011. The Publication 
Guide and Organisational Chart were updated, and a review 
undertaken of the Cancer Institute NSW’s policies to ensure 
the currency of the published versions.

For the reporting period, there have been no access 
applications received by the Cancer Institute NSW.

Protection of personal and health information

The Cancer Institute NSW Data Governance Policy and 
associated Procedure identify how the Institute and all agencies 
and health services funded by the Institute will comply with 
privacy legislation. The Policy and Procedure provide  details of 
how the Institute intends to protect the of privacy its clients, 
staff and the public when it processes personal information, to 
assist people who may wish to exercise their rights under the 
Privacy and Personal Information Protection (PPIP) Act 1998 or 
the Health Records and Information Privacy (HRIP) Act 2002 and 
make a complaint or request for an internal review.

For the reporting period, there have been no complaints 
received by the Cancer Institute (NSW) regarding its dealings 
with personal information under the PPIP Act and personal 
health information under the HRIP Act that have resulted in a 
request for an internal review.

Guarantee of Service

The Cancer Institute NSW has established standards  
and guidelines for responding to requests from health 
consumers for information and non-medical advice  
concerning cancer; whether received by phone, fax, email or 
written correspondence.

These standards ensure that informative, timely responses are 
provided to inquiries.

Consumer participation

The Cancer Institute NSW actively engages and supports the 
participation of people affected by cancer in our programs. 
Consumer interests are represented through the membership 
and participation of people affected by cancer on all 
committees. Consumers are also represented on the Board of 
the Cancer Institute NSW by Mr John Stubbs (see page 41).

Consultants

During the year the Cancer Institute NSW engaged 27 
consultants to provide expert advice on cancer research and 
clinical programs. Total consultancy cost was $251,831.57 
(2009–10: $156,658.73). Two consultancy assignments relating 
to Professor Richard Fox, Chair of the Research Grants Review 
Committee, and, Professor Robyn Ward providing strategic 
direction to the eviQ program, cost more than $50,000 each.

Waste reduction

The Cancer Institute NSW continued to observe and practise 
the principles contained within the Government’s Waste 
Reduction and Purchasing Policy by implementing an action 
plan promoting the minimisation and recycling of generated
waste and the use/purchase of recycled materials, when and 
where appropriate.

Reducing waste generation

The Cancer Institute NSW reduces its generation of waste 
paper by using electronic communication methods, including 
email and making published reports, papers and brochures 
available on the Cancer Institute NSW’s website. Our records 
management system accommodates full electronic
document management and greatly reduce the volume of 
paper-based records. The generation of waste paper is further
reduced by double-sided printing and copying, which is actively 
encouraged across all areas of the Cancer Institute NSW.
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contracted service provider.
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AGREEMENTS AND MEMORANDUMS OF UNDERSTANDING

•	 Memorandum of Understanding between the Cancer 
Institute NSW and Cancer Voices NSW (CVN) to include 
at least one CVN consumer representative to sit on 
relevant Cancer Institute NSW committees and working 
parties to ensure the interests of people affected by cancer 
in NSW are represented.

•	 Memorandum of Understanding for the Implementation 
and Management of BreastScreen NSW between the 
New South Wales Department of Health and the Cancer 
Institute NSW.

•	 Under the National Healthcare Agreement, the NSW 
Government and the Australian Government jointly  
fund the BreastScreen and Cervical Screening Programs  
in NSW.

•	 The BreastScreen NSW program is delivered through 
Performance and Funding Agreements between the 
Cancer Institute NSW and Area Health Services.

•	 Memorandum of Understanding between the Cancer 
Institute NSW and Sydney South West Area Health 
Service for establishment and the operation of the 
BreastScreen Sydney South West Screen Reading Centre 
and the BreastScreen NSW State Radiology Training, 
Research and Education Centre.

•	 Five-year partnership agreement between The 
Cancer Council NSW and the Cancer Institute NSW. 
Memorandum of Understanding between the Cancer 
Institute NSW and NSW Health to develop extra data 
entry fields to accommodate cancer services information in 
the HERO database.

•	 Memorandum of Understanding between the Cancer 
Institute NSW and Aboriginal Health and Medical 
Research Council of New South Wales (AH&MRC) to 
develop a small social marketing campaign, Kick the Habit.

•	 Memorandum of Understanding between NSW Health, 
the Cancer Institute NSW and other partners for the 
establishment of a Centre for Health Record Linkage.

•	 Memorandum of Understanding for membership 
agreement between the University of Western Sydney, 
NSW Health and the Cancer Institute NSW for the 
Centre for Health Record Linkage.

•	 Agreement with Health Support Services extended to 
include personnel for radiotherapy application support.

•	 Memorandum of understanding with NSW Health for the 
operations of the Cervical Screening Program, PapTest 
Register and the NSW Central Cancer Registry. 
 
 
 

•	 A deed of agreement with Family Planning NSW  
to fund practice nurse training in well women’s  
screening – including cervical screening – and GP Pap test 
upskilling courses.

•	 Deeds of agreement with Area Health Services to fund 
the cost of cytology for Pap tests performed by Women’s 
Health Nurses.

•	 The Cancer Institute NSW also has contracts with some 
NSW Divisions of General Practice to fund initiatives to 
increase participation in cervical screening.

•	 Service Agreement with ACT Health for the management 
of ACT cancer registrations.

•	 A two-year Memorandum of Understanding with NSW 
Health to reduce tobacco-related morbidity and mortality 
among Aboriginal people in NSW.

•	 Deed of agreement with NSW Institute of Medical 
Education and Training (IMET) to review Registrar  
Training Networks.

•	 Deed of agreement with the Clinical Education and 
Training Institute (CETI) to oversee the administration of 
the Basic Sciences in Oncology Course (BSOC).

•	 Memorandums of Understanding have been established 
to undertake ethical review of research proposals for 
individuals or organisations external to the public health 
system. The MOU sets out the terms and conditions 
on which such ethical review may be conducted and 
the requirements that must be met for external entities 
seeking to use the ethical review of a lead Human 
Research Ethics Committee. The MOU is for a five-year 
term. The organisations include: 
 - Douglas Hanley Moir Pathology

        - Sax Institute
        - Health Care Lingard Pty Ltd
        - Ramsay Health “Trading as Murray Valley  
          Private Hospital
        - Border Medical Oncology
        - St Vincent’s Private Hospital (as a satellite site for  
          Lismore Base Hospital) 
        - Southern Medical Day Care Centre
        - Sydney Haematology and Oncology Clinic
        - Mater Sydney
        - Northern Cancer Institute
        - Newcastle Private Hospital
        - Sydney Adventist Hospital
        - Southern Highlands Cancer Centre (located at Southern  
          Highlands Private Hospital)
        - Bondi Endoscopy Centre
        - Melanoma Institute.

•	 Memorandum of Understanding with Sydney West Area 
Health Service for Quitline enhancement project. 

•	 Deed of Agreement with Aboriginal Health and Medical 
Research Council of NSW for Aboriginal Quitline 
enhancement project. 

•	 Deed of Agreement with NSW Multicultural Health 
Communication Service South Eastern Sydney Local 
Health Network for coordination of anti-tobacco culturally 
and linguistically diverse community grants program.

•	 Funding Agreement with Department of Health and 
Ageing for Cancer Institute NSW to enhance the  
Quitline service.

•	 Funding Agreement with Department of Health and 
Ageing for Cancer Institute NSW to develop an 
Aboriginal Quitline service. 

•	 Memorandum of Understanding with South Australian 
Minister for Health and CINSW on participation in the 
development of and usage of eviQEd modules.

•	 Memorandum of Understanding between Cancer Institute 
NSW and University of Newcastle for blood cancer 
survivors and support persons: A national survey of rural/
urban unmet needs and psychological disturbance.

•	 Memorandum of Understanding between Cancer Institute 
NSW and Cancer Council NSW for patterns of care in 
patients with pancreatic cancer in NSW.

•	 Memorandum of Understanding between Cancer Institute 
NSW and University of NSW for cutaneous melanoma in 
kidney transplant recipients: pathology report review and 
predictors of survival.

•	 Memorandum of Understanding between Cancer Institute 
NSW and University NSW for Cancer of Unknown 
primary origin in Department of Veterans’ Affairs clients in 
NSW 2004–07: Cancer Registry Notification Review.

•	 Memorandum of Understanding between Cancer Institute 
NSW and Kolling Institute of Medical Research for 
molecular markers of diagnosis, outcome and therapeutic 
response in malignant adrenal tumours.

•	 Memorandum of Understanding between Cancer Institute 
NSW and University of Sydney School of Public Health 
for the Tobacco Promotion Impact Study. 

•	 Memorandum of Understanding between Cancer Institute 
NSW and the Centre for Behavioural Research in Cancer 
(CBRC) for the National Sun Survey.

Joint programs

•	 A partnership with the Cancer Epidemiology Research 
Unit at The Cancer Council NSW has been established  
 

to analyse data collected for patterns of care studies on 
the management and treatment of colorectal, lung and 
prostate cancers.

•	 The Cancer Institute NSW has entered into an  
agreement with the Cancer Council NSW to develop 
and assess treatment algorithms for management of lung 
cancer in NSW.

•	 The Cancer Institute NSW has entered into an agreement 
with the Commonwealth of Australia (represented by 
Cancer Australia) to assist with the development of 
the National Gynaecological Cancer Service Delivery 
and Resource Framework and undertake a number of 
state-based and cross-jurisdictional strategies aimed 
at improving outcomes and support for women with 
a gynaecological cancer. Cancer Australia provided 
$200,000 (GST excl.) funding with the Cancer Institute 
providing $38,000 NSW Oncology Group Priority 
Projects Funding and in-kind administrative support.

•	 The Commonwealth Government committed $15 million 
to enhance the provision of services, support and care 
for adolescents and young adults (AYAs) aged 15–24 
years with cancer. The funds were provided to CanTeen 
to be distributed in accordance with the AYA National 
Service Delivery Framework. The Cancer Institute NSW 
has entered into a funding agreement with CanTeen to 
deliver the Youth Cancer Networks Project (YCNP) in 
NSW and the ACT including the distribution of CanTeen 
funds to relevant health services. CINSW created a new 
component of the existing Block Funding Agreements 
between the Sydney Local Health District (LHD), Sydney 
Children’s Hospital Network, South Eastern Sydney LHD 
and Western Sydney LHD. As there is no existing Block 
Funding Agreement with ACT Health, a Funding Deed  
of Agreement was developed for the Capital Region 
Cancer Service.

•	 The Cancer Institute NSW is partnering with Victorian 
Cancer Council on a Cancer Australia Funded project on 
Capturing cancer stage and recurrence for population-
based registries using Natural Language Parsing techniques.

•	 The Cancer Institute NSW is partnering with CSIRO 
Australian e-Health Research Centre on a project on using 
natural language parsing techniques to enhance cancer 
registry processes.

•	 The Cancer Institute NSW is partnering with Cancer 
Australia in the national CanNET project. The NSW 
projects include the development of a cancer services 
directory to assist general practitioners in referring to 
specialists who are members of multidisciplinary teams. 
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STATUTORY COMMITTEES

Audit and Risk Committee

MEMBER POSITION ORGANISATION

Mr John Stubbs - Chair Executive Officer Cancer Voices Australia

Dr Paul Moy - Member Global Head of Infrastructure and  
Private Equity 

UBS Global Asset Management

Mr Todd Davies - Member Managing Director Todd Davies and Associates

Ms Beth Macauley Chief Operating Officer Cancer Institute NSW

Prof David Currow Chief Cancer Officer and CEO Cancer Institute NSW

Mr David Sabanayagam - Secretariat Financial Controller Cancer Institute NSW

Prof Peter Gunning  (until 19 July 2010) Head of Oncology Research                        University of NSW

Mr Phil O’Toole - Advisor Director Risk Management Services IAB

Mr Peter Boulous - Advisor Director, Financial Audit Services Audit Office of NSW

Mr Robert Hayek - Advisor Audit Leader Audit Office of NSW

 
Cancer Research Advisory Committee

MEMBER POSITION ORGANISATION

Prof Stephen Ackland Medical Oncologist Newcastle Mater Misericordiae Hospital

Ms Mercia Bush Community Representative

A/Prof Christine Clarke Research Group Leader Westmead Institute for Cancer Research

Prof Enrico Coiera Director University of New South Wales

Prof David Currow Chief Cancer Officer and CEO Cancer Institute NSW

Prof Roger Daly Head, Signal Transduction Group Garvan Institute of Medical Research

Ms Cheryl Grant Consumer Representative Cancer Voices NSW

Prof Philip Hogg Senior Principal Research Fellow University of New South Wales

A/Prof Graham Mann Professor in Medicine University of Sydney

Dr Deborah Marsh Head, Functional Genomics Laboratory Kolling Institute of Medical Research

Prof Murray David Norris Executive Director Children’s Cancer Institute Australia

Prof Ian Olver (Chair) Chief Executive Officer Cancer Council Australia

Prof John Rasko Haematologist Royal Prince Alfred Hospital

Prof Rodney Scott Director of the Division of Genetics John Hunter Hospital

Prof Robyn Ward Medical Oncologist University of New South Wales

Prof Jane Young Professor in Cancer Epidemiology University of Sydney

NSW Population and Health Services Research Ethics Committee

MEMBER POSITION ORGANISATION

Prof Richard Madden Chairperson University of Sydney

Dr Sallie Pearson (Deputy Chair) Clinical Research Univeristy of NSW

Ms Patricia Kenny Research Experience University of Technology Sydney

Prof Kathryn Refshauge Professional Care University of Sydney

Ms Rachel Williams Lay Member

Dr Isabel Karpin Legal Member University of Technology Sydney

Rabbi Jeffrey Cohen Religious Member

Dr Jo Mitchell CHO nominee NSW Health

Deborah Loxton Research Experience University of Newcastle

Deborah Black Research Experience University of Sydney

Louise Fitzgerald Lay Member Univeristy of NSW

Mr Geoffrey Bloom Legal Member

Mr Raymond Tong Lay Member

Dr Lucy Burns Research Experience Univeristy of NSW

Pastor Rachael Goth Religious Member

Dr Natasha Nassar Research Experience University of Sydney

Dr Alys Havard Research Experience University of Western Sydney

Dr Ingrid Evans Biostatistician NSW Health

Mr Jason Bently Biostatistician NSW Health

 
Clinical Research Ethics Committee

MEMBER POSITION ORGANISATION

Dr Winston Liauw (Chair) Research Experience St George Hospital

Dr Meera Agar (Deputy Chair) Research Experience Braeside Hospital

Prof Neil Merrett Professional Care University of Western Sydney

Dr Stephen Goodall Professional Care University of Technology Sydney

Dr Kristin Savell Legal Member University of Sydney

Rabbi Dovid Slavin Religious Member

Dr Hazel Elliot Religious Member

Dr Wendy Hague Research Experience University of Sydney

Dr Baerin Houghton Research Experience National Health and  
Medical Research Council  

Clinical Trials Centre

Ms Antoinette Fontela Professional Care St George Hospital

Dr Bob Jansen Lay member

Prof Michael Barton Research Experience University of New South Wales 

Ms Patricia  Baillie Lay member

Ms Yvonne Grant Legal Member 

Dr Kristin Savell Legal Member University of Sydney

Rabbi Dovid Slavin Religious Member

Dr Hazel Elliot Religious Member
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Clinical Services Advisory Committee

 
MEMBER POSITION ORGANISATION

Dr Frank Alvaro Director - Paediatric Oncology & Network John Hunter Children's Hospital 

A/Prof Michael Back Director Area Cancer Services Northern Sydney Central Coast Area 
Health Service

A/Prof Richard Chye Director of Palliative Care Sacred Heart Palliative Care Service

Prof Stephen Clarke Head Department of Medicine Concord Repatriation General Hospital

Ms Sally Crossing Chair Cancer Voices NSW

Prof Geoff Delaney Director Area Cancer Services Sydney South West Area Health Service

Dr Jan Fizzell Principal Project Officer Centre for Health Protection

Mr Paul Grimmond Program Manager Cancer Services St Vincents Hospital

A/Prof Paul Harnett Director Area Cancer Services Sydney West Area Health Service

Dr Henry Hicks Clinical Director for Cancer Services Greater Southern Area Health Service

Ms Ruth Jones Manager Area Cancer and Palliative Care 
Services

Greater Western Area Health Service

Dr Catherine Mason Senior Staff Specialist, Director of Psycho-
Oncology

Sydney West Cancer Network

Ms Kathy Meleady Director, Statewide Services Development NSW Department of Health

Ms Jan Newland Chief Executive Officer GP NSW

A/Prof Anthony Proietto Director Area Cancer Services Hunter & New England Area Health Service

A/Prof Tom Shakespeare Director Area Cancer Services North Coast Area Health Service

Prof Allan Spigelman Head Surgical Professorial Unit, Director of 
Cancer Services

St Vincent’s Hospital & Mater Health Sydney

Prof Robin Stuart-Harris Medical Oncologist Capital Region Cancer Service

Dr Craig Underhill Clinical Director for Cancer Services Greater Southern Area Health Service

Prof Robyn Ward Director Area Cancer Services South Eastern Sydney & Illawarra Area 
Health Service

Prof Kate White Cancer Institute of NSW Chair Cancer Nursing Sydney Cancer Centre, Royal Prince Alfred 
Hospital & University of Sydney

 

Quality and Clinical Effectiveness Advisory Committee

MEMBER POSITION ORGANISATION

A/Prof. Michael Back Radiation Oncologist and, DACS NSCCAHS

Ms Vicki Biro Area Quality Manager, Clinical Governance Unit SESIAHS

Ms Christina Brock Cancer survivor

Dr Paul Curtis Health System Performance Division NSW Department of Health

Ms Sue Sinclair Cancer Australia

Dr Sonj Hall Deputy Chief Executive Bureau of Health Information  (BHI)

Ms Ruth Jones Manager Area Cancer Services GWAHS

Ms Elisabeth Kochman Member Cancer Voices NSW

Dr Karen Luxford Director, Patient Based Care Clinical Excellence Commission  (CEC)

Ms Cathie Murphy Assistant Director of Medical Services Sydney Adventist Hospital

A/Prof Tony Proietto Director, Area Cancer Network HNEAHS

Dr Craig Underhill Medical Oncologist and DACS Border Medical Oncology

Dr Hunter Watt Chief Executive Agency for Clinical Innovation  (ACI)
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PUBLICATIONS AND MEDIA RELEASES

Publications

DATE PUBLICATION

Sep 2010 Plan for NSW Familial Cancer Services 2010–15

Nov 2010 Cancer Institute NSW Annual Report 2009–10

Nov 2010 eviQ - what’s new?

Nov 2010 Dark Side of Tanning Summary Report

Nov 2010 NSW Cancer Plan 2011–15

Nov 2010 Upper Gastrointestinal Tract Cancer Forum

Nov 2010 Corporate Governance Statement

Nov 2010 Cancer in NSW: Incidence and Mortality 2008

Dec 2010 Multidisciplinary teams in New South Wales: 2006 and 2008

May 2011 Cancer incidence and mortality projections 2011–2021

May 2011 Achievements in cancer services and education

May 2011 Skilled cancer professionals program evaluation

May 2011 NSW Cancer Information Strategy 2011–15

May 2011 Histopathology business improvement strategy

May 2011 Ambulatory chemotherapy business improvement strategy

Media releases

DATE MEDIA RELEASE

30 Jul 2010 NSW Government announces over $7 million in cancer grants 

03 Sep 2010 Men urged to be cancer aware in Blue September

22 Sep 2010 Mesothelioma in NSW still to peak

23 Sep 2010 Rise in cost of smoking leads to quitting

01 Oct 2010 Be breast aware in Breast Cancer Awareness Month

01 Oct 2010 Cancer Institute funds breakthrough research

07 Oct 2010 Annual cancer report: mortality rates improve in NSW

25 Oct 2010 Pink ribbon day – reaching out to all women

16 Nov 2010 Cancer Institute funds ovarian cancer breakthrough

21 Nov 2010 New melanoma campaign hits the beach

30 Nov 2010 NSW tobacco strategy 2011–16

30 Nov 2010 NSW Cancer Plan: lessening the impact of Cancer in NSW

10 Dec 2010 Cancer Institute funds leaders in research

10 Dec 2010 Call for top cancer award nominations

15 Dec 2010 Cancer institute NSW welcomes Bureau of Health Information report

21 Dec 2010 $15 million to cancer research in New South Wales

22 Dec 2010 International benchmarking study shows NSW is a world-leader in cancer survival

26 Dec 2010 You can quit: New advertising campaign

18 Jan 2011 Senior appointment to the Cancer Institute NSW

01 Feb 2011 Greater awareness needed of ovarian cancer symptoms

04 Feb 2011 NSW anti-smoking campaign challenges Turkish smokers to kick the habit

01 Jun 2011 Mobile phones and cancer

05 Jun 2011 New survey of smokers and non smokers supports plain packaging legislation

As part of our commitment to electronic service delivery, the Cancer Institute NSW implemented a range of initiatives  
in 2010–11.

Cancerinstitute.org.au

The Institute’s primary website was redesigned and launched in May 2011 to offer a comprehensive restructure of content and 
other site improvements, including:

•	 online	event	registrations
•	 searchable	publications	library
•	 three	new	issues	of	Incite, the online journal
•	 live	video	coverage	for	key	events.

iCanQuit

The iCanQuit website (www.icanquit.org.au) was launched in November 2010, as an engaging online resource for NSW people 
wanting to quit smoking.  In six months, the site grew to a community of over 1,300 members helping each other through their 
quit attempts by contributing more than 670 stories and comments.

eviQ: cancer treatments online

eviQ has continued to grow, with continual enhancements to the system including:

•	 more	than	1,000	pages	of	protocols,	resources,	procedures	and	patient	information

•	 new	areas	for	haematopoietic	stem	cell	transplants,	adolescent	and	young	adult	cancers,	brachytherapy	and	cancer	genetics

•	 opioid	conversion	calculator

•	 integration	with	OMIS	systems	and	inclusion	in	the	Cancer	Australia	Cancer	(Clinical)	Data	Set	Specification.

Canrefer pilot

The Institute’s online resource for cancer service referrals went into pilot testing with general practitioners and multidisciplinary 
care providers across the State.

Reporting for Better Cancer Outcomes (RBCO)

The RBCO system was launched at the end of the 2010–11 financial year to provide a crucial feedback loop to improve the 
effectiveness of public cancer services across all NSW Health Districts. 

Online learning modules

New online learning modules for cancer health professionals were developed:

•	 primary	brain	cancer	nursing

•	 antineoplastic	drug	administration	(eviQEd).

 
OUR WEBSITES OUR DATA AND REGISTRIES

The Cancer Institute NSW hosts and maintains the following 
websites:

•	 www.cancerinstitute.org.au

•	 eviQ:	Cancer	treatments	Online	(www.eviq.org.au)

•	 iCanQuit	(www.icanquit.com.au)	

•	 BreastScreen	NSW	(www.bsnsw.org.au)

•	 CHeReL	(www.cherel.org.au)

•	 NSW	Cervical	Screening	Program	(www.csp.nsw.gov.au)

•	 Dark	Side	of	Tanning	(www.darksideoftanning.com.au)	

 

The Institute develops, maintains and governs the 
following registries:

•	 The Pap Test Register (PTR)

•	 The Central Cancer Registry (CCR)

•	 The Clinical Cancer Registry (ClinCR)

•	 The Hereditary Cancer Registry (HCR)

•	 Centre for health Records linkage (CHeReL)

•	 Australian Mesothelioma Registry (AMR)
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PUBLICATIONS AND MEDIA RELEASES

Publications

DATE PUBLICATION
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Nov 2010 Corporate Governance Statement
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PERFORMANCE STATEMENT

Professor David Currow
Chief Cancer Officer and CEO
Cancer Institute NSW
Contract commenced on 15 March 2010
Total remuneration package:  $358,165

Key activities undertaken and achievements of the Chief 
Cancer Officer and CEO during 2010–11 include: 
 
The NSW Cancer Plan 2011–15 was produced, developed 
through an integrated and collaborative approach by 
coordinating priorities, resources and efforts among all 
individuals, organisations and governments involved in  
cancer control. 

Reducing the incidence of cancer

The Cancer Institute NSW’s innovative new website iCanQuit 
officially went live in December 2010, providing an online 
resource dedicated to helping smokers help themselves to quit.

A new skin cancer awareness campaign was aired, featuring 
Wes Bonny, who died from melanoma at the age of 26. 

Smoking prevalence in NSW reduced from 17.2 per cent in 
2009 to 15.8 per cent in 2010.

A system was created to send Pap test reminders to GPs  
in NSW.

Workshops were also run to ensure women from Chinese, 
Vietnamese and Arabic backgrounds receive the important 
messages about regular breast and cervical screening.

Improving survival from cancer

The Reporting for Better Cancer Outcomes project was 
launched to turn available data on what happens to each 
patient within a Local Health District (LHD) into meaningful 
information, which can be used to make improvements to their 
care and outcomes.

In 2011, the Cancer Institute NSW developed a new online 
cancer services directory – called Canrefer. Canrefer is a 
comprehensive, searchable database of NSW cancer services 

designed to assist general practitioners to refer to the  
most appropriate and nearest specialist for their patient’s 
cancer type.

A Translational Cancer Research Program was developed, 
which will bring together researchers in seven research hubs 
together to share knowledge, resources and technology.

Improving the quality of life of people with cancer and  
their carers

Forums for Aboriginal peoples were held to help us develop 
new programs in cancer care.

The Cancer Institute provided $0.5M per year to support the 
Isolated Patients Travel and Accommodation Assistance Scheme 
(IPTAAS), a transport and accommodation subsidy scheme that 
assists people in isolated and rural communities to gain access 
to specialist medical treatment not available in their own area. 

In 2010–11, new patient fact sheets were produced to  
explain procedures on our standardised cancer treatments 
website, eviQ.

The Cancer Institute also commissioned the Cancer Council 
NSW to identify gaps in existing published information and 
educational resources for cancer patients and their carers.

Corporate Governance: 

An integrated management system is working well across 
the organisation. It incorporates: complaints management, 
information and communication technologies (ICT) service 
management, ICT recovery management, compliance 
management, business continuity management, information 
security management, knowledge management and 
environmental management policies. The monitoring of these 
policies will be ongoing.

Financial and budgetary management was well managed with 
the external audit resulting in an unmodified outcome.

Overseas vists

STAFF PURPOSE/CONFERENCE PLACE DATE

Professor David Currow International Union Against Cancer (UICC) 
World Cancer Congress

Beijing, China 17/08/2010 –23/08/2010

Professor David Currow The ninth international conference of the Asian 
Clinical Oncology Society (ACOS) 

Gifu, Japan 17/08/2010 – 29/08/2010

Professor David Currow Speaker at National Cancer Research Institute 
(NCRI) Cancer Conference

Liverpool, United 
Kingdom  

06/11/2010 – 12/11/2010

Professor David Currow American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) 
Annual Meeting

Chicago, USA 03/06/2011– 08/06/2011

The Cancer Institute NSW recognises the cultural and  
linguistic diversity of the NSW community and we are 
committed to ensuring our services are provided in a  
culturally appropriate manner. 

Over the past 12 months, the Cancer Institute NSW  
has undertaken a number of initiatives with culturally  
and linguistically diverse communities. Some of the  
highlights include: 

•	  Launching a bilingual community education program 
to encourage women from the Arabic, Chinese and 
Vietnamese communities to participate in breast screening 
and cervical screening.

•	  Translating question prompt lists (QPLs) into 20 
community languages, providing people with cancer 
whose first language is not English with a list of key 
questions to ask their cancer health professionals.

•	  Conducting research on attitudes to anti-smoking 
messages in the Arabic, Chinese and Vietnamese 
communities to inform the development of culturally 
appropriate campaigns for these communities. 

Improving cancer outcomes for culturally and linguistically 
diverse communities is identified as a key objective in the NSW 
Cancer Plan 2011–15, which was recently developed by the 
Cancer Institute NSW. 

The strategies outlined under this objective form the basis 
of the Institute’s Multicultural Policy and Service Plan and will 
focus on community engagement, improving data quality and 
information, increasing understanding of cancer risks, symptoms 
and treatment options, supporting early access to cancer care 
and initiatives to improve the cultural competency of cancer 
health professionals.

The Institute has created a new role within the organisation 
tasked specifically with ensuring the Institute meets the 
commitments to people from culturally diverse backgrounds 
outlined in the new Cancer Plan. The Culturally and Linguistically 
Diverse Program Coordinator will work across the organisation, 
assisting Divisions within the Cancer Institute NSW to design 
and implement programs and services specifically for culturally 
diverse communities. 

Over the next three years, the Cancer Institute NSW will 
be working in partnership with key stakeholders including 
multicultural community groups, cancer charities, NSW Health, 
the Multicultural Health Communication Service and the 
Community Relations Commission to develop best practice 
in cancer prevention, screening and care programs for people 
from culturally diverse backgrounds.

Key initiatives to be implemented over the next 12 months 
include:

•	  anti-smoking media campaigns specifically targeting 
culturally and linguistically diverse communities

•	  distribution and promotion of QPLs across cancer services 
in NSW

•	   a grants program designed to encourage community 
based anti-smoking projects for the Arabic-speaking, 
Chinese and Vietnamese communities, as well as small and 
emerging communities

•	 a project to enhance the efficacy of the multilingual 
smoking quitlines

•	  a public relations campaign to more broadly promote the 
importance of cervical screening programs to women 
from culturally diverse backgrounds.

MULTICULTURAL POLICIES AND SERVICES PLAN
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PERFORMANCE STATEMENT
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Cancer Institute NSW
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Disability action planning

We remain committed to ensuring that people with a disability 
in NSW are able to access our services, facilities and jobs on 
an equitable basis through the delivery of better services that 
promote fairness and opportunity for all people.

Over the past year, we continued to operate and improve our 
disability action plan in line with the guidelines and frameworks 
published by the NSW Government Department of Ageing, 
Disability and Home Care (ADHC). 

As part of this process, we have reviewed and updated 
our Plan and have prepared a new plan, which sets out our 
objectives and strategies for the period 2010–12.

NSW Government Action Plan for Women

The NSW Government Action Plan for Women outlines 
the Government’s commitments, priorities and initiatives for 
women. The Action Plan focuses on initiatives specially designed 
to meet women’s needs and ways in which Government 
agencies take account of women in delivering their core 
services.

In the case of the Cancer Institute NSW this is especially 
relevant with respect to women’s health issues and in particular 
our programs and services that address the prevention, early 
detection and treatment of cancers in women.

The Cancer Institute NSW has statutory responsibilities 
to substantially improve cancer control in NSW and has 
developed initiatives and programs that are directly aimed at 
improving the health and quality of life of women in NSW.

Our programs aimed at women also recognise the Women’s 
Health Outcomes Framework developed by NSW Health, 
which provides a framework for advancing the health and 
wellbeing of disadvantaged women in NSW. Our major 
program and campaign areas that address the prevention, early 
detection and treatment of cancers in women are:

BreastScreen NSW

BreastScreen NSW is a free breast screening service targeting 
women aged 50 to 69 years and is available to all women over 
40 years of age. This service is managed by the Cancer Institute 
NSW and aims to detect breast cancer in its early stages, when 
treatment can be most effective.

NSW Pap Test Register

The Pap Test Register provides a followup and reminder service  
to women to encourage them to have regular Pap tests every  
two years.

NSW Cervical Screening Program

Develops and implements strategies to recruit all women in the 
target groups to undergo regular two-yearly Pap tests, including 
providing appropriate information and ensuring access to 
appropriate services.

•	 Supports general practitioner structures and activities to  
facilitate their primary role in developing acceptable Pap 
test services to women.

•	 Works with laboratories to optimise their role in  
cervical screening.

•	 Promotes best clinical practice in cervical screening.

•	 Undertakes ongoing operations-oriented research,  
monitoring and evaluation to support and guide the  
directions of the Program.
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The Hon. Jillian Skinner, MP
Minister for Health, and Minister for Medical Research
Level 31 Governor Macquarie Tower
1 Farrer Place Sydney NSW 2000 

Dear Minister,

We have pleasure in submitting the Cancer Institute NSW 
Annual Report 2011 for presentation to the Parliament of New 
South Wales in accordance with the Annual Reports (Statutory 
Bodies) Act 1984.

This report summarises our performance for 2010–11 against 
our objectives and targets set out in the NSW Cancer Plan 
2011–15. It also includes our corporate governance processes, 
comments on our financial results and discusses our future goals.

We commend to you this report on the progress being 
achieved in lessening the impact of cancer in NSW.

The Hon Morris Iemma
Chairperson
Board of the Cancer Institute NSW

Professor David Currow 
Chief Cancer Officer and 
Chief Executive Officer
Cancer Institute NSW
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2011
A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Cancer Institute NSW 
Australian Technology Park 
Level 9, 8 Central Avenue 

Eveleigh NSW 2015 
Australia

PO Box 41 
Alexandria NSW 1435

Tel: + 61 2 8374 5600 
Fax: + 61 2 8374 3600

Email: information@cancerinstitute.org.au 
Web: www.cancerinstitute.org.au

Service and business hours: 8.30am – 5.00pm

Quitline: 13 7848 (13 QUIT)

BreastScreen NSW: 13 2050 
info@bsnsw.org.au

Cervical Screening: 13 1556 
cervicalscreening@cancerinstitute.org.au

Bowel Screening: 1800 118 868 
(National Bowel Cancer Screening Program Information Line)
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